

Durham University Library

Catalogue of Durham Cathedral Archive, medieval accounts: manors, mines, proctors of churches and subsidiary

Date range of material: 13th - 16th century

Durham University Library July 2024



Contents

Preface	V
Introduction	1
Catalogue of material:	
Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate	6
Manors	7
Enrolled Manorial Accounts	7
Bearpark	31
Belasis	34
Bewley	35
Billingham	38
Dalton	40
Ferryhill	
Fulwell	42
Heworth with Wardley	45
Houghall	
Ketton	
Merrington	
Muggleswick	
Pittington	
Rainton	
Wardley	
Westoe	
Livestock	
Stock-Keeper	
Particular categories of stock	
Horses	
Cattle around the manors	
Dairy	
Sheep	
Enrolled Livestock Accounts	
Accounts for individual livestock centres	
Aldingrange (Bearpark)	
Bartoncotes (Holme)	
Bearpark	
Belasis	
Bewley	
Birkhouses (Muggleswick)	
Blackdene, Easter (Weardale)	
Blackdene, Middle (Weardale)	
'Burnhamschele' (? Muggleswick)	
Burnhope (Muggleswick)	
Burntshiel (Muggleswick)	
Carpshiel (Muggleswick)	
DailUII	

	Easter Blackdene	94
	Edmondbyers (Muggleswick)	95
	Ferryhill	95
	Goldhill (Muggleswick)	95
	Healey (Muggleswick)	95
	Hesleden	95
	Heworth	95
	Hoggecote (Holme)	95
	Holme	95
	Houghall	99
	Ketton	99
	Merrington	99
	Middle Blackdene	99
	Muggleswick	99
	Netherdeyhouse (Muggleswick)	104
	Overdeyhouse (Muggleswick)	104
	Over Heworth	104
	Pittington	104
	'Pollowhill' (? Muggleswick)	105
	Relley (Bearpark)	105
	'Rispihirst' (? Muggleswick)	105
	Simonside	105
	Spennymoor	105
	Wardley	105
	Waskerley(head) (Muggleswick)	105
	Weardale	105
	Westgate (Muggleswick)	105
	Westoe	105
	Wharnley (Muggleswick)	106
	Whitehall (Muggleswick)	106
	Unidentified centres	106
Mir	nes	106
A	Accounts for cash received	106
	Rainton	106
	Rainton and Ferryhill	106
	Rainton and Aldingrange	108
	Rainton and Ferryhill	109
	Aldingrange	109
	Detailed records	109
	Cash totals	109
	Cash liveries	109
	Cash receipts from coal-mines	
	Coal-mine expenses	
	Weekly reckonings	
	Aldingrange	
	Rainton	

Coal sales	110
Coal liveries	110
Memoranda	110
Trees	110
Proctors, etc., of churches:	111
Norham	
Churches in Scotland	
Hemingbrough	123
Howden	123
Endowments accounts	123
Altarage accounts	123
Eastrington	124
Prior's household	124
Ludi	124
Unclassified Durham Accounts	
Building accounts	
Kitchen	
Prior Walworth's (unspecified) work on the cathedral	
Dormitory	
Bishop Skirlawe's charity	
Cloister	
Infirmary	
Galilee	
Galilee and Registrary	
Vault of the charity solar [alias loft]	
Marble laver in the cloister	
Cupboard beside the refectory door	
Pittington Hall	
Durham College chapel (Oxford)	126
Various	126
Reckoning between the prior and the executors of Bishop [Robert of Holy Island	l, d.
1283] over legal expenses	126
Chapter pensions from cells, obedientiaries, coal, wood, etc	126
Memoranda	127
Disbursements	127
Debt repayment fund	127
Stray Material	.127
Diocese and bishopric of Durham	
Miscellaneous	
Aldverdiscott (Devon)	
Tudhoe (Co. Durham) [property of Neville earl of Westmorland]	
Sherburn hospital (Co. Durham)	
Battle abbey (Sussex)	128

Preface

Creation of catalogue

Handlist of medieval accounting material by A. J. Piper 1995. Encoded SGML by R. Higgins May-June 1998, with addition of notes on dating etc. from cards in No. 5 searchroom created by M.G. Snape etc.

Contact details

Durham University Library: Archives and Special Collections

Palace Green

Durham DH1 3RN England

Telephone: 0191 334 2972

Email: PG.Library@durham.ac.uk URL: http://www.dur.ac.uk/library/asc/

ark:/32150/s19g54xh68p/PDF

Introduction

Collection title: Durham Cathedral Archive, medieval accounts: manors, mines, proctors of

churches and subsidiary

Reference code: GB-0033-DCD (subdivision given under each category)

Dates of creation: 13th - 16th century Extent: given under each category

Repository: Durham University Library, Archives and Special Collections

Creator: accounting records made by officials responsible to the monastery at Durham

Language of material: Latin

The large group of medieval accounts was previously listed in a single catalogue, but as more detail is added it has expanded and has been divided into three catalogues (December 2017) as follows:

Obedientiaries (office holders)

Manors, mines, proctors of churches and subsidiary accounts (this catalogue)

Cells of Durham Priory

Contents

With one significant exception the three lists of medieval accounts aim to cover all the medieval accounting material found in the Durham Cathedral Archive, together with items from the series of accounts that has been found elsewhere. The exception is material relating to the collection of taxation, briefly listed below: for this to be dealt with properly will require examination of the corresponding material in The National Archives. In the lists that follow all items without further description are accounts. Entries in italics (without a DCD reference number) are cross-references to items within other series of the Durham Cathedral Archive or elsewhere. For all other accounting material a brief indication of its nature is given, in terms that match those used in the reference to the document, e.g. Bursar, Sale of Tithes. The dates covered by each item are given as fully as possible, and where these are not taken directly from the heading, either because it is lost or damaged, or because it does not give full details, this is shown by square brackets, []. Where more than one version of a document occurs it is marked within the description by a series of letters (A), (B) etc. On a few occasions there are two different documents of the same type in the same year, which have separate entries, such as Status, 1328 (A) and Status, 1328 (B) - where these have separate entries they are different documents, where included under the same heading they are duplicates.

Accession details

Transferred into the custody of the university by the Dean and Chapter of Durham in 1947.

Copyright and copying

Permission to make any published use of material from the collection must be sought in advance from Durham Cathedral Library (library@durhamcathedral.co.uk). The Library will assist where possible with identifying copyright owners, but responsibility for ensuring copyright clearance rests with the user of the material.

Form of citation

The short form of citation is given within the list following, including the overall collection code (DCD) with the class code (e.g. Ter. acs) joined to it by a hyphen, followed by a date and qualified by the type of document when not a standard account, for examples:

DCD-Pitt. acs 1379-80

DCD-Ket. acs Memoranda 1377-8

A full citation of an item within the collection takes the form:

Durham Cathedral Archive: medieval accounts: class namedate

For example:

Durham Cathedral Archive: medieval accounts: Pittington 1379-80

To order items in the searchroom, use the short form of citation as shown above and within the list.

Bibliography

Raine, J. ed., *The priory of Coldingham. The correspondence, inventories, account rolls, and law proceedings, of the priory of Coldingham* (Surtees Society v.12, 1841)

Fowler, J.T. ed., Extracts from the Account Rolls of the Abbey of Durham vols. i-iii (Surtees Society v.99, 1898; v.100, 1899; v.103, 1901)

Britnell, Richard, ed., *Durham Priory manorial accounts 1277-1310* (Surtees Society v.218, 2014)

Burton, T. & Raine, J. *The History and Antiquities of the Parish of Hemingbrough* (York, 1888)

Dobson, R.B., Durham priory, 1400-1450 (Cambridge 1973)

Fishwick, H. ed., *The History of the Parish of Lytham in the county of Lancaster*, (Chetham Society v.60, 1907)

Fowler, J.T., ed., "Inventory of the vestments, books, etc., of the priory of Finchale, A.D. 1481", *Trans. Archaeological & Architectural Society of Durham & Northumberland* iv (1890-95), 134-47

Woolgar, C.M., ed., *Household Accounts from Medieval England* ii, (Oxford, 1993) Abbreviations

An indication is given where documents have been printed, extracted or mentioned. Where this is followed by a number, this refers to a volume of the Surtees Society:18: J. Raine ed., *The Durham Household Book*; ... (1844).

29: J. Raine ed., *The Inventories and Account Rolls of the Benedictine Houses or Cells of Jarrow and Monk-Wearmouth*, ... (1854).

99: J.T. Fowler ed., Extracts from the Account Rolls of the Abbey of Durham i (1898).

100: J.T. Fowler ed., Extracts from the Account Rolls of the Abbey of Durham ii (1899).

103: J.T. Fowler ed., Extracts from the Account Rolls of the Abbey of Durham iii (1901).

In a number of cases the indication refers to more than one place in Volumes 99, 100 and 103; this arises when separated pieces of the same account have been rejoined.

For Lytham the references "CS" are to:

H. Fishwick ed., *The History of the Parish of Lytham ...*, Chetham Society 60 (1907). For Oxford "OHS" refers to:

H.E.D. Blakiston, "Some Durham College rolls", in M. Burrows ed., *Collectanea*. Third Series, Oxford Historical Society 32 (1896).

Summary conspectus of material relating to the collection of taxation Tenths accounts, etc.:

Reg.II. ff.62r, 86v, 106v, 111v, 127r, 131v, 135r, 138v-139v, 140v, 141v, 151v, 248r, 282v, 321r. Loc.XVIII:103, earlier s. xiv; Misc. Ch. 4523, ? 1322; Loc.XVIII:13, 9 Ed. III; Loc.XVIII:101, 102, s. xiv; Loc.XVIII:91, c.1343; Loc.XIX:99, c.1350; Loc.XVIII:21, 2 Ric. II; Loc.XVIII:3, 8 Ric. II; Loc.XVIII:26, 11 Ric. II; Loc.XVIII:19, 18 Ric. II; Loc.XVIII:11, 22 Ric. II; Loc.XVIII:16, 22 Ric. II; Loc.XVIII:12, c.1400 (?); Loc.XVIII:17, 2 Hen. IV; Loc.XVIII:61, 3 Hen. IV; Loc.XVIII:23, 5-7 Hen. IV; Loc.XVIII:92, 6 Hen. IV; Loc.XVIII:27, 7 Hen IV; Loc.XVIII:30, 9 Hen. IV; Loc.XVIII:96, 1409; Loc.XVIII:47, early s. xv; Loc.XVIII:28, 1 Hen. V; Loc.XVIII:29, 31, 34, 2 Hen. V; Loc.XVIII:32, 3 Hen. V; Loc.XVIII:33, 4 Hen. V; Misc. Ch. 7127, 1417; Loc.XVIII:62, 7 Hen. VI; Loc.XVIII:35, 14 Hen. VI; Loc.XVIII:88, 88*, 20 Hen. VI; Loc.XVIII:25, 45, 73, 21 Hen. VI; Loc.XVIII:87, 1445; Misc. Ch. 7307/3, 7-11 Hen. VII; Loc.XIX:39, 1492; Reg.Parv.IV. f.43v, [c.1496]; Reg.Parv.IV. f.64rv, [c.1498]; Loc.XIX:40, 1498; Loc.XVIII:49, 52-56, 1504; Loc.XVIII:20, 22, 1504-5; Loc.XVIII:50, 1505; Loc.XVIII:10, 41, 111, 1506; Loc.XIX:27, c.1510; Loc.XVIII:40, 43, 51, 1512; Loc.XIX:79, c.1512; Loc.XVIII:9, 2, 9b, 39, 1513; Loc.XIX:28, 29, 1514; Loc.XIX:26, 26*, 1515; Loc.XIX:7, 8, 9a, 25, 1516; Reg.Parv.IV.f.208rv, [c.1516].

Arrears:

Loc.XVIII:104, 1290s; Loc.XVIII:1, 1308. Misc. Ch. 5846, c.1320; Loc.XVIII:60, later s. xiv.

Gascony:

Loc.XVIII:5.

Debts:

Loc.XIX:129, 1333. Reg.II. f.122v-124v. Loc.XVIII:69, c.1400.

Sales of victuals:

Reg.II. ff.125r, 170v.

Allowances requested:

Misc. Ch. 5648, 1442.

Council of Pisa tenth receipt, 1411:

Misc. Ch. 7106.

Related material elsewhere

Durham Cathedral Library MS B.I.28

ff.1-2. Houghall manor account: [c.29 Sept.] 1348 - [c.29 Sept.] 1349 (two pieces)

... [c. Michaelmas] ...8 - same feast 1349

... [Gilbert Ferande]

Two pieces of parchment, ff. 2r and 1v being the face, with the whole of the Cash account and first section of grain account. A strip from the foot is missing, but the amount missing is negligible as all sub-totals are present.

The approximate opening date of the account is indicated by the liveries of wheat to carters and ploughmen over a period of 42 weeks, starting Sunday after Michaelmas

Identity of manor and *serviens* is from first cash section where there is a livery of £6 from John of Newton, the bursar. His account for 1349 records such a payment to three manors,

naming the *serviens* in each case: Dalton ('duas tallias'), Houghall and Pittington ('unam talliam' each). Pittington is excluded by entries on f. 2v for a livery of barley to Pittington and one of beans and peas from there.

ff. 157-158. 29 Sept. 1348 - 29 Sept 1349 (two pieces)

... [Michael] archangel 1348 - same feast ..49

John son of Robert de Hetheworth

Two pieces of parchment, ff. 158 and 157v being the face, with a strip containing the end of the Cash Account missing from the foot.. approximately one line is missing between the two pieces: the entries for peas and beans on f. 158v seem sufficient to account for the total on f. 157r, with the last words of the final entry lost.

f.159 and [?] f.2* Pittington manor account: [4 Oct. 1349 - c.14 Jan. 1350] (frag[s ?])

- ... [4 October 1349 c. 14 January 1350]
- ... [John del Wra]
- f. 2* is a narrow vertical strip that may have been part of this account. f. 159v contains the end of the cash account and beginning of grain account; f. 159r the end of the stock accounts.

Manor readily identifiable from places mentioned as sources of tithes

Balance of cash account indicates accountant responsible was followed by '... .ayles'. The Bursar's account for 11 November 1349 - 11 November 1350 records two liveries to Pittington, one to John del Wra, the other to John del Sayles. entries for liveries of wheat provide evidence for precise dating. One refers to a period of 6 weeks ending Sunday after Martin; in 1349 - Sunday 4 October - 15 November. Another entry refers to period from start of account to the Sunday after closure as 15 weeks, showing account opened on a Sunday; that period was as deduced is substantially supported by a further entry reading 'Sunday after Martin - 17 ...'.

Durham Cathedral MS B.II.35

Inventory of relics, 1383

Durham Cathedral MS B.IV.36

ff. 1-2 and 196 Billingham manor estate: [11 Nov. 1341 - 29 Sept. 1342] (frags)

- ... [11 November 1341 29 September 1342]
- ... [John Mareschall]

Four separate pieces of parchment used as flyleaves; f. 1 is formed by a later blank leaf to which two separate pieces, each blank on one side, have been stuck, one to the recto the other to the verso. The pieces comprise: f. 196r, Cash Expenses sections for ironwork and various expenses; f. 2v, finalCash Expenses sections and total; f. 1v Works account; f. 1r, beginning of grain account; f. 196v, Grain Accounts for [barley?], oats, and [malt?]; f. 2r, Stock Accounts.

Unless these pieces are from a roll of Enrolled Manorial Accounts, the latest of which now extant is for 1325-6, f. 196 back and front are from a single manorial account, as are f. 2 back and front. On such accounts written, as here, from the same end on both sides, the grain account would normally start at the top of the dorse, but here f. 1r is blank on the other side. Although f. 196 rv is clearly in another hand from the other pieces, all may be parts of the same account (there are three hands in the account for Billingham 1339-40.

Three of the pieces bear clear evidence that they are from a Billingham account: Billingham tenants are the source of the bulk of the works on f. 1v, while the Billingham tithes are the

responsibility of the accountant on ff. 1r and 2v. For f. 196 there is an entry on f. 196r that mentions Billingham, probably in connection with pasture for stock, while the eighteen oxen fed on f. 196v accord with the numbers given in the oxen account on f. 2r

The date of f. 196 can be securely established. The Granator is named as [William of] Stapleton; he succeeded Robert of Benton between 29 September 1340 and 11 November 1341 (Bearpark Account 1340-1), and was in turn succeeded by William of Goldsborough (Misc.Ch. 5831). Expenses of oats refer to Dunstan's day as Sunday, and the vigil of Barnabas as Monday; between 1340 and 1344 19 May and 10 June fell on these days in 1342. From the same section it is clear that the account opened at Martinmas at the latest and so covers 1341-2.

Substantial evidence points to the same date for the other pieces. Like f. 196v, f. 2v refers to the Terrar as William of Charlton, also to the Bursar as Robert of Benton, who accounted as such from c. 12 May 1341, and to the Prior's Chaplain as Richard of Bickerton, who became Almoner on 1 November 1345(Almoner's Account 1345). The numbers of stock given at beginning and end of account do not match those given on the Billingham account for 28 September 1343 - 26 September 1344, showing that this account does not immediately precede or follow that account. The entry for Richard of Tynemouth's expenses accords with the entry on the Bursar's Accounts for 1341-2, indicating that he was at Bewley for his health; by January 1343 he was at Finchale (3.6.Pont.4)

The name of the *serviens* is given in an entry in the wheat account, f. 1r, which also gives the time covered by the account as 46 weeks. This is exactly the period between Martinmas in one year and Michaelmas in the next; support for taking this to be the period covered here comes from the Bearpark Account that covers the period Martinmas 1341 - Michaelmas 1342, and also the 1340-1 accounts for Pittington and Westoe, which both closed at Martinmas 1341.

Durham Cathedral MS C.III.4

ff. 2 and 233 Bursar's Arrears and debts, [Summer 1308, from c. 1290 onwards]:

... [Arrears from c.1290 - summer 1308, outstanding summer 1308]

An indenture listing arrears and debts due to the Bursar was apparently cut up to form the front and back pastedowns and fly-leaves of this book, with f.2r following below f.233r after a small gap, and, as the dorse, f.2v below f.233v. Text was cut away along each edge and the main heading is lost, together with the headings to the first sections of the list. Each of the surviving columns seems to cover about four half-year terms, with little lost at the top, suggesting that the Pentecost term 1290 headed the column that survives in part on the left edge, and it is likely that this was the first column since the end of the list is found at this point on the other side of the parchment; the last term covered is the half-year running from Martinmas 1307, followed by the list of debts. The date of the indenture, the date on which the arrears listed were outstanding, cannot be earlier than the end of the last term covered, in early summer 1308, but it does not appear to be much later, as the total differs from the totals of the "magnum cyrograffum" at Martinmas 1308, 1309 and 1310 [Bursars Accounts 1308-9 (B), 1309-10]; a possible date would be between 10.viii.1308 and 26.x.1308 when the Bursar's office changed hands [Misc.Ch.5051 1; Misc.Ch.4612].

Cambridge Jesus College MS Q.G.13

ff.1-8 comprise parts of a Bursar Account 1420-1

Cambridge Trinity Coll. MS 365

Front flyleaf is fragment of second copy of Almoner's Account, 14 May 1464 - 27 May 1465

British Library MS Cotton Faustina A.vi ff. 110-111.

(Prior of Durham's Register, sometimes described as Reg. Parv. I) ff. 110 and 111 Two pieces of Chamberlain's expenses section, c.1380.

British Library MS Harley 5289 ff. 497-8

Proctor of Norham's account: [c.1527 x 1539], two pieces. Castlefield unsown. Hand as other accounts at that date.

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate

Manors

Given in the following form (where possible)

Reference date

Date as given in heading [actual date]

Name of serviens unless other officer stated, as given in heading

Extant comparable material

Notes on interpretation etc.

Strip from an inventory or account for an unidentified manor ?, [c. 1234 x 1244]: 3.9. Spec. 8 sealing tag.

Part of grain and stock sections for an unidentified manor, [c. 1320]: 2.11.Spec.50 sch. dorse.

Enrolled Manorial Accounts

Reference code: DCD-Enr. man. acs

Dates of creation: 1296 - 1326

15 items

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1296-7 [1296-7?]

Two membranes from the middle of a roll. The placing of an endorsement c.1500 at the head of the first membrane indicates that no membranes remained above then. The water-damage that completely obscures parts of the roll may have happened by then: the endorsement refers only to the manors of Bewley and Billingham, which are those covered by the one heading now readily legible. The endorsement gives the date as '1306'. Whether more could be read when it was made or not, this date clearly does not apply to all the accounts on the roll: the Bewley and Billingham account here does not duplicate the details found in the two Billingham accounts on Enrolled Manors 1305-6 that cover the period 3 October 1305 - 2 October 1306 nor does it take up the stock given as remaining on the later of those two accounts. Further evidence against a dating 1306 - 1307 for the Bewley and Billingham account here is the entry in the Bewley expenses 'per preceptum domini Prioris': by early October 1306 Prior Hoton was on his way to pursue his case against Bishop Bek in the Curia where he died in January 1308.

No evidence has been found for a firm dating of the roll. An entry in the Capons section of the Bewley and Billingham account refers to expenses 'domini Willelmi de Gretham bursarii et terrarii' but it is doubtful whether this indicates office held by William: no other reference has been found to him holding either of them, and a similarly phrased entry in the Geese section refers to expenses 'domini Prioris bursarii et terrarii'. William became a monk shortly before Thomas of Haswell, Bursar 1297 - 1299, and last occurs in 1321, as Prior of Coldingham, an office that he held in 1305, and then again from 1313 onwards, see Liber Vitae f. 59v, Loc.XIII:3c, Loc.VII:6, Reg. II f. 13v.

The dating formula for the Pittington dairy account may offer a means of identifying possible dates within the period covered by William of Greatham's career: it refers to the period of the account, from Sunday before Dunstan - vigil of Assumption, as 13 weeks 4 days. If this is taken to mean that the closing date, 14 August, fell on a Wednesday, possible years are 1297, 1303, 1308 and 1314. It is clear that the Bewley and Billingham account here is not for 1302-3: its details do not duplicate those in the Bewley account 1302-3 on Enrolled Manors 1299-1303. Of the other possible years the earliest, 1297, seems preferable, since both the script and the forms are less developed than those found on subsequent enrolments of manorial and stock accounts. Moreover, it is possible that the date '1306' added on the dorse c.1500 arose from reading '...xcvi' as '.cccvi'.

```
m. 1 face:
[Bearpark] (grain)
```

In the last of three grain sections here, oats, entries refer to guests arriving at Bearpark and to the neighbouring Aldingrange.

Bearpark (cattle and horses)

```
Stephen parcar.. [and] ... ..rius
mm. 1-2
Bewley & Billingham
```

Wednesday before Simon & Jude [21 x 27 October] - translation of Denis [9 October] aforenamed year

Robert Cocus

The description of the feast of Denis as a translation simply seems to be an eccentricity: details, such as the payment of wages, indicate that the account covered a year.

Dorse: m. 1 Muggleswick

... Pentecost - Sunday before Luke [11 x 17 October] ... (Cash)

At Martinmas [11 November] (Stock)

... de Hessewelle

An entry in cash expenses refere to the neighbouring Waskerley, and in the account for Weardale below there is an entry for 15 cows sent to Muggleswick recorded in this account.

Weardale

_

Robert custos boviculorum de Werdal

Sheep

William de Holm

Holme

[Cheese & butter]

... after Dunstan [20 x 26 May] for 7 weeks 3 days

_

... [Cheese]

Sunday before Petronilla [24 x 30 May] for 13 weeks

_

Pittington [Cheese]

Sunday before Dunstan [12 x 18 May] - Vigil of Assumption [14 August] for 13 weeks 4 days

-

Dorse m. 2

Bearpark [Cheese]

... virgin - Martin [11 November]

-

```
DCD-Enr. man. acs 1298-1302 1298-1302
Face:
...
...
Rainton 1298-9
... [c. 29 September 1298 - c. 27 September 1299]
```

The place and approximate closing date are established from the fact that the wheat given as remaining on this Account is taken up on the Rainton Account opened on this date, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 m 3 face. The opening date is indicated by a livery of wheat spanning the year, from about Michaelmas '98.

```
... 1298-9
... '98 - same feast next year [1299]
```

The place has not been identified. The first part of the heading is missing and the opening feast has not been established. One section of the Account refers to the period Monday after Peter's Chains [4 August] '98 - ...

```
...
Dorse
...
...
...
Rainton 1301-2 [Cash & Grain]
... [c.Michaelmas 1301] - same feast '302
```

W[illiam] de Langeley

The Account is taken to be for Rainton by association with the two stock accounts that follow, supported by the fact that the Rainton Accounts for 1299-1300 and 1302-3, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303, mm 3 face and 1-2 dorse, have the same accountant, named in full on the latter. The Account appears to cover one year only and the opening date is taken to be the same that of the second stock account that follow it does not take up the balance of the Rainton Account 1299-1300 closed on 25 September 1300.

Rainton 1300-1 (Stock)
- [25 September] '300 - - [29 September] '301

The place and the opening day seem to be established by the fact that this Account takes up the stock given as remaining on the Rainton Account closed on this day, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 m 3 face. The closing date is established from the fact that the stock remaining on this Account seems to be taken up on the Account opened on this day, which follows immediately.

Rainton 1301-2 (Stock) Michaelmas '301 - ... [Michaelmas 1302]

The place and the closing date seem to be established by the fact that the stock given as remaining on this Account is taken up on the Rainton Account opened on this date, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 mm 1-2 dorse.

Wardley 1301-2 Martinmas ... [1301 - c. Martinmas 1302] ... [Adam] del Newton

The Account appears to cover about one year and mention is made of payment for the Pentecost term '302, making the opening year 1301. The next Wardley Account opened at Martinmas 1302, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 m 5 dorse, and so this Account presumably does not go beyond that date, but probably runs up to it, given that the accountants are the same. Accountant's fornname supplied from Wardley Accounts 1299-1300 and 1302-3, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 mm 2 face and 5 dorse.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1299-1303 1299-1303

Face m. 1

Bearpark & Houghall 1299-1300 (Cash)

Luke [18 October] '99 - ... [1 August x 29 September x 9 October] '300 ...klif [Ralph de Crumklif], -

The closing date is not at all clear. One possibility is 1 August, the opening date of the Cash Account for Houghall alone immediatly below, but it is likely that the Bearpark expenses continued beyond that date in this Account as repairs to carts and to ploughs are given for the year. The alternatives are then 29 September, the closing date of the Cash Account for Houghall, and 9 October, the closing date of the Grain & Stock Account for Bearpark & Houghall below. Initial and surname of accountant supplied from balance of Account; full first name from heading of Houghall Account 1301-2, m 5 face below.

Houghall 1300 (Cash)

Peter's Chains [1 August] '300 - Michaelmas same [year:- 1300]

Ralph de Herlesay, -

Bearpark & Houghall 1299-1300 (Grain & Stock)

Luke [18 October] '99 - Denis [9 October] '300

Bewley 1299-1300 (Cash)

Sunday after Exaltation of Cross [20 September] '9 - same day [18 September] '300

G [Gilbert]

Full first name of accountant supplied from memorandum after balance.

mm 1-2

Bewley 1299-1300 (Grain & Stock)

Period aforesaid

_

m. 2

Pittington 1299-1300 (Cash)

Luke [18 October] '99 - same day [18 October] '300

Richard Stere

Pittington 1299-1300 (Grain & Stock)

Sunday before Michaelmas [27 September] '9 -same day [25 September] '300

Wardley 1299-1300 (Cash)

Martinmas '9 - same feast '300

Adam del Neuton

m 3

Wardley 1299-1300 (Grain & Stock)

Martinmas '9 - same feast '300

Rainton 1299-1300 (Cash)

Sunday before Michaelmas [27 September] '9 - same day [25 September] '300 W [William] de Langeley, -

Full first name of accountant supplied from heading of Rainton Account 1302-3, m 1 dorse below.

Rainton 1299-1300 (Grain & Stock)

Period aforesaid

_

Ketton 1299-1300 (Cash)

Sunday before Matthew [20 September] '9 - same day [18 September] '300

William

Ketton 1299-1300 (Grain & Stock)

Period aforesaid

_

mm 3-4

Muggleswick 1299-1300

Friday before All Saints [30 October] '99 -same day [28 October] '300

Adam de Sessinghopp, -

Houghall 1300-1 (Cash)

Michaelmas '300 - Epiphany same year [6 January 1301]

Ralph de Herlesay, -

Houghall 1300-1 (Grain) Friday after Nativity of Virgin Mary [9 September] '300

- Octave of Epiphany [13 January 1301]

-

Pittington 1300-1

Sunday before Michaelmas [25 September] '300 - Sunday after Epiphany same year [8 January 1301]

Richard Stere

m 5

Houghall 1301-2

Michaelmas 1301 - Barnabas [11 June] 1302

Ralph de Cromclyf, -

Houghall 1302

Pentecost [10 June] 1302 - Sunday before Luke same year [14 October 1302]

Theobald

Houghall 1302 (Grain)

Sunday before Luke [14 October] '302 -Sunday before Epiphany same year [30

December 13021

Theobald, -

Pittington 1302 (Cash)

Mark [25 April] '302 - Martinmas same year

John de Pytingdon & Alan de Reynington, -

No place is given in the heading, but the expenses include mowing the meadows of the manor of Pittington.

Pittington 1302 (Grain & Stock)

Sunday after Philip & James [6 May] '302 -Martinmas same year

_

Bewley 1301-2

Sunday after Exaltation of Cross [17 September] '301 - Sunday before Invention of Cross [29 April] '302

Gilbert

Dorse m 1

Billingham 1302 (Cash)

... [c. 13 May - c. 11 November 1302]

. . .

The place and approximate dates are taken from the next Account, supported by the fact that ploughmen's and carters' stipends were for the Pentecost term only.

Billingham 1302 (Grain & Stock) ... [c.13 May - 11 November 1302]

-

The place and the closing date are established from the fact that the barley and stock given as remaining on this Account are taken up on the Billingham Account opened on that date, m 3 below. Despite references to grain from the harvest of 1301, the Account appears to cover half a year since liveries of wheat to ploughmen and carters were made from Sunday before Dunstan for the following 26 weeks.

Muggleswick 1300-1

All Saints [1 November] '300 - Martinmas [c.11 November] '301

Adam de Sessinghop

Muggleswick 1302

Sunday before Philip & James [29 April] '302 - Sunday after Luke same year

[21 October 1302]

William de Hilton

Bearpark 1302

Sunday after Mark [29 April] '302 -Martinmas same year [1302]

William de Hessewell

mm 1-2

Rainton 1302-3

Michaelmas 1302 - same feast '303

William de Langeley, -

m 2

Dalton 1302-3

Martinmas '302 - same feast next year [1303]

Ralph

mm 2-3

Belasis 1302-3

Martinmas '302 - same feast next year [1303]

Walter

m 3

Bewley 1302-3

Martinmas 1302 - Vigil of Martinmas [10 November] '303

Richard de Marton; Robert, reeve

Billingham 1302-3

Martinmas '302 - Sunday before Botulph [16 June] '303

William de Hoton, -

mm 3-4

Billingham 1303

Sunday before Botulph [16 June] '303 - Vigil of Martinmas same year [10

November 1303]

Peter

m 4

Muggleswick 1302-3

Sunday after Luke [21 October] '302 - Sunday after All Saints [3 November] '303 William de Hilton

mm 4-5

Ketton 1302-3

Sunday after Matthew [23 September] '302 - same day [22 September] '303 W [William] de Morton

Full first name of accountant supplied from balance.

m 5

Wardley 1302-3 (Cash)

Martinmas '302 - same feast '303

Adam del Newton

Wardley 1302-3 (Grain & Stock)

Martinmas '302 - Michaelmas '303

_

Bearpark 1302-3

Martinmas '302 - same feast '303

William de Hessewell

Ownership history: m.4 previous listed as Misc.Ch. 5677. Transferred to this roll, 6 May 1953 (CMF)

DCD-Enr. man. acs Inventories etc., 1302 Inventories etc., 1302

Face

Inventory

... [c.6 May] 1302

The details given of the stock and grain at Pittington seem to correspond to those given on the Pittington Account opened on this date, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 m 5 face.

Pittington: Grain

Bearpark: Grain, Stock & Equipment Houghall: Grain, Stock & Equipment Bewley: Grain, Equipment & Stock

Dorse

Pittington: Stock & Equipment

Presentments by vills of Cowpen [Bewley], Billingham & Wolviston, against the accountants of Belasis, Billingham & Bewley [c.1302]

These presentments seem to be contemporary with the Inventory, above. Gilbert is named as the accountant for Bewley; he was in office 29 April 1302, but had left by Martinmas 1302, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 mm 5 face and 3 dorse.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1303-5 1303-5

Face m 1

Belasis 1303-4

... [11 November 1303 - 4 October 1304]

... [Walter]

The place and opening date are established from the fact that this Account takes up the stock remaining on the Belasis Account closed on this date, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 mm 2 dorse; the closing date from the fact that the barley and stock remaining on this Account are taken up on the Belasis Account opening on this date, m 2 dorse below. Account named in Billingham Account 1303-4, m 2 face below.

Bewley 1303-4

Martinmas '303 - Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1304

Richard de Marton

mm 1-2

Billingham 1303-4

Vigil of Martinmas [10 November] '303 -Sunday before Cuthbert in September [30 August] '304

Gilbert Sumle

m 2

Rainton 1303-4

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '303 - same day [4 October] '304 W [William] de Langeleye

Full first name of accountant supplied from Rainton Account 1302-3, Enrolled Manors 1299-1303 mm 1-2 dorse.

mm 2-3

Wardley 1303-4

Martinmas '303 - Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1304

Adam de Neuton

m 3

Pittington 1303-4

Martinmas 1303 - Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '304

Alan de Reynington

m 4

Bearpark 1303-4

Martinmas '303 - same feast '304

William de Hessewell

m 4

Ketton 1303-4

Sunday after Matthew [22 September] 1303 - same day [27 September] '304 W [William] de Morton

Full first name supplied from Ketton Account 1304-5, m 4 dorse below.

m 5

Westoe 1304

Lawrence [10 August] 1304 - Sunday after Michaelmas said year [4 October 1304]

Adam del Newton

Of the three Lawrences widely celebrated this is the only one whose feast fell before the closing date of the Account in the medieval year.

m 5

Muggleswick 1303-4

Sunday after All Saints [3 November] '303 -Sunday after James [26 July] '304

William de Hilton

Muggleswick 1304

Sunday after James [26 July] 1304 - Sunday after Michaelmas same year [4

October 1304]

Adam de Lascell

Dorse m 1

Westoe 1304-5

...[c.20 September 1304 - c.3 October 1305]

...

The place is identified from the reference to income 'de sandeldrauth in tyne del schelis' which also appears on the Westoe Account 1309-10, Enrolled Manors 1309-10 m 3 face. The approximate dates are taken from the liveries of wheat: these extend from Sunday before Matthew '304 to Sunday after Michaelmas in the next year. How far these are the exact dates of the Account is doubtful since they entail an overlap with the Westoe Account 1304 m 5 face above.

mm 1-2

Bewley 1304-5

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1304 - same day [3 October] '305

Walter

m 2

Belasis 1304-5

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '304 -same day next year [3 October 1305] John de Seton

mm 2-3

Pittington 1304-5

Luke [18 October] '304 - Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] '305

Robert de Scouland

Duplicate: Enrolled Manors 1304-5 (face)

m 3

Bearpark 1304-5

Martinmas '304 - Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] '305

W [William] de Hessewell

Duplicate: Enrolled Manors 1304-5 (face)

Full first name supplied from Bearpark Account 1303-4, m 4 face above.

mm 3-4

Billingham 1304-5

Sunday before Cuthbert in September [30 August] '304 - Sunday after

Michaelmas [3 October] '305

Gilbert Sumle

m 4

Ketton 1304-5

Sunday after Matthew [27 September] 1304 - Sunday after Michaelmas [3

Octoberl '305

William de Morton

mm 4-5

Rainton 1304-5

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '304 -Sunday after Lawrence [15 August] '305

W [William] de Langeley

The question of which Lawrence is being used here seems to be settled by the livery of wheat to ploughmen where the same feasts are used as those in the heading and the period between them is given as 45 weeks. Full first name supplied from Pittington Account 1304-5, m 2 dorse above.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1304-5 1304-5

Face

Pittington 1304-5

... [18 October 1304 - 3 October 1305]

... [Robert de Scouland]

Duplicate: Enrolled Manors 1303-5 mm 2-3 dorse.

Bearpark 1304-5

Martinmas '304 - Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] '305

W [William] de Hessewell

Duplicate: Enrolled Manors 1303-5 m 3 dorse

Full first name supplied as for duplicate

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1305-6 Bearpark [c.3 October 1305 - c.Michaelmas 1306] Separate fragment of an Enrolled Manorial Account, section relating to Bearpark only

This Account takes up the balance of the Bearpark Account closed at Martinmas 1304, described as the last account of the preceding year, and of the Bearpark Account closed 3 October 1305, described simply as the last account, Enrolled Manors 1303-5 mm 4 face and 3 dorse. The closing date is calculated from the payment of wages to a carter for a whole year.

Ownership history: Previous cataloguing suggests that this may have previously been part of, or kept with, DCD-Enr. man. acs 1304-5. It has been conserved and rolled separately since late 20th century.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1305-6 1305-6

Face

Billingham 1305-6

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1305 -Sunday before Tiburtius & Valerianus [10 April] '306

Gilbert

Original version: Billingham 1305-6 & 1306

Billingham 1306

Sunday before ... & Valerianus [10 April] 1306 - Sunday after Michaelmas same

year [2 October 1306]

John

Original version: Billingham 1305-6 & 1306

Ketton 1305-6

Sunday after Matthew [26 September] 1305 -same day [25 September] '306

William de Morton & Ambrose

Dorse

Houghall 1305-6

... [c.1 November 1305 - 12 June 1306]

. . .

The place and the closing date are established from the fact that the oats and stock given as remaining on this Account are taken up on the Houghall Account opened on this date, below. The earliest date mentioned for liveries is All Saints, and there is nothing to suggest that the Account opened significantly before that Houghall 1306

Sunday after Barnabas [12 June] '306 - Sunday before Michaelmas same year [25 September 1306]

Ralph de Cromclyff

Ferryhill 1305-6

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] '305 - Lawrence [10 August] '306 William

The wording of the opening date, like the place, was read under ultra-violet light before the roll was repaired.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1309-10 1309-10

Face m 1

Billingham 1309-10

... [c.Michaelmas 1309 - c.Michaelmas 1310]

. . .

The place is established from a livery of wheat to Dalton: although a similar quantity of wheat was received on the Dalton Account 1309-10, m 2 face below, from Billingham, Belasis and Westoe, Westoe is eliminated by the fact that the Westoe Account 1309-10 is found m 3 face below, and Belasis by the fact that this Account records oats received from the accountant there, leaving Billingham. The Account appears to be for a year, to Judge by payments to ploughmen and carters, and they received liveries of wheat for the year from Sunday after Exaltation of Cross, 21 September, '9 to the same day, 20 September, '10, but confusion is created by the payment to the accountant from All Saints, 1 November, to Sunday after Michaelmas, 4 October. The later closing date would be more in accord with the other accounts on this roll.

mm 1-2

Bearpark 1309-10

Sunday, Matthew [21 September] '309 - Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '310

Ralph de Cromclyve

mm 2-3

Dalton 1309-10

Sunday, Wilfrid [12 October] '9 - Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '10 John de Pytingdon

mm 3-4

Westoe 1309-10

Sunday before Thomas ap [14 December] 1309 - Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1310

Adam del Newton

Dorse mm 1-2

Pittington 1309-10

Sunday after Michaelmas [5 October] '309 -Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '310

Robert del Lathes

m 2

Ketton 1309-10

Vigil of Michaelmas [28 September] 1309 - Sunday before Hilary same year [11 January 1310]

John de Belas'

mm 2-3

Ketton 1310

Sunday before Hilary 1309 [11 January 1310] - Sunday after Michaelmas [4

October] 1310

John del Egge

mm 3-4

Muggleswick 1309-10

Sunday after Michaelmas [5 October] 1309 - same day [4 October] 1310 John de Aldewode

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1319-20 1319-20

[c.Michaelmas - c.Michaelmas], unless headed otherwise

Most of the accounts enrolled here do not have headings giving their dates. The roll for the following year, Enrolled Manors 1320-1, is similar, but has a heading at the top stating the period of the accounts in general, with those that diverge individually dated below. Presumably this roll once had such a heading. The approximate closing date of the undated accounts here is established from the fact that the stock remaining on the Dalton Account, m 4 below, is taken up in the Dalton Account opened at Michaelmas 1320, Enrolled Manors 1320-1 mm 2-3 face. The opening date is calculated from numbers of liveries to ploughmen etc. that show that the unheeded accounts covered one year. The

opening and closing dates remain imprecise because the evidence for the closing date given above diverges from the evidence of liveries at Dalton, m 4 below, which indicate a year running from one Sunday after Michaelmas to the next. The original heading may still, however, have given the terminal dates as Michaelmas: there is an instance of precisely the same divergenc, in the

Billingham Account 1320-1, Enrolled Manors 1320-1 m. 3 face

Face mm 1-2

Belasis 1319-20

[c.Michaelmas 1319 - c.Michaelmas 1320]

William Disscher

The place is confirmed by liveries of oats to Billingham and Houghall, since both the Billingham Account m 2 face below, and the Houghall Account, m 3 face below, have receipts of oats of the appropriate quantities.

m 2

Billingham 1319-20

- [c.Michaelmas 1319 - c.Michaelmas 1320]

Robert

m 3

Houghall 1319-20

- [c.Michaelmas 1319 - c.Michaelmas 1320]

Robert

mm 3-4

Pittington 1319-20

- [c.Michaelmas 1319 - c.Michaelmas 1320]

Ralph

m 4

Dalton 1319-20

- [c.Michaelmas 1319 - c.Michaelmas 1320]

Walter

m 4

Bearpark 1319-20

Sunday after Michaelmas '3.. - ... Lent said year [30 September 1319 - 2 March 1320]

J [John] de Conyngham

The Houghall and Dalton Accounts 1319-20, 3 and 4 above, include liveries of wheat to Bearpark which appear on this Account as being received, indicating the year of this Account. The closing date is clear since the heading gives the

period of the Account as 22 weeks. Full first name supplied from Houghall Account 1319-20, m 3 above.

Dorse m 1

?Bearpark 1320?

... [?c.2 March - c. Michaelmas 1320?]

Little though there is of this Account some evidence for the place and approximate closing date is provided by the statement of two items of stock remaining on this Account, for they match those taken up on the Bearpark Account opened at Michaelmas 1320, Enrolled Manors 1320-1 m 3. If this is the Bearpark Account closed c. Michaelmas 1320, it must follow the Bearpark Account closed 2 March 1320 m 4 face above, perhape immediately after it. Dorse mm 1-2

Westoe 1319-20

Sunday after Michaelmae 1... - ..nday after John the Baptist '20 [30 September 1319 - 29 June 1320]

The heading gives the period of the Account as 39 weeks and from this the opening year and the closing day can be established.

m 2

Westoe 1320

Sunday after John the Baptist 1... - Sunday after Michaelmas same year [29 June - 5 October 1320]

?R.

There is every reason to assume that this Account follows on immediately from the Westoe Account 1319-20, mm 1-2 dorse above, although this is not easily demonstrated. Taking the year to be 1320, the precise dates are clear and any difficulty in reading the heading is resolved by the period of the Account being given as 13 weeks.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1320-21 1320-21

Michaelmas - Michaelmas, except one headed otherwise

These dates are given in the heading to the roll and are taken to apply to all the accounts on the roll, except the one individually dated. How precisely the dates apply to each account is open to some question since the liveries of wheat on the Billingham Account, m 3 face below, were clearly for the period from one Sunday after Michaelmas to the next, and also since the closing date of the only account separately dated was Sunday after Michaelmas, m 2 dorse below.

Face m 1

Pittington 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

Adam de Birden

mm 1-2

Ketton 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

John de Pytingdon

m 2

Houghall 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

Robert

mm 2-3

Dalton 1320-1

- Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

Walter

m 3

Bearpark 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

William bercarius

Billingham 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

Robert

Dorse m 1

Bewley 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

John

mm 1-2

Ferryhill 1320-1

- [Michaelmas 1320 - same feast 1321]

Richard

m 2

Westoe 1321

Tuesday before Peter's Chains [28 July] '21 - Sunday after Michaelmas same year [4 October 1321]

William Page

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1322-3 1322-3

[c.Michaelmas - c.Michaelmas]

None of the accounts enrolled here appear to have had headings giving their dates. None of them is clearly for a period less than a year, and it seems likely that the roll once had a heading giving the period and applying to each account, like Enrolled Manors 1320-1.

The approximate closing date is established from the fact that the stock remaining on the Westoe Account, mm 1-2 below, is taken up on the Westoe Account opened c. Michaelmas 1323, Enrolled Manors 1323-4 mm 3-4 dorse; likewise with the parallel Pittington Accounts. The opening date calculated from numbers of liveries of wheat to ploughmen etc. that indicate that they were made from c.Michaelmas, although there is a variation between Sunday before Michaelmas, e.g. Dalton, and Sunday after Michaelmas, e.g. Bewley, both m. 4. mm 1-2

Westoe 1322-3

- ... [?c.Michaelmas 1322 c.Michaelmas 1323]
- ... [Walter ?de Toukotes]

The place and accountant's first name appear in the Accounts for Wardley, Pittington and Dalton, mm 2, 3 and 4 below, as a result of the liveries of beans on this Account. The Westoe Account 1324-5, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 m 3 face, has an accountant with the same first name, and his second name given. See note to beginning of roll, above, for the closing date. As this Account lacks its wheat section the clearest indication of the opening date is provender of oats starting at All Saints, 1 November.

m 2

Wardley 1322-3

- [c.Michaelmas 1322 c.Michaelmas 1323]
- ... [Robert] de Munketon

The place and the accountant's first name are given in the Westoe Account, m 1 above, in the beans section. See note to beginning of roll, above. The earliest livery in the wheat section appears be from Sunday after Michaelmas, and the period covered by liveries to those operating ploughs seems to be 52 weeks in all.

mm 2-3

Pittington 1322-3

- [c.Michaelmas 1322 c.Michaelmas 1323]
- ..y [Henry de Smython]

The place and the accountant's first name are given in the Westoe Account, m 1 above, in the beans section; the second name is supplied from the Pittington Account 1323-4, Enrolled Manors 1323-4 m 1 face. See note to beginning of roll, above. The period covered by liveries of wheat seems to extend from 3 October to 9 October in the following year.

m 4

Dalton 1322-3

- [c.Michaelmas 1322 - c.Michaelmas 1323]

William [?de Walobane]

See note to beginning of roll, above. The period covered by liveries of wheat extends from one Sunday after Michaelmas to the next. The Dalton Account 1324-5, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 m 2 face, has an accountant with the same first name, and his second name given.

Bewley 1322-3

- [c.Michaelmas 1322 - c .Michaelmas 1323]

Robert Ayre

m 4

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat start from Sunday before Michaelmas. Wages are paid for both half-yearly terms.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1323-4 1323-4

[c.Michaelmas - c.Michaelmas], unless headed otherwise

Most of the accounts enrolled here have no heading giving the date. None of these is clearly for a period lees than a year, and it seems that the roll once had a heading giving the period and applying to all but the separately dated accounts, like Enrolled Manors 1320-1.

The approximate closing date is established from the fact that the stock remaining on the Westoe Account, mm 3-4 dorse, is taken up on the Westoe Account opened at Michaelmas 1324, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 mm 3-4 face. The opening date is calculated from numbers of liveries of wheat to ploughmen etc. starting c.Michaelmas, although most are dated Sunday after Michaelmas some a week later, see below.

Face m 1

Dalton 1323-4

- ... [?c.Michaelmas 1323 c.Michaelmas 1324]
- ... [William de Walobane]

The place and approximate closing date are established from the fact that the Dalton Account opened c.Michaelmas 1324, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 m 2 face, takes up the stock remaining on this Account. Liveries of wheat are largely lost, but this Account may well take up the stock remaining on the Dalton Account closed c.Michaelmas 1323, Enrolled Manors 1322-3 m 4. The accountant's first name appears under oats on the Pittington Account, m 2 face below, his second on the Dalton Account 1324-5, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 m 2 face.]

mm 1-3

Pittington 1323-4

- [c.Michaelmas 1323 - Michaelmas 1324]

Henry de Smython

See note to beginning of roll, above. The closing date is confirmed by the fact that the stock remaining on this Account is taken up on the Pittington Account opened at Michaelmas 1324, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 mm 1-2 dorse, although the period covered by liveries of wheat extends from the second Sunday after Michaelmas [Denis] to the Sunday before Michaelmas.

mm 3-4

Houghall 1323-4

Michaelmas '23 - Oswald r [5 August] '24

Robert Skepper

m 4

Houghall 1324

Oswald r [5 August] '24 - Sunday -[c. Michaelmas 1324]

Adam de Couton

See note to beginning of roll, above. It seems unlikely that this Account extends beyond the limit of the Accounts on this roll which cover a full year, but the liveries of grain do run to the second Sunday after Michaelmas although this may arise from the convenience of having a nine-week period, calculations of the amount due being based on a period of three weeks.

mm 4-5

Billingham 1323-4

- [c.Michaelmas 1323 - c.Michaelmas 1324]

John de Beulu & John de Seham, -

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from the second Sunday after Michaelmas [Denis] to the Sunday before Michaelmas. m 6

Wardley 1323-4

- [c.Michaelmas 1323 - c.Michaelmas 1324]

Robert de Muncketon

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat cover a period of 52 weeks.

Dorse mm 1-2

Bewley 1323-4

... [?c.Michaelmas 1323 - c.Michaelmas 1324]

... [William]

The place and the accountant's name appear as a result of a livery of oats in this Account in the Pittington Account, m 2 face. See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat are illegible and so this Account cannot be shown to cover a full year. As it is not followed by an account for Bewley for the latter part of the year, it presumably covers the period up to c.Michaelmas 1324, cf Houghall Accounts, mm 3-4 face; it also cover the provender of oats for draught animals, generally made available during the winter only.

mm 2-3

Belasis 1323-4

- [c.Michaelmas 1323 - c.Michaelmas 1324]

John de Beulu

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from the second Sunday after Michaelmas [Denis] to the Sunday before Michaelmas [18 weeks after Dunstan].

mm 3-4

Westoe 1323-4

- [c.Michaelmas 1323 - c.Michaelmas 1324]

Walter [de Toukotes]

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from Sunday after Michaelmas to Sunday before Michaelmas. Accountant supplied from the heading of the Westoe Account 1324-5, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 m 3 face. mm 4-6

Ketton 1323-4

- [c.Michaelmas 1323 - c.Michaelmas 1324]

Gilbert de Wodom

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from one Sunday after Michaelmas to the next.

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1324-5 1324-5

[c.Michaelmas - c.Michaelmas], unless headed otherwise

Three of the accounts enrolled here have no heading giving the date; none of these is clearly for a period less than a year, and it seems that the roll once had a heading giving the date and applying to these accounts, like Enrolled Manors 1320-1. These accounts are taken to be for the same year as the headed accounts on the roll.

Face m 1

Retton 1324-5

- ... [c.Michaelmas 1324 c.31 March 1325]
- ... [Gilbert de Wodom]

The place and approximate opening date are established from the fact that this Account takes up the stock remaining on the Ketton Account closed then, Enrolled Manors 1323-4 m 6 dorse. The closing date is taken to be the same as the opening date of the Ketton Account that follows immediately, as with the accounts for Bearpark, Westoe and Pittington, below. First name given as source of grain and stock taken up on the Ketton Account 1325, m 2 face below; second name supplied from Ketton Account 1323-4, Enrolled Manors 1323-4 m 4 dorse. m 1

Ketton 1325

... 1325 - Sunday after Michaelmas following [c .31 March - 6 October 1325] Walter

The approximate opening date is indicated by liveries of wheat that start on Sunday after Annunciation, although the fact that these only extend for 26 weeks to the Sunday of Michaelmas itself, and not to the next Sunday, and also that the period of the Account is stated as 26 weeks, does throw some doubt on the precise dates, even as given in the heading.

mm 1-2

Ferryhill 1324-5

- [c.Michaelmas 1324 - c.Michaelmas 1325]

John Hyne

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from one Sunday after Michaelmas to the next.

m 2

Wardley 1324-5

- [c .Michaelmas 1324 - c .Michaelmas 1325]

Robert de Muncketon

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from one Sunday after Michaelmas to the next, the day on which the Wardley Account 1325-6 opens, Enrolled Manor, 1325-6 m 3 dorse.

m 2

Dalton 1324-5

- [c.Michaelmas 1324 - c.Michaelmas 1325]

William de Walobane

See note to beginning of roll, above. The liveries of wheat extend from Sunday before Michaelmas to Sunday after Michaelmas in the next year, although the Dalton Account 1325-6 opens on the Sunday of Michaelmas itself 1325, Enrolled Manors 1325-6 m 5 face.

m 3

Bearpark 1324-5

Michaelmas '24 - Cuthbert in March same year [20 March 1325]

John de Tudhowe

m 3

Bearpark 1325

Cuthbert in March '24 [20 March 1325] - Michaelmas '25

Henry de Smython

mm 3-4

Westoe 1324-5

Michaelmas '24 - Cuthbert in March same year [20 March 1325]

Walter de Toukotes

m 4

Westoe 1325

Cuthbert in March '24 [20 March 1325] - Michaelmas '25

John de Todou

Dorse m 1

?Billingham 1325

... [c.27 March - c.Michaelmas 1325]

. . .

The place seems to be indicated by the sowing of a Billingham bondland with oats, and this is supported by the name of the accountant who handed over at the beginning of this Account: John de Seham, for he was one accountant at Billingham 1323-4, Enrolled Manors 1323-4 m 4 face. The fact of this Account being on this roll is taken to indicate the year. One livery of wheat covers the 24 weeks from Tiburtius & Valerianus, i.e. to Michaelmas. The period of the Account is given as 26 weeks 4 days, which counting back from Michaelmas, would start 2 March, although a date 7 days earlier does seem likely since several of the accounts on this were opened then following a general movement of accountants.

mm 1-2

Pittington 1324-5

Michaelmas 1324 - Cuthbert in March same year [20 March 1325]

Henry [de Smython]

Accountant supplied from Pittington Account 1323-4, Enrolled Manors 1323-4 m 1 face.

mm 2-4

Pittington 1325

Cuthbert in March 1324 [20 March 1325] - Michaelmas 1325

John de Seham

DCD-Enr. man. acs 1325-6 1325-6

Each headed Michaelmas - Michaelmas, unless given otherwise

Face mm 1-2

Ketton 1325-6

... [c.Michaelmas 1325 - c.Michaelmas 1326]

... [Walter]

The place and approximate opening date are established by the fact that this Account takes up the stock remaining on the Ketton Account 1324-5, Enrolled Manors 1324-5 m 1 face. The closing date is indicated by liveries of wheat which run from Michaelmas to Michaelmas. Accountant supplied from wheat section. mm 2-3

Pittington 1325-6

Michaelmas 1325 - same feast 1326

John de Seham

mm 4-5

Westoe 1325-6

Michaelmas 1325 - same feast next year [1326]

John de Tudhow

m 5

Dalton 1325-6

Michaelmas 1325 - Sunday after Beheading of John the Baptist [31 August] 1326

William de Walburne

Dorse m 1

Billingham 1325-6

... [?c.Michaelmas 1325 - ?c.Michaelmas 1326]

... [John Lukelyn]

This Account includes a livery of peas to Belasis, and the corresponding entry in the Belasis Account, m 5 dorse, indicates the place and gives most of the accountant's name, the rest of which appears in the Bewley Account under oxen, m 3 dorse. The loss of the wheat section makes it difficult to establish the approximate dates the Account. If it did not cover the latter of the year, there would normally be another account for that following; provender of oats appears for 26 weeke after All Saints, 1 November.

mm 1-3

Bewley 1325-6

Michaelmas 1325 - same feast next year [1326]

Gilbert de Ketton

mm 3-4

Wardley 1325-6

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '25 -same day [5 October] 1326

Robert

mm 4-5

Belasis 1325-6

Michaelmas 1325 - same feast 1326

John

File, [c. 1300 - 1350], of seven fragmentary membranes, includes two (4 and 5) identifiable as being for Belasis (and so kept with those accounts), and dateable [1335 - 1336?] and [c. 1340].

Bearpark

31 items

Reference code: DCD-Beapk. acs

Dates of creation: 1327-1407

Grain: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?], m. 1 face.

Cattle and horses: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?].

Cheese: ... - 11 November: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?] dorse.

18 October 1299 - [1 August / 29 September / 9 October ?] 1300 (cash, with Houghall): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 face.

18 October 1299 - 9 October 1300 (grain & stock, with Houghall): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 face.

29 April - 11 November 1302: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 dorse.

11 November 1302 - 11 November 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 dorse.

Grain, stock & equipment: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302, face.

11 November 1303 - 11 November 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 4 face.

11 November 1304 - 3 October 1305: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 3 dorse, and Enr. Man. Ac. 1304-5, face.

[c.3 October 1305 - c.29 September 1306]: Enr. man. acs 1305-6 Bearpark.

21 September 1309 - 4 October 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, mm. 1-2 face.

30 September [1319 - 2 March 1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, m. 4 face.

[? c.2 March - c.29 September 1320 ?]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, m. 1 dorse.

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, m. 3 face.

29 September 1324 - 20 March 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 3 face.

20 March - 29 September 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 3 face.

DCD-Beapk. acs 1327-8 1327-8

Sunday before Simon & Jude [25 October] 1327 - same day [23 October] '28 Robert, Chaplain

DCD-Beapk. acs 1328-9 1328-9

Sunday before Simon & Jude [23 October] 1328 - same day [22 October] '29 Robert, Chaplain

DCD-Beapk. acs 1329-30 1329-30

Sunday before Simon & Jude [22 October] 1329 - Martinmas [11 November] '30

Robert, Chaplain

Dorse: Inventory, Martinmas [11 Nov. 1330]

DCD-Beapk. acs 1330-1 1330-1

Martinmas [11 November] 1330 - same feast [11 November] '31

Richard de Thinley

```
DCD-Beapk. acs 1331-2 1331-2
```

Martinmas [11 November] .331 - same feast [11 November] 1332

Richard de Thinleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1332-3 1332-3

Martinmas [11 November] 1332 - Michaelmas [29 September] 1333

Richard de Thinleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1333-4 1333-4

... 33 [29 September 1333] - same feast ... [Michaelmas 29 September 1335] Richard de Thinleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1335 1335

Michaelmas [29 September] 1334 - same feast ...5 [Michaelmas - 29 September 1335]

Richard de ...leye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1335-6 1335-6

Michaelmas [29 September] 133. [1335] - same feast 1336 [Michaelmas - 29 September]

Richard de Thynleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1336-7 1336-7

... [Michaelmas 1336 - c. 4 May 1337]

... [Elias]

DCD-Beapk. acs 1337 1337

... [c. 22 June - c. Michaelmas 1337]

. . .

DCD-Beapk. acs 1337-8 1337-8

... [c. Michaelmas 1337 - c. 8 February 1338]

. . .

DCD-Beapk. acs 1338 (A) 1338

... Purification7 [c. 8 February - 31 May 1338]

Adam Halyday

DCD-Beapk. acs 1338 (B) 1338

Pentecost 133. - ... [31 May - c. Michaelmas 1338]

Richard de Thynleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1339-40 1340

Michaelmas 1339 - same feast 1340

Richard de Thynleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1340-1 1340-1

Michaelmas 1340 - Martinmas 1341

Richard de Thynleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1341-2 1341-2

Day after Martinmas 1341 - Michaelmas 1342

Richard de ...nleye

DCD-Beapk. acs 1342-3 1342-3

... [Michaelmas 1342 - Michaelmas 1343] ... [Richard]

DCD-Beapk. acs 1343-4 1343-4 Michaelmas 1343 - same feast 1344 Richard de Thynley

DCD-Beapk. acs 1369-70 1369-70 Michaelmas 1369 - Michaelmas '70 John de Lethom, supervisor

DCD-Beapk. acs 1370-1 1370-1 Michaelmas 1370 - Michaelmas '71 John de Lethom, supervisor

DCD-Beapk. acs 1371-2 1371-2 Michaelmas 1371 - Michaelmas '72 John de Lethom, supervisor

DCD-Beapk. acs 1372-3 1372-3 Michaelmas 1372 - Michaelmas '73 John de Lethom, Chaplain, supervisor

DCD-Beapk. acs 1373-4 1373-4 Michaelmas 1373 - Michaelmas '74 John de Lethom, supervisor

DCD-Beapk. acs 1374-5
Michaelmas '74 - same feast '75
John de Lethom, Chaplain, supervisor

DCD-Beapk. acs 1396-7 1396-7

... - Michaelmas following [c. 21 April - 29 September 1396]

Thomas Heryng

& Michaelmas 1396 - same feast next year

Thomas Heryng

DCD-Beapk. acs 1397-8 1397-8 Michaelmas 1397 - same feast next year

DCD-Beapk. acs 1398-9 1398-9

Michaelmas 1398 - same feast next year

Thomas Herynger

Thomas Herynger

Schedule 1: Indenture for cash livery of 26s 4d by the Bursar [of Durham] to Thomas Heringger, Keeper of Bearpark, Michaelmas '98 - - [29 Sept. 1398] Parchment

Latin

Schedule 2: Indenture for cash livery of £4 6s 8d by Walter Teesdale, Bursar [of Durham] to Thomas Heringger, Keeper of Manor of Bearpark, Pentecost [18 May] 1399 - -

Parchment

Latin

DCD-Beapk. acs 1403-5 1403-5

... [c. Michaelmas 1403 - Michaelmas 1404] John de Shyncle & Michaelmas 1404 - ... [c. Michaelmas 1405] Same John

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Manors - Belasis

DCD-Beapk. acs 1406-7 1406-7 ...406 - same feast next year John Shynclif

DCD-Beapk. acs 1400x1450 [1400x1450]

Roger Heryn..., reeve

Stuff received by lessee, [c. 1430]: Bursar's Arrears etc., 1434.

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Belasis

Reference code: DCD-Bels. acs

Dates of creation: c. 1300 - 1350

2 items

Presentments by vills of Cowpen (Bewley), Billingham and Wolviston, against accountants of Belasis, Billingham and Bewley, [c. 1302]: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302 dorse.

11 November 1302 - 11 November 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, mm. 2-3 dorse.

[11 November 1303 - 4 October 1304]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 1 face.

4 October 1304 - 3 October 1305: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 2 dorse.

DCD-Bels. acs 1305-6 1305-6

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1305 - Sunday after Michaelmas next year [2 October 1306]

John de Setun

[c.29 September 1319 - c.29 September 1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, mm. 1-2 face.

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 2-3 dorse.

29 September 1325 - 29 September 1326: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, mm. 4-5 dorse.

```
DCD-Bels. acs c. 1300-50 [c. 1300-50]
```

File, Seven fragmentary membranes, and one separate fragment now rejoined to m. 5.

No othe file of manorial accounts is extant in the Durham monastic archive, and although some manorial accounts have holes through which filing thongs probably passed, it remains uncertain what principle of filing was used - annual, by manor etc. This file has accounts from different dates, two membranes, 4 and 5, identifiable as for Belasis, but it has not been established that all membranes refer to Belasis.

```
m. 1
...
...
m. 2
... [c. 1334 ?]
...
m. 3
...
m. 4
Belasis, 1335-6 ?
...
m. 5
Belasis, c. 1340
...
m. 6
...
m. 6
... c. 1342
...
m. 10
...
m. 10
...
```

Ownership history: These pieces were removed from the collection of medieval financial fragments forming Misc.Ch. 7073 in February 1986.

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Bewley

Reference code: DCD-Bewl. acs

Dates of creation: 1305 - 1408

23 items

21 x 27 October - 9 October (for one year, with Billingham): Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?], mm. 1-2 face.

20 September 1299 - 18 September 1300 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 face.

Said period (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, mm. 1-2 face.

17 September 1301 - 29 April 1302: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 face.

Grain, equipment & stock: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302, face.

Presentments by vills of Cowpen (Bewley), Billingham and Wolviston, against accountants of Belasis, Billingham and Bewley, [c. 1302]: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302 dorse.

11 November 1302 - 10 November 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 dorse.

11 November 1303 - 4 October 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 1 face.

4 October 1304 - 3 October 1305: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5 dorse, mm. 1-2 dorse.

DCD-Bewl. acs 1305-6 1305-6

Sunday before Cuthbert in September [29 August] 1305 - Cuthbert in September next year [4 September 1306]

Walter de Thocotes, -

DCD-Bewl. acs 1316-7 1316-7

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1316 - same day [2 October] 1317 Henry

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, m. 1 dorse.

[c.29 September 1322 - c.29 September 1323]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1322-3, m. 4.

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 1-2 dorse.

29 September 1325 - 29 September 1326: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, mm. 1-3 dorse.

DCD-Bewl. acs 1329-30 1329-30

Sunday after Michaelmas [1 October] 1329 - same day [30 September] next year: '30

William de Walburn

DCD-Bewl. acs 1332 1332

Wednesday before Barnabas [10 June] '32 - Sunday after Michaelmas said year [4 October 1332]

John de Thorpp

DCD-Bewl. acs 1332-3 1332-3

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1332 - same day [3 October] 1333 John de Thorp

Cash livery, 22 January [1335]: Loc.IV:143 dorse.

DCD-Bewl. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Sunday .. Michaelmas [6 October] 1336 - same day [5 October] .337 John de Edmundb..es

DCD-Bewl. acs 1337-8 1337-8

Sunday after Michaelmas [5 October] 1337 - same day next year [4 October 1338]

John de Shele

DCD-Bewl. acs 1339-40 1339-40

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1339 - same day next year [1 October 1340]

John del Shele

DCD-Bewl. acs 1343-4 1343-4

Sunday before Michaelmas [28 September] 1343 - Sunday before Michaelmas [26 September] 1344 John de Edmundbyres

DCD-Bewl. acs 1369-70 1369-70 Michaelmas 1369 - Michaelmas 1370 William Carter

DCD-Bewl. acs 1370-1 1370-1 Michaelmas 1370 - Michaelmas '71 Thomas de Esyngwald

DCD-Bewl. acs 1371-2 1371-2 Michaelmas 1371 - Michaelmas 1372 Thomas de Esyngwald

DCD-Bewl. acs 1372-3 1372-3 Michaelmas 1372 - Michaelmas '73 Thomas de Esyngwald

DCD-Bewl. acs 1374-5 1374-5 Michaelmas 1374 - same feast '75 John de Baumburgh

DCD-Bewl. acs 1375-6 1375-6 Michaelmas '75 - same feast '76 John de Baumburgh

Schedule: Indenture for cash liveries totalling £9 18s 8d by William de Aslakby, Bursar [of Durham], to John de Baumburgh, *serviens* of the Manor of Bewley

Michaelmas '75 - Michaelmas '76

Parchment

Latin

DCD-Bewl. acs 1376-7 1376-7 Michaelmas 1376 - same feast '77 John de Baumburgh

DCD-Bewl. acs 1377-8 1377-8 Michaelmas 1377 - same feast 1378 John de Baumburgh

DCD-Bewl. acs 1378-9 1378-9 Michaelmas 1378 - Michaelmas '79 Gilbert, reeve DCD-Bewl. acs 1405 1405 Pentecost [7 June] 1405 - Michaelmas following John de Monkton

DCD-Bewl. acs 1405-6 1405-6

Two copies:

(A) Michaelmas 1405 - same feast next year

John de Monkton

Fair copy

(B) Michaelmas 1405 - ... [same] feast next year

John de Monkton

Draft

DCD-Bewl. acs 1406-7 1406-7

Michaelmas 1406 - Pentecost following [15 May 1407]

John de Monkton

DCD-Bewl. acs 1407-8 1407-8

Martinmas 1407 - day after same feast ... [1408]

...son

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Billingham

Reference code: DCD-Bill. acs

Dates of creation: 1327 - 1344

15 items

21 x 27 October - 9 October (for one year, with Bewley): Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?], mm. 1-2 face.

[c.13 May - c.11 November 1302]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, dorse.

[c.13 May - 11 November 1302]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 dorse.

Presentments by vills of Cowpen (Bewley), Billingham and Wolviston, against accountants of Belasis, Billingham and Bewley, [c. 1302]: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302 dorse.

11 November 1302 - 16 June 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 dorse.

16 June - 10 November 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, mm. 3-4 dorse.

10 November 1303 - 30 August 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, mm. 1-2 face.

30 August 1304 - 3 October 1305: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, mm. 3-4 dorse.

DCD-Bill. acs 1305-6 1305-6

Sunday before Exaltation of Cross [12 September] .305 - Thursday, Tiburtius & Valerianus following [14 April 1306]

Gilbert

& Thursday, Tiburtius & Val.. ... [14 April 1306] - Sunday after Michaelmas same year [2 October 1306]

Copy: Enrolled copy (3 Oct. 1305 - 10 April 1306): Enr. Man. Ac. 1305-6, face.

Copy: Enrolled copy (10 April -): Enr. Man. Ac. 1305-6, face.

[c.29 September 1309 - c.29 September 1310]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, m. 1 face.

DCD-Bill. acs 1315-6 1315-6

Sunday after Michaelmas [5 October] 1315 - same day [3 October] '316 Robert del Lathes

DCD-Bill. acs 1316-7 1316-7

Sunday ... [3 October] 1316 - same day ... [2 October 1317] Robert

[c.29 September 1319 - c.29 September 1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, m. 2 face.

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, m. 3 face.

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 4-5 face.

[c.27 March - c.29 September 1325]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 1 dorse.

[? c.29 September 1325 - ? c.29 September 1326]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, m. 1 dorse

DCD-Bill. acs 1327-8 1327-8

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1327 - Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] ..28

John Luclyne

DCD-Bill. acs 1328-9 1328-9

Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1328 - same day next year [1 October 1329]

John Lukelyn

DCD-Bill. acs 1329-30 1329-30

Sunday after Michaelmas [1 October] 1329 - same day next year [30 September 1330]

John Luclyne

DCD-Bill. acs 1330-1 1330-1

Sunday after Michaelmas [30 September] 1330 - Sunday before Ambrose [31 March] 1331

John Lukkelyne

DCD-Bill. acs 1333 1333

Philip and James [1 May] 1333 - Michaelmas following

Walter del Byres

DCD-Bill. acs 1333-4 1333-4

Sunday before Mat' [19 September] 1333 - Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1334

Thomas Wawayn

DCD-Bill. acs 1334-5 1334-5

Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1334 - Friday after ...abas following [16 June 1335]

[T]homas Wawayn

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Manors - Dalton

Cash liveries, 13 January and 26 March 1335: Loc.IV:143 dorse

DCD-Bill. acs 1335 1335

Sunday after John the Baptist [25 June] '35 - Sunday ... Michaelmas same year [1 October 1335]

John de Hesilden

DCD-Bill. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] 1336 - same day next year [5 October 1337]

John Tyd

DCD-Bill. acs 1337-8 1337-8

Sunday after ... [5 October] 1337 - same ... 133. [4 October 1338]

. . .

DCD-Bill. acs 1339-40 1339-40

Sunday after ... [3 October] 1339 - same Sunday next year [1 October 1340] John Marshall

[11 November 1341 - 29 September 1342] (frags): MS Durham Cathedral B.IV.36 ff. 1-2 and 196.

DCD-Bill. acs 1343-4 1343-4

Sunday before Michaelmas [28 September] 1343 - Sunday before Michaelmas [26 September] 1344

John Marshal

Dalton

Reference code: DCD-Dalt. acs

Dates of creation: 1305 - 1344

8 items

Mildew was found on the wrappers of the Dalton accounts 23 December 1988. Accounts were examined and found not to be affected. Wrappers wiped with thymol

11 November 1302 - 11 November 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 2 dorse.

DCD-Dalt. acs 1305-6 1305-6

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1305 - Sunday after Lambert [18 September] '306

Ralph

impregnated cloth.

12 October 1309 - 4 October 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, mm. 2-3 face.

DCD-Dalt. acs 1316 1316

Sunday after Peter in Cathedra '15 [15 February 1316] - Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] '316

Hugh de Ch...

[c.29 September 1319 - c.29 September 1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, m. 4 face.

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, mm. 2-3 face.

[c.29 September 1322 - c.29 September 1323]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1322-3, m. 4.

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Manors - Ferryhill

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, m. 1 face.

Dalton, [c.29 September 1324 - c.29 September 1325]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 2 face.

29 September 1325 - 31 August 1326: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, m. 5 face.

DCD-Dalt. acs 1331-2 1331-2

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '31 - same day [4 October] '32 Thomas Wawayn

DCD-Dalt. acs 1332-3 1332-3

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '32 - Sunday before Michaelmas [26 September] '33

Thomas Wawayn

Cash livery, 10 February 1335: Loc. IV: 143 dorse

DCD-Dalt. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] 1336 - Sunday before Michaelmas [28 September] 1337

Simon

DCD-Dalt. acs 1340 1340

..hie Apostle 1339 - ... 1340 [25 February - Michaelmas 1340]

Cuthbert

DCD-Dalt. acs 1340-1 1340-1

... [Michaelmas 1340 - Martinmas 1341]

DCD-Dalt. acs 1343-4 1343-4 Michaelmas 1343 - same feast 1344 Cuthbert

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Ferryhill

Reference code: DCD-Fery. acs

Dates of creation: 1316 - 1447

8 items

3 October 1305 - 10 August 1306: Enr. Man. Ac. 1305-6 dorse.

DCD-Fery. acs 1316-7 1316-7

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1316 - same day [2 October] 1317 Richard

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, mm. 1-2 dorse.

[c.29 September 1324 - c.29 September 1325]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, mm. 1-2 face.

DCD-Ferv. acs 1331-2 1331-2

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '31 - Sunday after Cuthbert in March '31 [22 March 1332]

Alan de Hetton

& Sunday after Cuthbert in March '31 - Sunday after Michaelmas '32 [22 March - 4 Oct. 1332]

Walter del Byres

DCD-Fery. acs 1332-3 1332-3

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] '32 - Saturday, Philip & James [1 May] 1333

Walter del Byres

DCD-Fery. acs 1333 [i] 1333 [i]

Saturday, Philip & James [1 May] 1333 - Sunday after Assumption following [22 August 1333]

John Russell

DCD-Fery. acs 1333 [ii] 1333 [ii]

Sunday, Assumption [15 August] '33 - Sunday after Michaelmas same year [3 October 1333]

Robert Raynald

DCD-Fery. acs 1333-4 1333-4

Sunady after Michaelmas [3 October] 1333 - same day [2 October] '34 Robert Raynald of Billingham

DCD-Fery. acs 1446-7 1446-7

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [5 June] 1446 - Pentecost [28 May] '47

John Wardon, reeve

Fair copy

(B) Pentecost [5 June] 1446 - Pentecost [28 May] '47

John Wardon, reeve

Draft

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Fulwell

Reference code: DCD-Fulw. acs

Dates of creation: 1331 - 1413

36 items

DCD-Fulw. acs [1331-2] [1331-2]

... [1331 - 1332]

٠.

DCD-Fulw. acs 1336 1336

Assumption [14 August] 1336 - Michaelmas 1336

Robert de Monketon

DCD-Fulw. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Michaelmas ... [1336] - ... 13.. [Michaelmas 1337]

... de Monketon

```
DCD-Fulw. acs 1337-8 1337-8
Michaelmas [1]337 - same feast 1338
Robert
DCD-Fulw. acs [1340-1 or 1342] [1340-1 or 1342]
... [1340-1341 or 1342]
DCD-Fulw. acs 1344 1344
Michaelmas 1... [1343 -Michaelmas] 1344
DCD-Fulw. acs 1369-70 1369-70
Michaelmas ... [1369] - ... 1370
John Reid
DCD-Fulw. acs [1370-1] [1370-1]
... [1370 - 1371]
. . .
DCD-Fulw. acs [1371-2] [1371-2]
... [1371 - 1372]
DCD-Fulw. acs [1372-3] [1372-3]
... [1372 - 1373]
DCD-Fulw. acs 1373-4 1373-4
... '73 - ... [1374]
DCD-Fulw. acs [1374-5] [1374-5]
... [1374 - 1375]
DCD-Fulw. acs 1375-6 1375-6
... '75 - same feast '76
DCD-Fulw. acs 1377-8 1377-8
Michaelmas 1377 - same feast 1378
John de Munkton
DCD-Fulw. acs 1378-9 1378-9
Michaelmas '78 - same feast next following
John de Moncton
DCD-Fulw. acs 1379-80 1379-80
... [Michaelmas 1379 - 1380]
John de Monkton
DCD-Fulw. acs 1380-1 1380-1
Michaelmas 138... [1380 - Michaelmas 1381]
```

DCD-Fulw. acs 1381-2 1381-2 Michaelmas '81 - ...[Michaelmas] '82 John de Monkton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1382-3 1382-3 Michaelmas 1382 - same feast next following John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1383-4 1383-4 Michaelmas 1383 - same feast next following John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1384-5 1384-5 Michaelmas 1384 - same feast '85 John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1385-6 1385-6 Michaelmas 13.. [1385] - same feast next following John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1386-7 1386-7 Michaelmas 1386 - same feast next following John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1387-8 1387-8 Michaelmas 1387 - same feast '88 John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1388-9 1388-9 Michaelmas ...[1388] - same feast next following John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1389-90 1389-90 Michaelmas 1389 - same feast 1390 John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1390-1 1390-1 Michaelmas 13 89 90 - same feast next following John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1391-2 1391-2 Michaelmas 1391 - same feast '92 John de Monketon

DCD-Fulw. acs 1392-3 1392-3 Michaelmas '9.. [1392] - same feast 1393 John de Monkton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1393-4 1393-4 Michaelmas 1393 - same feast 1394 John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1394-5 1394-5 Michaelmas 1394 - same feast '95 John de Moncton DCD-Fulw. acs 1395-6 1395-6 Michaelmas 1395 - same feast '96 John de Moncton

DCD-Fulw. acs 1401-2 & 1402-3 1401-2 & 1402-3 Michaelmas 1401 - same feast next year John Monkton With (dorse)
Michaelmas 1402 - same feast next year

DCD-Fulw. acs 1410-1 1410-1

Michaelmas 1410 - same feast next year John Watson

DCD-Fulw. acs 1411-2 1411-2 Michaelmas 1411 - same feast next year John Watson

DCD-Fulw. acs 1412-3 1412-3 Michaelmas 1412 - same feast next year John Watson

Heworth with Wardley Reference code: DCD-Hew. ac

Dates of creation: 1277-8

1 item

DCD-Hew. ac 1277-8 Kept with Wardley Accounts 1277-8

- [c. Michaelmas 1277 - c. 16 October 1278]

Richard

Ownership history: Previously classified as 'Various Manors 1277-8' and transferred into this series 20 June 1974

Expenses over manor, - 29 September 1344: Misc. Ch. 5705.

Houghall

Reference code: DCD-Houg. acs

Dates of creation: 1369 - 1426

32 items

18 October 1299 - [1 August / 29 September / 9 October ?] 1300 (cash, with Bearpark): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 face.

1 August - 29 September 1300 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 face.

18 October 1299 - 9 October 1300 (grain & stock, with Bearpark): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 face.

29 September 1300 - 6 January 1301 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 4 face.

9 September 1300 - 13 January 1301 (grain): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 4 face.

29 September 1301 - 11 June 1302: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 face.

Grain, stock & equipment: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302, m. 5 face.

10 June - 14 October 1302: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 face.

14 October - 30 December 1302 (grain): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 face.

[c.1 November 1305 - 12 June 1306]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1305-6 dorse.

12 June 1306 - 25 September 1306: Enr. Man. Ac. 1305-6 dorse.

[c.29 September 1319 - c.29 September 1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, m. 3 face.

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, m. 2 face.

29 September 1323 - 5 August 1324: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 3-4 face.

5 August - [c.29 September] 1324: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, m. 4 face.

Cattle transferred to Waskerley, 1 August 1342: Loc.IV:143 dorse

[c.29 September] 1348 - [c.29 September] 1349 (two pieces): Durham Cathedral MS B.I.28 ff. 1-2.

DCD-Houg. acs 1369-70 1369-70 Michaelmas 1369 - Michaelmas '70 John Punchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1370-1 1370-1 Michaelmas 1370 - Michaelmas '71 John Punchoun

DCD-Houg. acs 1371-2 1371-2 Michaelmas 1371 - Michaelmas '72 John Ponchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1372-3 1372-3 Michaelmas 1372 - Michaelmas 1373 John Ponchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1373-4 1373-4 Michaelmas 1373 - Michaelmas '74 John Ponchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1374-5 1374-5 Michaelmas '74 - Michaelmas 1375 John Ponchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1375-6 1375-6 Luke [18 October] '75 - Michaelmas 1376 William Lesmaker

DCD-Houg. acs 1376-7 1376-7 Michaelmas 1376 - same feast '77 William Lesmaker

DCD-Houg. acs 1377-8 1377-8

Michaelmas 1377 - Sunday after Peter in cathedra next following [28 February 1378]

William Lesmaker

DCD-Houg. acs 1378-9 1378-9 Michaelmas 1378 - Martinmas '79 John de Benton

DCD-Houg. acs 1379-80 1379-80

Martinmas '79 - Michaelmas next following [1380]

Richard Soniour

DCD-Houg. acs 1380-1 1380-1

Michaelmas 1380 - same feast next following [1381]

John Ponchoun

DCD-Houg. acs 1381-2 1381-2

Michaelmas 1381 - Michaelmas 1382

John Punchoun

DCD-Houg. acs 1382-3 1382-3

Michaelmas 1382 - same feast next following [1383]

John Ponchoun

DCD-Houg. acs 1383-4 1383-4

Michaelmas 1383 - same feast '84

John Ponchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1385-6 1385-6

Michaelmas 1385 - same ... [Michaelmas 1386]

John Ponchon

DCD-Houg. acs 1388-9 1388-9

Michaelmas 1388 - same feast next following [1389]

... de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1389-90 1389-90

Michaelmas 1389 - same feast '90

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1390-1 1390-1

...[Michaelmas] 1390 - same feast next following [1391]

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1391-2 1391-2

Michaelmas 1391 - same feast '92

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1392-3 1392-3

Michaelmas 1392 - same feast '93

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1393-4 1393-4

Michaelmas 1393 - same feast '94

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1394-5 1394-5

Michaelmas 1394 - same feast 1395

Robert

DCD-Houg. acs 1395-6 1395-6

Michaelmas 1395 - same feast next year [1396]

Robert

DCD-Houg. acs 1396-7 1396-7

Michaelmas 1396 - same feast next year [1397]

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1397-8 1397-8

Michaelmas 139... [1397] - same feast next year [1398]

Robert de Murton

DCD-Houg. acs 1398-9 1398-9

Michaelmas 1398 - same feast 1399

Robert de Morton

DCD-Houg. acs 1405-6 1405-6

Michaelmas 1405 - day after same feast next year [1406]

Henry de Heton, reeve

DCD-Houg. acs 1406-7 1406-7

Michaelmas 1... [1406] - ... [same] feast next year [1407]

...liam Marche

DCD-Houg. acs 1407-8 1407-8

Two copies:

(A) Michaelmas 1407 - day after same feast next year [1408]

Robert de Rouseby

Fair copy

(B) Michaelmas 1408 - day after same feast next year

Robert de Rouseby

Draft

DCD-Houg. acs 1425-6 1425-6

Martinmas 1425 - same feast next year [1426]

Robert Cok

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Ketton

Reference code: DCD-Ket. acs

Dates of creation: 1296 - 1410

46 + 1 items

DCD-Ket. acs 1296-7 1296-7

... Matthew [c. 21 September] 1296 - same ... [c. 21 September] ..97

. . .

20 September 1299 - 18 September 1300 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 face.

Said period (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 face.

23 September 1302 - 22 September 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, mm. 4-5 dorse.

22 September 1303 - 27 September 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 4 face.

27 September 1304 - 3 October 1305: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 4 dorse.

26 September 1305 - 25 September 1306: Enr. Man. Ac. 1305-6, face.

28 September 1309 - 11 January 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, m. 2 dorse.

11 January - 4 October 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, mm. 2-3 dorse.

DCD-Ket. acs 1316-7 1316-7

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] ..16 - same Sunday next year [2 October 1317]

Elias, reeve

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, mm. 1-2 face.

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 4-6 dorse.

[c.29 September 1324 - c.31 March 1325]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 1 face.

[c.31 March] - 6 October 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 1 face.

[c.29 September 1325 - c.29 September 1326]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, mm. 1-2 face.

DCD-Ket. acs 1331-2 1331-2

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '31 - same day [4 October] '32 Walter de Tonkotes

DCD-Ket. acs 1333-4 1333-4

Michaelmas 1333 - same feast 1354

John Luklyn

DCD-Ket. acs 1334-5 1334-5

Michaelmas ...4 [1334] - same feast 1355

..hn Luklyn

DCD-Ket. acs 1335-6 1335-6

Michaelmas 1... [29 September/1 October 1335] - - [20/22 September 1336] John Luklyn

DCD-Ket. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Sunday after Clement [24 November] 1336 - Sunday after John the Baptist next year [29 June 1337]

John Marshall

DCD-Ket. acs 1339-40 1339-40

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1339 - Sunday after Michaelmas [1 October] 1340

J.h. Ra.dolf [John Randolf]

DCD-Ket. acs 1343-4 1343-4

... [Michaelmas 1343 - Michaelmas 1344]

... [John Randolf]

DCD-Ket. acs 1369-70 1369-70 Michaelmas 1369 - Michaelmas '70 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1370-1 1370-1 Michaelmas 1370 - Michaelmas '71 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1371-2 1371-2 Michaelmas 1371 - Michaelmas '72 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1372-3 1372-3 Michaelmas 1372 - Michaelmas '73 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1373-4 1373-4 Michaelmas 1373 - Michaelmas '74 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1374-5 1374-5 Michaelmas 1374 - Michaelmas 1375 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1375-6 1375-6 Michaelmas 1375 - Michaelmas 1376 William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1376-7 1376-7 Michaelmas 1376 - Purification following [2 February 1377]

William Scott

DCD-Ket. acs 1377 1377
Saturday before Conversion of Paul Purification '76 [2 February 1377] - Saturday after Martin [14 November] '77

Richard Bertilmew

DCD-Ket. acs Memoranda 1377-8 Memoranda 1377-8 Michaelmas ..77 - same feast next year [1378]

. . .

DCD-Ket. acs 1377-8 1377-8 Martinmas 1377 - Michaelmas 1378 John

DCD-Ket. acs 1378-9 1378-9 Michaelmas 1378 - Michaelmas '79 John

DCD-Ket. acs 1379 1379

Michaelmas 1379 - Conception of Virgin Mary following [8 December 1379] John

DCD-Ket. acs 1379-80 1379-80

Conception of Virgin Mary [8 December] '79 - Michaelmas following [1380] Thomas Watson

DCD-Ket. acs 1380-1 1380-1

Michaelmas 1380 - same feast next ... [1381]

Thomas Watson

DCD-Ket. acs 1381-2 1381-2

Michaelmas 1381 - Pentecost following [25 May 1382]

Thomas Watson

DCD-Ket. acs 1382 1382

Pentecost [25 May] 1382 - Michaelmas following

William Willy

DCD-Ket. acs 1385-6 1385-6

Michaelmas '85 - Saturday before Cuthbert in March following [17 March 1386]

Richard Wright

DCD-Ket. acs 1388-9 1388-9

Michaelmas 1388 - ... [Michaelmas 1389]

. . .

DCD-Ket. acs 1389-90 1389-90

Michaelmas 1389 - same feast following [1390]

John de Chilton

DCD-Ket. acs 1390-1 1390-1

Michaelmas 1390 - same feast following [1391]

John de Chilton

DCD-Ket. acs 1391-2 1391-2

.ichaelmas 1391 - same feast ... [1392]

- - -

DCD-Ket. acs 1392-3 1392-3

Michaelmas 139. [1392] - same feast '93

.ohn de Chilton

DCD-Ket. acs 1393-4 1393-4

... [Michaelmas 1393 - Michaelmas 1394]

. . .

DCD-Ket. acs 1394-5 1394-5

Michaelmas 1394 - ... [Michaelmas 1395]

John de Chilton

DCD-Ket. acs 1395-6 1395-6

Michaelmas 1395 - same feast ... [1396]

[.lohn]

& Michaelmas 1396 - Martinmas following [1396]

Same John

DCD-Ket. acs 1396-7 1396-7

Martinmas '96 - Michaelmas following [1397]

William de Stokeslay

DCD-Ket. acs 1397-8 1397-8

Michaelmas 1397 - same feast next year [1398]

William de Stokeslay

DCD-Ket. acs 1398-9 1398-9

Michaelmas 1398 - same feast next year [1399]

William de Stokeslay

DCD-Ket. acs 1399-1400 1399-1400 Michaelmas 1399 - same feast 1400

. . .

DCD-Ket. acs 1400-1 1400-1

Michaelmas 1. [1400] - same feast next year [1401]

William de Stokeslay

DCD-Ket. acs 1401-2 1401-2

Michaelmas 1401 - same feast next year [1402]

William de Stokeslay

DCD-Ket. acs 1402-3 1402-3

- [Michaelmas 1402 - 1403]

DCD-Ket. acs 1404-5 1404-5

Michaelmas 1404 - ... [Michaelmas] next year [1405]

... Whyte

DCD-Ket. acs 1405-6 1405-6

Michaelmas 1405 - day after same feast next year [1406]

Robert White

DCD-Ket. acs 1406-7 1406-7

Michaelmas 1406 - same feast next year [1407]

Robert White

DCD-Ket. acs 1409-10 1409-10

Vigil of Christmas 1409 - Michaelmas following [1410]

John de Heyworth

And cf. Livestock Accounts for shepherd's accounts 1406-1408

Merrington

Reference code: DCD-Merr. acs

Dates of creation: 1376 - 1382

8 items

DCD-Merr. acs 1376 1376

Valentine '75 [14 February 1376] - Michaelmas following

John Whitbrun

DCD-Merr. acs 1376-7 1376-7

Michaelmas 1376 - same feast 1377

John

DCD-Merr. acs 1377-8 1377-8

Michaelmas 1377 same feast '78

William Currour

DCD-Merr. acs 1378-9 1378-9

Michaelmas 1378 - Michaelmas 1369 [1379]

Adam Whyshyffe

DCD-Merr. acs 1379-80 1379-80

Nicholas [6 December] 1379 - Michaelmas 1380

Robert de Maynesford

DCD-Merr. acs 1380 1380

Michaelmas ..80 - Thomas apostle following [21 December 1380]

Robert de Maynesford

DCD-Merr. acs 1380-1 1380-1

Thomas apostle [21 December] 1380 - Michaelmas following

William Forester

DCD-Merr. acs 1381-2 1381-2

Michaelmas '81 - Margaret following [20 July 1382]

William Forester

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Muggleswick

Pentecost - 11 x 17 October (cash), and - 11 November (stock): Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?], m. 1 dorse.

30 October 1299 - 28 October 1300: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, mm. 3-4 face.

1 November 1300 - [c.11] November 1301: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 dorse.

29 April - 21 October 1302: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 1 dorse.

21 October 1302 - 3 November 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 4 dorse.

3 November 1303 - 26 July 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 5 face.

26 July - 4 October 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 5 face.

5 October 1309 - 4 October 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, mm. 3-4 dorse.

For accounts for Mugglewick as a stock-centre, see under Livestock Accounts.

Pittington

Reference code: DCD-Pitt. acs

Dates of creation: 1277 - 1452

58 items

DCD-Pitt. acs 1277-8 1277-8

Monday after Wilfrid [18 October] '77 [- c. 18 October 1278]

Roger

DCD-Pitt. acs 1285-6 1285-6

- [c. 16 September 1285 - c. 28 April 1286]

Henry

Dorse: Extracts from fourteenth century Bursar's accounts.

Cheese, 12 x 18 May - 14 August: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?] dorse.

18 October 1299 - 18 October 1300 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 2 face.

27 September 1299 - 25 September 1300 (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 2 face.

25 September 1300 - 8 January 1301: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 4 face.

Grain: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302, face.

Stock & equipment: Enr. Inventories, etc., [c.6 May] 1302 dorse.

25 April - 11 November 1302 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 face.

6 May - 11 November 1302 (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 face.

11 November 1303 - 4 October 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 3 face.

18 October 1304 - 3 October 1305 two copies: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, mm. 2-3 dorse; Enr. Man. Ac. 1304-5, face.

5 October 1309 - 4 October 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, mm. 1-2 dorse.

DCD-Pitt. acs 1316-7 1316-7

Sunday after ... [3 October ?] ..16 - same day 13.. [2 October 1317] Ranulph

[c.29 September 1319 - c.29 September 1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, mm. 3-4 face.

29 September 1320 - 29 September 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, m. 1 face.

[c.29 September 1322 - c.29 September 1323]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1322-3, mm. 2-3.

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 1-3 face.

29 September 1324 - 20 March 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, mm. 1-2 dorse.

20 March - 29 September 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, mm. 2-4 dorse.

29 September 1325 - 29 September 1326: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, mm. 2-3 face.

DCD-Pitt. acs 1327-8 1327-8

Two copies: variant versions

(A) Michaelmas 1327 - same feast 1328

John de Seham

(B) Michaelmas 1327 - same feast 1328

John de Seham

DCD-Pitt. acs 1328-9 1328-9

Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1328 - same day next year [1 October 1329]

John de Seham

DCD-Pitt. acs 1330-1 1330-1

Sunday after All Saints [4 or 11 November] 1330 - Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] 1331

John de Seton

DCD-Pitt. acs 1331-2 1331-2

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '31 - same day [4 October] '32 John de Seton

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Manors - Pittington

DCD-Pitt. acs 1333 1333

Sunday after Augustine: Trinity [30May] 1333 - Sunday after Michaelmas [3

October] '33

John de Hesilden

DCD-Pitt. acs 1333-4 1333-4

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] '33 - Sunday before Michaelmas [25

September] '34

John de Hesilden

DCD-Pitt. acs 1335-6 1335-6

... [c.1 October] 1335 - C.r... [1 January 1336]

Robert Scot

DCD-Pitt. acs 1338 1338

Sunday after John before ... Gate [10 May] 1338 - Sunday after Martin following

[15 November 1338]

Walter de Fery

DCD-Pitt. acs 1339-40 1339-40

Sunday a... Michaelmas [3 October] 1339 - ... next year [1 October 1340]

Elias Raynald

DCD-Pitt. acs 1340-1 1340-1

... [1 October] 1340 - Martinmas ... [1341]

Elias Reynald

DCD-Pitt. acs 1344-5 1344-5

Michaelmas 1344 - Michaelmas 1345

... [Roger son of Hugh]

Ownership history: Previously classified as a Ferryhill account, and transferred into this series 10 January 1969

[4 October 1349 - c.14 January 1350] (frag[s ?]): Durham Cathedral MS B.I.28 f. 159 and [?] f. 2*.

DCD-Pitt. acs 1376-7 1376-7

Michaelmas 1376 - same feast 1377

John Ponchon

DCD-Pitt. acs 1377-8 1377-8

Michaelmas 1... [1377] - same feast ... [1378]

John Punchon

DCD-Pitt. acs 1378-9 1378-9

Michaelmas 1378 - Michaelmas '79

John Punchon

DCD-Pitt. acs 1379-80 1379-80

Michaelmas 1379 - Peter in cathedra following [22 February 1380]

John Punchon

DCD-Pitt. acs 1380 1380

Peter in cathedra 1379 [22 February 1380] - Michaelmas 1380

William de Hoton

DCD-Pitt. acs 1380-1 1380-1

Michaelmas 1380 - Michaelmas 1381

William de Hoton

DCD-Pitt. acs 1382 1382

Purification '81 - Tuesday before Wilfrid following [2 February - 7 October 1382]

John Witbrow

DCD-Pitt. acs 1382-3 1382-3

Michaelmas 1382 - same feast following [1383]

William Willy

DCD-Pitt. acs 1383-4 1383-4

Michaelmas 1383 - same feast following [1384]

William Willy

DCD-Pitt. acs 1384-5 1384-5

Michaelmas 1384 - same feast following [1385]

William Willy

DCD-Pitt. acs 1388-9 1388-9

Michaelmas 1388 - same feast following [1389]

Robert Kirkman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1389-90 1389-90

Michaelmas 1389 - same feast '90

Robert Kirkman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1390-1 1390-1

Michaelmas 1390 - same feast next year [1391]

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1392-3 1392-3

Michaelmas 1392 - same feast next year [1393]

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1393-4 1393-4

Michaelmas 1393 - same feast next year [1394]

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1394-5 1394-5

Michaelmas 1394 - same feast '95

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1395-6 1395-6

Michaelmas 1395 - same feast 1396

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1396-7 1396-7

Michaelmas 139. [1396] - same feast '97

..bert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1397-8 1397-8

Michaelmas 1397 - same feast next year [1398]

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1398-9 1398-9

Michaelmas 1398 - same feast next year [1399]

Robert Kirkeman

DCD-Pitt. acs 1399-1400 1399-1400

Michaelmas 1399 - ... [Michaelmas] 1400

. . .

DCD-Pitt. acs 1405-6 1405-6

Michaelmas 1405 - same feast next year [1406]

William Porter

DCD-Pitt. acs 1406-7 1406-7

Michaelmas 1406 - day after same feast next year [1407]

William Porter

DCD-Pitt. acs 1407-8 1407-8

Michaelmas 1407 - day after same feast next year [1408]

William Porter

DCD-Pitt. acs 1408-9 1408-9

Michaelmas 1408 - day after same feast next year [1409]

William Porter

DCD-Pitt. acs 1409-10 1409-10

Michaelmas 1409 - day after same feast next year [1410]

William Porter

DCD-Pitt. acs 1412-3 1412-3

Michaelmas 1412 - day after same feast next year [1413]

William Porter

Dorse: Status

DCD-Pitt. acs 1413-4 1413-4

Michaelmas 1413 - same feast '14

John Elgy

DCD-Pitt. acs 1418-9 1418-9

Michaelmas 1418 - same feast next year '19

John Elgy

DCD-Pitt. acs 1419-20 1419-20

Michaelmas 1... [1419] - same feast next year '20

John Greveson

DCD-Pitt. acs 1420-1 1420-1

Michaelmas 1420 - ... [same feast] next year '21

John Greves..

DCD-Pitt. acs 1422-3 1422-3

... [c. Michaelmas 1422 - Michaelmas 1423

. . .

DCD-Pitt. acs 1423-4 1423-4

... [Michaelmas] 1423 - same feast next year [1424]

...

DCD-Pitt. acs 1424-5 1424-5

Michaelmas 1424 - same feast next year '25

John Greveson

DCD-Pitt. acs 1427-8 1427-8

... [Michaelmas] 1427 - same feast next year [1428]

...veson

DCD-Pitt. acs 1428-9 1428-9

Michaelmas 1428 - Michaelmas '29

John Greveson

DCD-Pitt. acs 1429-30 1429-30

Michaelmas 1429 - Michaelmas next 1430

Robert Segefeld

DCD-Pitt. acs 1433-4 1433-4

Michaelmas 1433 - Pentecost [16 May] 1434

Robert Segefeld, reeve

DCD-Pitt. acs 1446-7 1446-7

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [5 June] 1446 - same feast [28 May] '47

John Mody, reeve

Fair copy

(B) Pentecost [5 June] 1446 - same feast [28 May] '47

... [John Mody, reeve]

Draft

DCD-Pitt. acs 1449-50 1449-50

Pentecost [1 June] 1449 - same feast [24 May] '50

John Mody, reeve

DCD-Pitt. acs 1450-1 1450-1

Pentecost [24 May] 1450 - Pentecost [13 June] '51

John Mody, reeve

DCD-Pitt. acs 1451-2 1451-2

Pentecost [13 June] 1451 - Pentecost [28 May] 1452

John Mody, reeve

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Rainton

[c.29 September] 1298 - c.27 September 1299: Enr. Man. Ac. 1298-1302, face.

27 September 1299 - 25 September 1300 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 face.

Said period (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 face.

[25 September] 1300 - [29 September] 1301 (stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1298-1302 dorse.

[c.29 September 1301- c.29 September] 1302 (cash & grain): Enr. Man. Ac. 1298-1302 dorse.

29 September 1301 - [29 September 1302] (stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1298-1302 dorse

29 September 1302 - 29 September 1303: Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, mm. 1-2 dorse.

6 October 1303 - 4 October 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 2 face.

4 October 1304 - 15 August 1305: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, mm. 3-4 dorse.

Hay-making expenses, [c. 1340 ?]: Loc.IV:143 dorse

Wardley

Reference code: DCD-Ward. acs

Dates of creation: c.1289 - 1376

19 items

[c.29 September 1277 - c.16 October 1278]: see Heworth.

DCD-Ward. acs [c. 1289] [c. 1289]

_

William de Hebernn, - With Herring account

DCD-Ward, acs 1290 1290

- [Before Sunday before Bartholomew - Sunday vigil of Christmas 1290] William de Hebernie, -

DCD-Ward, acs 1290-1 1290-1

... [Sunday, vigil of Christmas [24 December] 1290 - after Sunday, Mary Magdalene [22 July] 1291

. . .

(including Herring account)

- 11 November 1299 11 November 1300 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 2 face.
- 11 November 1299 11 November 1300 (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 3 face.
- 11 November [1301 c.11 November 1302]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1298-1302 dorse.
- 11 November 1302 11 November 1303 (cash): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 dorse.
- 11 November 1302 29 September 1303 (grain & stock): Enr. Man. Ac. 1299-1303, m. 5 dorse.
- 11 November 1303 4 October 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, mm. 2-3 face.
- 14 June 6 September 1313, 6 September 1313 10 January 1314, 10 January 21 February 1314, and 21 February 18 April 1314: Jarrow Ac. 1313-4 dorse.
- [c.29 September 1322 c.29 September 1323]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1322-3, m. 2.
- [c.29 September 1323 c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, m. 6 face.
- [c.29 September 1324 c.29 September 1325]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 2 face.
- 6 October 1325 5 October 1326: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, mm. 3-4 dorse.

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Manors - Wardley

DCD-Ward. acs 1328-9 1328-9

Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1328 - same day [1 October] '29 Robert

DCD-Ward. acs 1329-30 1329-30

Sunday after Michaelmas [1 October] 1329 - same day next year [30 September 1330]

Robert de Munkton

DCD-Ward. acs 1330-1 1330-1

Sunday after Michaelmas [30 September] 1330 - same day next year [6 October 1331]

Robert de Muncketon

DCD-Ward. acs 1331-2 1331-2

Sunday after Michaelmas [6 October] '31 - same day [4 October] '32

R...t de Muncketon

DCD-Ward, acs 1332-3 1332-3

Sunday after Michaelmas [4 October] 1332 - Sunday before Michaelmas [26 September] 1333

Robert de Muncketon

DCD-Ward, acs 1333-4 1333-4

Sunday before Michaelmas [26 September] 1333 - Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1334

Robert de Muncketon

DCD-Ward, acs 1334-5 1334-5

Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] '34 - Sunday before Michaelmas [24 September] '35

Robert

DCD-Ward. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Sunday after ... [6 October] 1336 - Sunday before Michaelmas 133. [28 September 1337]

Robert ... Thomas

DCD-Ward. acs 1337-8 1337-8

... Michaelmas 1337 - ... [c. Michaelmas] 1338

Robert son of Thomas

DCD-Ward, acs 1343-4 1343-4

Michaelmas 1343 - Michaelmas 1344

John son of Robert of Hetheworth

29 September 1348 - 29 Sept 1349 (two pieces): Durham Cathedral MS B.I.28 ff. 157-158.

DCD-Ward. acs 1375 & 1375-6 1375 & 1375-6

Assumption [15 August] 1375 - Michaelmas following

Adam Carter

& Michaelmas 1375 - same feast '76

Adam Carter

DCD-Ward. acs 1376-7 1376-7 Michaelmas 1376 - Michaelmas '77 Adam Carter

DCD-Ward. acs 1377-8 1377-8 ... [?1377 - Michaelmas 1378] ... [Adam]

DCD-Ward. acs 1378-9 1378-9 Michaelmas 1378 - same feast 1379 William Colynson

DCD-Ward. acs 1379-80 1379-80 Michaelmas '79 - same feast next following William Colynson

DCD-Ward. acs 1380-1 1380-1 Michaelmas '80 - same feast next following William .olynson

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Westoe

Reference code: DCD-West. acs

Dates of creation: 1326 - 1408 30 items

10 August - 4 October 1304: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 5 face.

[c.20 September 1304 - c.3 October1305]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1303-5, m. 1 dorse.

14 December 1309 - 4 October 1310: Enr. Man. Ac. 1309-10, mm. 3-4 face.

30 September [1319 - 29] June 1320: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, mm. 1-2 dorse.

29 June - 5 October [1320]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1319-20, m. 2 dorse.

28 July - 4 October 1321: Enr. Man. Ac. 1320-1, m. 2 dorse.

[c.29 September 1322 - c.29 September 1323]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1322-3, mm. 1-2.

[c.29 September 1323 - c.29 September 1324]: Enr. Man. Ac. 1323-4, mm. 3-4 dorse.

29 September 1324 - 20 March 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, mm. 3-4 face.

20 March - 29 September 1325: Enr. Man. Ac. 1324-5, m. 4 face.

29 September 1325 - 29 September 1326: Enr. Man. Ac. 1325-6, mm. 4-5 face.

DCD-West. acs 1326-7 1326-7

... 132. - ...327 [c. Michaelmas 1326 -27 September 1327]

... [John de] Tudhow

DCD-West. acs 1327-8 1327-8

Sunday before Michaelmas [27 September] 1327 - same day before said feast [25 September] 1328 John de Tudhow DCD-West. acs 1328-9 1328-9

Sunday after Michaelmas [2 October] 1328 - same day [1 October] '329 William de Hilton

DCD-West, acs 1329-30 1329-30

Sunday after Michaelmas [1 October] 1329 - same day [30 September] '330 William de Hilton

DCD-West, acs 1330-1 1330-1

Sunday after Michaelmas [30 September] 1330 - same day [6 October] '331 William de Hilton

DCD-West. acs 1331-2 1331-2

Sunday after ... [6 October] '31 - same day [4 October] '32

... [William] de Hilton

DCD-West. acs 1336-7 1336-7

Sunday after Michaelmas .33. [6 October 1336] - Sunday before Michaelmas [28 September] 1.37

William de Hilton

DCD-West. acs 1337-8 1337-8

Sunday after Michaelmas [5 October] 133seven - Sunday before Michaelmas [27 September] .338

William de Hilton

DCD-West. acs 1339-40 1339-40

Sunday after Michaelmas [3 October] 1339 - Sunday before Michaelmas [24 September] 1340

William de Hilton

DCD-West. acs 1340-1 1340-1

Sunday after Michaelmas [1 October] 1340 - Martinmas 1341

William de Hilto.

DCD-West. acs 1343-4 1343-4 Martinmas 1343 - same 1344

William de Hilton

Previously listed as DCD Misc.Ch. 2594. Prior to its removal from Misc.Ch. into this series, part of this account had been re-sewn onto Misc.Ch. 2594 on 20 June 1972

DCD-West. acs 1370-1 1370-1 Michaelmas 1370 - Michaelmas 1371

Richard de Hertlawe

DCD-West. acs 1371-2 1371-2 Michaelmas 1371 - Michaelmas '72 Richard de Hartlawe

DCD-West. acs 1372-3 1372-3

Michaelmas 1372 - Michaelmas 1373

Richard de Hertlawe

DCD-West. acs 1373-4 1373-4 Michaelmas 1373 - Michaelmas 1374 Richard de Hartlawe

DCD-West. acs 1374-5 1374-5 Michaelmas 1374 - same feast '75 Thomas Bower

DCD-West. acs 1375-6 1375-6 Michaelmas 1375 - Michaelmas '76 Richard de Hertlawe

DCD-West. acs 1393-4 1393-4 Michaelmas 1393 - same feast 1394 John Godwyn

An account labelled "s.a. circa 1390" was identified as belonging to this account and rejoined to it, 21 June 1972

DCD-West. acs 1394-5 1394-5 Michaelmas 1394 - same feast next following John Watson

DCD-West. acs 1395-6 1395-6 ... [Michaelmas 1395 - Michaelmas 1396]

DCD-West. acs 1396-7 1396-7

Two copies:

(A) Michaelmas 1396 - same feast next year John Watson Fair copy

(B) - [Michaelmas 1396 - Michaelmas 1397] John Watson

Draft

DCD-West. acs 1397-8 1397-8 Michaelmas 1397 - same feast next year John Watson

DCD-West. acs 1398-9 1398-9 Michaelmas 1398 - same feast next following John de Neuton

DCD-West. acs 1399-1400 1399-1400 Michaelmas 1399 - same feast 1400 John de Neuton

DCD-West. acs 1400-1 1400-1 ... [Michaelmas 1400 - Michaelmas 1401] ...

DCD-West. acs 1401-2 1401-2 Michaelmas 1401 - same feast next year John de Neuton Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Livestock

DCD-West. acs 1402-3 1402-3

Michaelmas 1402 - same feast next year

John de Neuton

DCD-West, acs 1404-5 1404-5

Michaelmas 1404 - same feast next year

John de Neweton

DCD-West, acs 1407-8 1407-8

Michaelmas 1407 - day after same feast next year

John de Newton

And cf. Livestock Accounts

Livestock

Stock-Keeper

Reference code: DCD-Stkpr acs

Dates of creation: 1337 - 1404

5 items

DCD-Stkpr acs Memoranda, 1337-8 Memoranda, 1337-8

Virtually all the material on this file of four membranes is concerned with sheep and wool, and in particular with shearing in 1338. the period covered extends to a year at least: an entry on m. 3 concerns the Instaurer's expenses 'per annum'. Another entry on m. 3 concerns stipends for the Pentecost and Martinmas terms, but marked to show the order of the terms should be read as Martinmas and Pentecost, the order found on the Stock-keeper's account for Pentecost 1338 - Pentecost 1339. This, with the other evidence, suggests that the memoranda refer to the period Pentecost 1337 - Pentecost 1338.

m. 1 face

Expenses on shearing at Holme

Fleeces at Holme and Belasis

Dispersal of lambs born at Holme

Wool-fells at Holme

Non-performance of washing services by tenants of Billingham and Cowpen

Dispersal of fleeces at Holme

Dorse

Expenses at Holme, Muggleswick and Westoe

Particulars of shearing beginning at Pittington, 26 May 1338

(5 sections: Ferryhill, Houghall, Ketton, Holme, Pittington)

Mugaleswick stirks

Expenses over shearing, '38

J[ohn] de Nesbyt instaurer

Shepherds' stipends, Pentecost term 1338

Expenses at Muggleswick

Expenses on Instaurer's account

Wool-fells delivered at shearing, 1338

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Livestock - Stock-Keeper - Particular categories of stock

DCD-Stkpr acs 1338-9 1338-9

Pentecost [31 May] 1338 - same feast [16 May] 1339

John de Nesebyt instaurer

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.309-11.

Receipts from sales of stock, 24 June 1342 - 24 June 1343: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1342-3

DCD-Stkpr acs Expenses at Holme etc., [c. 1345] Expenses at Holme etc., [c. 1345]

Face

After Pentecost 134.

Dorse (added)

Receipts of the same John de Holm [1344 x 1349]

[26 May 1349 - 26 May 1350]: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1349-50 dorse.

[26 May 1350 - 26 May 1351]: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1350-51 dorse.

[26 May 1351 - 26 May 1352]: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1350-52 dorse.

DCD-Stkpr acs 1385-6 1385-6

Martin 1382 [11 November 1385] - Martin [11 November] 1386 Thomas de Hall instaurator

11 November 1385 - 11 November 1386 Memorandum of cash transactions with local accountants: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1385-6 dorse.

DCD-Stkpr acs 1403-4 1403-4

Martin [11 November] 1403 - same next year

William Colynson Instaurarius

Particular categories of stock

Horses

Enr. Liv. Acs 1388-91.

Also below Bearpark, Unidentified centre.

Cattle around the manors

Enr. Liv. Acs 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2.

Also below Aldingrange, Bearpark, Birkhouses, Blackdene (Easter and Middle), 'Burnhamschele', Burnhope, Carpshiel, Edmondbyers, Healey, Ketton, Muggleswick, Netherdeyhouse, Overdeyhouse, Relley, 'Rispihirst', Waskerley(head), Wardley, Weardale, Wharnley, Unidentified centre

Dairy

Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296-7 ?].

Sheep

Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296-7 ?].

Also below Bartoncotes, Bearpark, Belasis, Bewley, Birkhouses, Burntshiel, Dalton, Ferryhill, Goldhill, Hesleden, Heworth, Hoggecote, Holme, Houghall, Ketton, Merrington, Muggleswick, Pittington, 'Pollowhill', Wardley, Westgate, Westoe, Unidentified centre.

Enrolled Livestock Accounts

Reference code: DCD-Enr. lstk. acs

Dates of creation: 1310 - 1423

23 + 2 items

Cf. Enrolled Manorial Account, [? 1296 - 1297 ?], inter alia:

Bearpark (cattle and horses), m. 1 face

Muggleswick (stock), m. 1 dorse

Weardale (boviculi), m. 1 dorse

Sheep, m. 1 dorse

Holme (cheese and butter), 20 x 26 May for 7 weeks 3 days

... (cheese), 24 x 30 May for 13 weeks

Pittington (cheese), 12 x 18 May - 14 August

Bearpark (cheese), ... - 11 November

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs [1310x1319] [1310x1319]

... '31.

General heading. The last word of the date that can now be read is 'Decimo', after which the surface of the parchment has gone; whether it was possible to be sure that nothing was written after 'Decimo' when the label of c. 1850 reading '1310' was written is doubtful. No evidence has been identified on the roll to serve as a means of more precise dating. The items enrolled here are more akin to inventories than accounts, many sections start 'Sunt ibidem', but transfers, past and future, of stock between accountants are recorded.

Face

Bearpark (colts and cattle)

Muggleswick (horses, cattle, sheep)

Houghall (sheep)

Ferrymoor (sheep)

Westoe (sheep)

Pittington (sheep)

Hesleden (sheep)

Bewley (sheep)

Holme (sheep)

Bartoncot es (sheep)

Belasis (sheep)

Dorse

Ketton (sheep)

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs [Shearing 1322] - Shearing 20 May 1323 [Shearing 1322] - Shearing 20 May 1323

View at shearing and marking Friday after Dunstan [20 May] 1323 General heading. Entries in sheep accounts indicate that they opened following shearing 1322

Pittington (sheep)

... (sheep)

Houghall bercarius

Holme (bidentes)

Robert Stouty

Holme (oves)

Bearpark (cattle and horses)

John

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs [Shearing 1339] - Shearing [c.26 May ?] 1340 [Shearing 1339] - Shearing [c.26 May ?] 1340

View at marking and shearing 1340

General heading. Many sections in the accounts on this roll start by taking up remaining stock 'anni preteriti', confirming that the accounts run up to, rather than start at, shearing 1340. The period covered by the accounts is indicated by the fact that young stock are said to advance in age by a year. A date for shearing, 26 May, is given in Stock-keeper's Memoranda 1337-8, and the feast of Augustine, 26 May, was used as the terminal date in the headings on the Enrolled Livestock Accounts for 1349-50, 1350-1 and 1351-2.

m. 1 face

Bearpark (horses and cattle)

Adam Couhird

Muggleswick (horses and cattle)

William Couhird stodardus

Waskerley

William Cutt esbovarius

m. 1 dorse

Still Muggleswick

Goldhill

Adam bercarius of Goldhill

Mugaleswick

John Mayessone bercarius of Muggleswick

m. 2 face

Holme

John Stouty bercarius

Belasis

John bercarius

Barton Cot es

Stephen bercarius

Bewley

John Page

Ketton

Adam bercarius

Peter bercarius (muttons)

Ferryhill

Ralph Belle bercarius

Pittington

John Yong' bercarius

Dorse m 2

Westoe

John Willysone bercarius

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs [c.26 May ? 1340] - Shearing [c.26 May ?] 1341 [c.26 May ? 1340] - Shearing [c.26 May ?] 1341

View at marking and shearing 1341

General heading. The evidence for interpreting the heading is the same as that for the roll for 1339-40. Some at least of the accounts on this roll follow on immediately from those on the roll for 1339-40, since they start by taking up the numbers of stock given as remaining at the end of accounts on the roll for 1339-40; why there should be some other accounts here, such as Ketton, in which this does not apparently happen is not clear.

Face m 1

Holme

John Page bercarius of Holme

Belasis

John bercarius of Belasis

Bewley

John bercarius

Barton Cot es

Stephen bercarius

Ketton (muttons)

Adam bercarius of Ketton

Ketton

Robert bercarius of Ketton

Pittington

John Yong' bercarius

m 2

Mugaleswick horses

William Couhird stodardus

Muaaleswick

William Couhird vaccarius

No indication of place is given. Entries for transfers of cattle between Bearpark and Muggleswick found in the Bearpark account below match entries in this account.

Waskerleyhead (stirks)

William Cutt es

In the Muggleswick account above entries for transfers of cattle refer to William Cuttes as 'bovarius'. The single section concerns younger stirks; other categories of cattle were perhaps in the hands of the following accountant, see below.

? Waskerleyhead

(cattle) John Walkere

This account has no marginal heading giving the place. It follows the Waskerleyhead account above with less of a gap than is found between accounts for different places on the roll, and it is complementary to the preceding account, having three sections, for bulls, stots and older stirks. Before the account was closed John Walkere appears to have handed over all that remained in his care to Roger del Heued bovarius of Waskerley, who was perhaps his successor in office.

Bearpark (horses and cattle)

Adam Couhird

Dorse

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Livestock - Enrolled Livestock Accounts

Still Muggleswick

The 'Adhuc' is inexplicable in terms of the accounts at the foot of the face of either membrane of this roll; it was rightly used in this position on the roll for 1339-40.

Goldhill

Adam bercarius

It is clear that the account refers to this dependency of Muggleswick from the fact that takes up the number of muttons remaining on the Goldhill account on the roll for 1339-40.

Muggleswick

John Mayessone bercarius

This account follows the preceding account without any gap left, and with no marginal heading giving the place. It clearly refers to Muggleswick from the fact that it takes up the number of muttons remaining on the Muggleswic] account on the roll for 1339-40.

Ferryhill

Ralph bercarius

Westoe

John Willy bercarius of Westoe

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.311-12.

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Livestock - Enrolled Livestock Accounts

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1342-3 1342-3

The only account with a dated heading is the last account, the cash account produced by the Terrar as stock-keeper. The sales of stock entered in that account can be traced in the preceding accounts, confirming that they belong to the same approximate period; most notably this is the case with 14 cows and 8 calves from Muggleswick sold for 62s. 6d., and one cow from Bearpark, showing that the first two membranes belong with the rest of the roll. Matching entries for movements of stock between Bearpark and Muggleswick provide further corroboration that the first two membra belong together.

mm 1-2

Vaccar' of Muggleswick

William Couhird

m 2

Bearpark

Adam Couhird

m 3 BERCAR'

Houghall

Thomas bercarius

Ferryhill

Ralph bercarius of Ferryhill

m 4

Mugaleswick

John Mayson bercarius

Pittington

John bercarius

Westoe

John bercarius

Ketton

John Colett' bercarius

mm 4-5

Holme (ewes)

John Page

m 5

Bartoncot es

Stephen bercarius of the Holme

Belasis

John bercarius

Bewley

John bercarius

Stock-keeper (receipts from sales of stock only

Nativity of John Baptist (24 June) 1342 - same feast next year

W[illiam] of Charlton, Terrar

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1343-4 1343-4

This single membrane from a longer roll contain no dated account. Matching entries in the sheep accounts recording the transfer of stock from one accountant to another show that the accounts are for the same approximate period, which covered one year, from one shearing to the next; the first section of the cattle account refers to the stock advancing in age by one year during the account. The numbers of stock taken up at the beginning the accounts for Muggleswick, Belasis (from Holme) and Pittington match those remaining at the close of the accounts on the roll for 1342 - 1343, which includes a cash account closed on 24 June 1343.

Face

... [Muggleswick cattle]

William Couhird (?)

The first three of the four sections take up the numbers given as remaining on the account for Muggleswick on the roll for 1342 - 1343. On that roll there is no section corresponding to the fourth here, for last year's calves, but there nothing to suggest that it does not belong with the preceding sections, and it, like them, refers to a livery to Bearpark. Accountant named at the start of the fourth section only see note above.

BERCAR'

Houghall

Thomas bercarius of Houghall

Ferryhill

Ralph bercarius

(See also endorsed memorandum)

... [Muggleswick]

John Maysone [bercarius]

Supplied from the entry for a livery in the Houghall account above.

Ketton

John Colett' bercarius of Ketton

Ketton (lambs)

Henry bercarius of Ketton

(See also endorsed memorandum)

Holme (muttons)

Stephen bercarius

Bewley

Robert bercarius of Bewley

Belasis

John bercarius

Holme

[- 11 November]

John Page

[11 November -]

John Stouti

Entries refer to the delivery of the stock by John Page to John Stouti at

Martinmas.

Westoe

John bercarius

Dorse

Memorandum of liveries of lambs from Ferryhill to Ketton and Heworth.

Pittington

John bercarius

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1344-5 1344-5

This single membrane from a longer roll contains only sheep accounts, none of them dated. Matching entries recording the transfer of stock from one accountant to another show that the accounts are for the same approximate period, which covered one year, running from just after one shearing to just after the next. The numbers of stock taken up at the beginning of the accounts match those remaining at the close of the accounts on the roll for 1343 - 1344.

... [Holme]

(muttons)

Stephen bercarius

Identified from entries for transfers of stock in the accounts for Bewley and Ferryhill.

... [Holme]

John de Holm'

Identified from entries for transfers of stock in the accounts for Bewley, Belasis and Dalton.

Bewley

Robert bercarius of Bewley

Belasis

John bercarius of Belasis

Ferryhill

Ralph bercarius

Pittington

John bercarius of Pittington

Westoe

John bercarius

Heworth

Roger bercarius

Merrington

William bercarius

Dalton

John bercarius of Dalton

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs [1346-7 ?] [1346-7 ?]

This single membrane is partly defaced by the effects of damp. It comprises three accounts: horses, cattle, horses. In sunlight the marginal heading of the third appears to read 'Equiciu *m...* .eure *par* de anno dni . CCC xlviJ ° '; an endorsement of c. 1500 reads '1346', and may have been made before the heading was obliterated. References to monastic office-holders support these dates: the Hostiller is named as Robert of Hexham, who accounted as such 1344-1348; of the two Bursars named Robert of Benton left office between November 1345 and December 1346, and Thomas of Stockton, the other named, took office during that period; John of Barnby, named as Prior of Finchale in a deleted entry, left office on 3 June 1346. This support evidence does not, however, exclude a dating of 1345 - 1346.

... (horses)

..

... (cattle)

Roger Couhird

This account is not apparently for Muggleswick: one entry refers to cows transferred from there.

Bearpark horses (?)

Adam Couhird

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1349-50 1349-50

m 1

Augustine [26 May] 1349 - same feast next year

William of Masham

General heading. None of the individual accounts on the roll has a dated heading, but the sales mentioned in the separate sheep accounts are entered in the cash account on the dorse, and there is no evidence that any of the accounts extend beyond the period given in the general heading, although the account for Merrington appears to cover a shorter period, see below.

[Muggleswick and Waskerley]

(cattle)

This roll, like those for 1350-1 and 1351-2, begins with two cattle accounts. The second is headed as concerning cattle dispersed around manors. The first has no heading but concerns a unitary stock-raising operation, evidently based at Muggleswick and neighbouring Waskerley. The cash accounts on the two earlier rolls record sales of cows from Bearpark, but there are no corresponding entries in the cattle accounts.

Cattle around the Manors

Bercar'

Merrington

Thomas Shephird, after the death of Henry bercarius

It appears that Henry was responsible for part of the period indicated by the general heading since an entry in the second Muggleswick account below records a livery to him.

Ferryhill

William Todd de Ferv

Ketton

Richard Lofe

mm 1-2

Over Heworth Roger bercarius of Over Heworth

m 2

Westoe

John Shepehird of Westoe

Muggleswick (muttons)

John Mayson

Muggleswick (muttons)

The same, for Hugh son of Alan

Dalton

Hugh bercarius of Dalton

Pittington

Hugh bercarius of Pittington

Bewley

Robert Shephird of Bewley

Holme

John del Holm

Holme muttons

John bercarius of Belesis

Belasis

The same

Dorse

Cash account

Ownership history: Membrane 2 of this account was rejoined to m.1 20 March 1986

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1350-1 1350-1

Face m 1

Augustine [26 May] 1350 - same feast next year

General heading. The second cattle account and the cash account refer back to it. No indication of date is given for any of the sheep accounts, but entries for the sales that they mention are to be found in the cash account, and there is no evidence that any of them extend beyond the period given in the general heading.

[Muggleswick and Waskerley]

(cattle)

Cattle around the manors

Said year

Bercaria

Bewley

Robert Shephird of Bewley

Holme

John del Holme

Belasis

John bercarius of Belasis

Holme muttons

Same John

Muggleswick (muttons)

John Mayson

Muggleswick (muttons)

Thomas Shephird

Ferryhill

William Todd de Fery

mm 1-2

Westoe

John Shephird of Westoe

m 2

Ketton

Richard Loffe

Pittington

Hugh Broun de Pittington

Over Heworth

Roger bercarius of Over Heworth

Dalton

Hugh bercarius of Dalton

Merrington

Ralph Shephird of Merrington

Houghall

Robert Shephird of Houghall

Dorse

Cash account

For period of the account

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1351-2 1351-2

Face m 1 Augustine [26 May] 1351 - same feast next year

W[illiam] of Masham

General heading. Only the cash account has a separate heading giving an indication of date, but entries for the sales of stock mentioned in the other accounts are to be found in the cash account, and there is no evidence that any of them extend beyond the period given in the general heading, although the Wardley account appears to be concerned with lambs received from Over Heworth towards the end of that period.

[Muggleswick and Waskerley] (cattle)

Cattle around the Manors

Bewley

Robert Shep hir d of Bewley

Holme

John Shephird

Holme muttons

John del Holme

Belasis

John son of John

m 2

Muggleswick (muttons)

John Mayson

Muggleswick (muttons)

Thomas Shephird

Ferryhill

William Todd de Ferv

Merrington

Ralph bercarius of Merrington

Houghall

Robert Shep hir d of Houghall

Pittington

William de Sunderland

Westoe

John bercarius of Westoe

Over Heworth

Roger Gaythird

Wardley

John Hoggepage

Dalton

Hugh Shephird of Dalton

m 3

Ketton

Roger Lufe

Dorse

Cash account

For period of the account

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1371-2 1371-2

Three rolls, apparently originally forming a single file, to judge by the corresponding pairs of holes at the head of each roll, through which a filing thong could have passed. The rolls were probably separate by the early sixteenth century, when Thomas Swalwell endorsed each of them '1371'. Each roll has a heading. On both (ii) and (iii) this begins 'Adhuc', showing that they continued from a preceding roll, and on (iii) the heading in summary form, while on (ii) it is unfinished; the full general heading is on (i), followed quite closely by the cover attached to (iii), and by the one dated heading to an individual account, on (i). There is no reason for thinking that the general heading does not apply to all the other accounts; there are entries corresponding to the liveries of stock entered in Thomas Jonesson's account on (ii), in John Amisson's account on (i) and Ralph Jolibody's on (iii).

(i) Face

Augustine [26 May] 1371 - same feast '72

John & Thomas bercarii at the Holme

Dorse

Roger berkarius at Heworth

(First section only, erased; repeated below)

Augustine [26 May] '71 - same feast '72

Roger bercarius at Heworth

Walter Brownedause bercarius at Ketton

John Amisson vaccarius of the Netherdeyhouse

(ii) Face

Augustine [26 May] '71 - -

Thomas Jonesson vaccarius at Waskerley John Hobson bovettarius at Waskerley Dorse

John de Wolfhill stirkettarius at Birkhouses

William de Colpotes vaccarius at Carpshiel

William Franklan vaccarius at the Overdayhouse

(iii) Face

'71 - '72

John Dikson bercarius at 'Pollowhill'

Thomas de Goulehill bercarius at the Burntshiel

Walter bercarius at the Westgate

John Mayson bercarius at Goldhill

Dorse

William de Sandton bercarius at Bearpark

Michael bercarius of Houghall

Ralph Jolibody vaccarius at Muggleswick

Cover

Augustine [26 May] '71 - same feast '72

DCD-Enr. Istk. acs 1377-8
Face
Augustine [26 May] '77 - same feast '78
John Gibson stirkettarius at Muggleswick
Richard White vaccarius at Waskerleyhead
Face & Dorse William Hudson vaccarius at Waskerley
Dorse ... [William] del Colpots vaccarius at Carpshiel
Robert Grys vaccarius at Muggleswick
John Amyson vaccarius at the Overdeyhouse
Ralph Jolibody vaccarius at the Netherdeyhouse

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1380-1 1380-1

Four rolls, apparently originally forming a single file, to judge by the corresponding pairs of holes at the head of each roll, through which a filing thong could have passed. The rolls were probably separate by the early sixteenth century, when Thomas Swalwell added a different date on the dorse of each of them: '1380' on (i), '1381' on (ii), '1382' on (iii), and '1383' on (iv). In doing this doubtless he followed the headings on two of the rolls: 'Augustine ... 80 - same feast 81' on (i), and 'Augustine 1381 - Katherine [25 November] following on (ii). The basis for his dating of (iii) and (iv) is not clear; both are headed 'Adhuc', indicating that they continued from preceding rolls, and (iii) has an uncompleted heading ending 'A festo sancti', while the last account on (iv) is headed 'Augustine 1380 - same feast following'. Although there are twenty-one separate accounts no two accounts cover the same category of stock at the same place, and so there is no prima facie evidence that the accounts cover entirely different periods. In fact there is clear evidence that accounts on each roll cover at least part of a single period: movements of animals between one centre and another recorded in an account on one roll can be traced in a number of cases in the account for the other centre involved on one of the other rolls. Thus the movements of muttons recorded in the Merrington account on roll (iv) are matched by corresponding entries in the accounts for Westgate and Birkhouse on roll (i), and for Ketton on roll (iii), and also in the dated Houghall account on roll (iv) itself; similarly movements of cows entered in the Ketton account roll (iii) are matched by entries in the accounts for Waskerley and Muggleswick on roll (ii), and Overdeyhouse on roll (i). On the other hand there are also cases where movements do not match in this way: the movement of lambs in the Merrington account on roll (iv) do not match exactly the accounts for Westoe and Pittington on roll (i), and the account of the stirketarrius at Relley on roll (i) ends with a livery of the whole stock to Hugh Sadeler at Muggleswick, while the corresponding Muggleswick account on roll (ii) indicates that Hugh only took over when that account closed. This is especially significant since the heading on roll (ii) dates the roll to a period starting on the closing date given in the heading of roll (i), exactly contrary to the evidence of the Relley - Muggleswick transaction. The heading, Augustine - Katherine 1381, on roll (ii) is the only piece of evidence against dating all four rolls from the heading on roll (i), Augustine 1380 - Augustine 1381. Accounts on roll (ii) do not support its heading: the stirketarrius at Muggleswick received a stipend of 5s. 'pro toto anno', the same sum as other accountants on this roll, while half that amount was paid by the vaccarius at Waskerley to one man keeping the stock at Bearpark 'tempore hiemali', neither an appropriate amount nor description for the period up to 25 November and no further. This Waskerley account comes immediately below the heading, and so it seems that the heading cannot even be taken to apply to that one account. Instead the heading is evidently erroneous, and the accounts on roll (ii) cover approximately the same year as those on the other rolls. Whether this was exactly the period indicated in the heading on roll (i) has not been established, but it is shown to be approximately correct by several references to Thomas Legat as cellarer and one, at Relley on roll (i) to Thomas Lega Launcells as cellarer: Launcells left office between Michaelmas 1379 and Michaelmas 1380, when Legat took office.

(i) Face

John Amisson vaccarius at Overdoyhouse

... [Richard] White vaccarius at Netherdeyhouse

William de Wollas stirkettarius at Relley

Dorse

John bercarius at Bearpark

John Mayson bercarius at Birkhouse

Robert Sout er bercarius at Westgate

Richard White named in first account on roll (ii).

(ii) Face

Robert Gris vaccarius at Waskerley

Walter de Pollowhill vaccarius at Muggleswick

Dorse

William Hudson vaccarius at Carpshiel

Hugh Sadeler bovarius at Waskerley

John Gibson stirkettarius at Muggleswick

Hugh Sadeler de Animalibus Iohannis de Bishopdale receptis apud Simondset [Simonside]

(iii) Face

Robert del Couhous vaccarius at Ketton

Thomas bercarius of the Holme

Dorse

John Shephird bercarius at Ketton

Thomas bercarius of Westoe

John bercarius at Pittington

(iv) Face

John de Heswell bercarius at Burntshiel

John Gris bercarius at 'Pollowhill'

John Schephird bercarius at Merrington

Dorse

Augustine [26 May] 1380 - same feast following

Michael bercarius at Houghall

Extracted: (m. iv) Surtees Society v.100, p.313.

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1383-4 1383-4

Face m 1

Martin [11 November] '83 - same feast '84

General heading; like the heading to the first account, different parts are legible under bright sunlight, ultra-violet and infra-red light. The headings to most of the accounts on the roll give the opening and closing dates. With those that do not, or where the year was not included or cannot now be read, there are no grounds for thinking that the general heading does not apply.

m 1 In...[vention of Cross: 3 May] ... '84 following

... bov..[ettarius ?] at Middle Blackdene

The only opening date, apart from Martin, in the headings on this roll; all the accounts opened on that date closed at Martin, 11 November. The reading 'bou...' is doubtful; Enrolled Livestock Accounts 1385-6 m 4 describe the accountant at Middle Blackdene as 'vaccarius'.

_

Thomas Jonson vaccarius at Easter Blackdene

-

John de Gammelsby keeper [Boves, Iuvenci] in Burnhope

Martin '8. - same feast 'Invention of Cross' following [11 November 1383 - 3 May 1384]

Robert Grys vaccarius at Muggleswick

The interlineation of the earlier closing is confirmed by the fact that the numbers of stock handed over to the current vaccarius match those taken up on Invention of Cross in Walter de Pollowhill's account for Muggleswick below. There is nothing to suggest that this Account falls outside the period covered by the general heading above, and the amount of the account's stipend is appropriate to half a year.

Martin '8. - Invention of Cross following [11 November 1383 - 3 May 1384] John Maysu *n* vaccarius at Carpshiel

There is nothing to suggest that this Account falls outside the period covered by the general heading above, and the number of cows delivered to Robert Grys matches that taken up on the account immediately below.

m. 1-2

Invention of Cross - Martin [3 May - 11 Novembe 1384]

Robert Grys vaccarius at Carpshiel

m 2

2 Martin [11 November] 1383 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1384]

Robert Besyng vaccarius at Waskerleyhead

Invention of Cross - Martin [3 May - 11 November 1384]

John Brak vaccarius at Waskerleyhead & 'Healey'

The year is confirmed by the fact that this Account opens with the same numbers of stock as recorded as delivered to this accountant in the immediately preceding account.

Martin [11 November] '83 - Invention of Cross [3 May 1384]

Same [John Brak] vaccarius at 'Rispihirst'

Identity confirmed by an entry in William Hudson's account below corresponding to a livery entered in this account under Cows.

Martin - same feast following [11 November 1383 - 11 November 1384]

Richard Skynner stirkettarius at Birkhouse

Peter Skathelok's dated account for Healey below includes an entry corresponding to the livery entered in this Account.

mm. 2-3

Martin [11 November] '83 - same feast following

William Hudson bovettarius at Edmondbyers

m 3

Memorandum of receipt of stirketts by Peter Skathelok from William Wolly, and livery of most to Richard Skiner stirkettarius at Birkhouse

Martin [11 November] '83 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1384]

Peter Skathelok vaccarius at Healey

Invention of Cross - Martin following [3 May - 11 November 1384]

Same Peter [Skathelok] bovettarius at Waskerley

_

William Wolly stirkettarius at Relley

m 4

Martin [11 November] '83 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1384]

Walter de Pollowhill vaccarius at Overdoyhouse

Invention of Cross - Martin following [3 May - 11 November 1384]

Robert Crag vaccarius at Overdeyhouse

The numbers of stock received from Walter de Pollowhill match those recorded as liveries in the immediately preceding account above.

Invention of Cross - Martin next [3 May - 11 November 1384]

Walter de Pollowhill vaccarius at Muggleswick

There is nothing to suggest that this Account falls outside the period covered by the general heading above; it takes up the stock handed over by Robert Grys as in his account, m 1 above.

Martin [11 November] '83 - same feast following

Richard White vaccarius at Netherdoyhouse

m 5

Martin [11 November] '83 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1384]

John Heswell bercarius at Burntshiel

The whole year (see main heading above)

John Grys bercarius of 'Pollowhill'

The immediately preceding account includes an entry for the livery of muttons corresponding tto hose entered in this Account.

Said period

Robert Sout er bercarius at Westgate

John Heswell's account above includes an entry for the livery of muttons corresponding to that entered in this Account.

Martin [11 November] '83 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1384]

Hugh Sadeler bercarius of the Birkhouse

Invention of Cross - Martin [3 May - 11 November 1384]

John Mayson bercarius here [the Birkhouse]

This Account takes up the stock from the immediately preceding account. The accountant's stipend is for one half-year's term.

m 6

Martin [11 November] '83 - same feast following

Thomas bercarius of the Hope [at Westoe]

-

Thomas bercarius of the Holme

_

John hoggettarius here [the Holme] Entries in the immediately preceding account for liveries of stock to this accountant refer to him as 'ibidem'.

Dorse m 6

Martin [11 November] '83 - same feast following

William bercarius of Ketton

_

Adam de Crauen vaccarius at Ketton Martin - Pentecost [11 November 1383 - 29 May 1384] John bercarius of Heworth Martin [11 November] 1383 - same feast following John Shephird bercarius of Bearpark

_

Ralph Jonson bercarius at Houghall Dorse m 5 Martin [11 November] '83 - same feast following John bercarius of Merrington DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1385-6 1385-6

Face m 1

Martin [11 November] 1385 - same feast following

General heading. The headings to most of the accounts on the roll specify the opening and closing dates. Four do not, but refer back instead presumably to this heading, or possibly to the heading of the immediately preceding account; the two interpretations co-incide in each case and create no obvious anomalies.

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

Robert Grys vaccarius at Carpshiel

mm 1-2

Said year

John Brak stirkettarius at Waskerley

The general heading and the heading of the preceding account give the same dating which is supported by entries in the dated accounts on the roll corresponding to liveries entered in this Account.

m 2

Said year

Peter Scathelok bovettarius at Waskerley

m 3

Martin [11 November] '85 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1386]

Robert de Wutton stirkettarius of the Birkhouse

Invention of Cross - Martin following [3 May - 11 November 1386]

Said Robert [de Wytton vaccarius at Muggleswick

Liveries of cows to and from John Brak are recorded in corresponding entries in the second account on the roll that can be established as belonging to 1385-6. Accountant so described in the two entries in John Brak's account above. The stock taken up at the start of this Account is 'de Waltero Pollowhill vaccario apud Mugleswik' or 'de Waltero Pollowhill vaccario ante ipsum'.

Michael [29 September] '85 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1386]

John Edson stirkettarius at Wharnley

Invention of Cross [3 May] '86 - Martin following [11 November 1386]

John Nateras bovettarius at Aldingrange

mm 3-4

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

Robert Crage vaccarius at Overdeyhouse

m 4

Martin [11 November] '85 - same time following

Richard White vaccarius at Netherdoyhouse

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

Richard de Blackbo ur n vaccarius at Middle Blackdene

m 5

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

Thomas Jonson vaccarius at Easter Blackdene

Memorandum concerning cows delivered by John Simson to Thomas del Hall instaurator

m 6

Martin [11 November] 1385 - same feast following

Robert Sout er bercarius at the Westgate

Said year

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Livestock - Enrolled Livestock Accounts

John Grys bercarius at 'Pollowhill'

The general heading to the roll and the heading of the preceding account give the same dating. The preceding account also includes an entry corresponding to the cash livery recorded in this Account.

Said year

John Mayson bercarius at Birkhouse

m 7

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

John Lukhop bercarius at Houghall

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

Thomas bercarius of Holme

Dorse m 7

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

John hoggettarius of the Holme

Martin [11 November] '85 - same feast following

Thomas bercarius of the Hope at Westoe

Dorse m 1

Record of quittance of John [Edson] in respect of four stirketts on his account for '84 (Cf. his account above, face m 3.)

Memorandum of stock-keeper's cash transactions with local accountants, [11 November 1385 -11 November 1386]

Thomas del Hall instaurator

Account, including stock sales: Stock-keeper 1385-6

The entries are repeated on the stock-keeper's account for this period.

Memorandum that William Wolly accounted at Martin [11 November] 1386, and of stock subsequently received by him

Liveries to him of cattle occur in several of the accounts on this roll; that of John Nateras, face m 3, describes him as keeper at Relley.

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1387-8 1387-8

Face m 1

Martin [11 November] 1387 - Martin 1388

General heading. Only four of the accounts on this roll have headings giving the dating of an individual account; they all differ in dating from the general heading and cover shorter periods. There are no good grounds for thinking that the general heading does not apply to all the other accounts. Although some of them state that payment of the accountant's stipend was up to Invention of Cross, 3 May, only, one of these is the first account which is explicitly headed 'de tempore supradicte'. Several of them also refer to Robert of Crayke as lately cellarer and William of Kelloe as cellarer now; Robert accounted up to 21 August 1388 and William from 18 September 1388.

For said period

Robert Steuenson vaccarius at Carpshiel

Thomas Johnson vaccarius at Easter Blackdene in Weardale

m 2

Walter Colson vaccarius at Muggleswick

Martin [11 November] '87 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1388]

Walter Todd stirkettarius at Wharnley

Invention of Cross [3 May] '88 - Martin following [11 November 1388]

John Collauwode stirkettarius at Burnhopeshiel in Weardale

William Jakson stirkettarius at 'Burnhamschele'

John Brak vaccarius at Waskerleyhead

m 3

John Gryce bercarius at 'Pollowhill'

Adam de Fourneys bercarius at the Westgate

Peter Scathelok bovettarius at Waskerleyhead

Conversion of Paul 1387 [25 January 1388] -Martin [11 November] 1388

Emina widow of Thomas bercar' of the Hope (at Westoe)

m 4

Richard White vaccarius at Netherdovhouse

Robert Cragg vaccarius at the Overdeyhouse

John Mayson bercarius at Birkhouse

m 5

Lucy [13 December] 1387 - Martin [11 November] '88

Thomas bercarius of the Holme

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.313-14.

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs Horses, 1388-91 Horses, 1388-91

Helen [3 May] 13.8 - same feast 1389

William pastoris equorum domini Prioris

Invention of Cross [3 May] '89 - same feast following

Said William

Invention of Cross [3 May] 1390 - same feast following

Said William

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1389-91 1389-91

Face m 1

Martin [11 November] 1389 - same feast 1390

General heading. The headings to most of the accounts that follow specify the opening and closing dates, ten extending to April or May 1391. For the first two of the three accounts without dated headings, those of Walter Todd and John Dobinson, the dating provided by the general heading can be adopted, but not for the third, that of William Crolk, see below. Four accounts use the feast of Helen as a terminal date. This is taken to mean, entirely appropriately, the Invention of the Cross on 3 May, used for other accounts here, rather than her day on 18 August, a month in which such accounts were not normally opened or closed; clear evidence for this usage is found on Enrolled Livestock Accounts: Horses, 1388-91.

m 1 -

Walter Todd stirkettarius at Wharnley

Martin [11 November] '90 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1391]

Said Walter [stirkettarius at Wharnley]

Lucy [13 December] '89 - same feast following

John Brak vaccarius at Waskerley

The next account, opened on 11 November 1390, appears to take up the stock remaining on thi Account.

m 1, schedule

Martin [11 November] 1390 - Pentecost [14 May] 1391

John Brak [vaccarius at Waskerley]

View: no cash section

This Account appears to take up the stock remaining on the account closed at Lucy, 13 December, 1390, above.

m 2

Helen [3 May] 1389 - Martin [11 November] '90

William Patonson

Martin [11 November] 1390 - Helen following [3 May 1391]

William Patonson bovettarius

(No cash section)

The two accounts cover the same categories of stock. In neither is the location given, nor in entries in other accounts for transfers of stock entered in these accounts. The first account on the roll refers to William Patonson as stottarius at Wardley, while both these accounts show him closely involved with Richard Souter, whose account at Wardley is the last on this roll.

Helen [3 May] '90 - same feast following

John Gris vaccarius at Muggleswick

John Dobinson vaccarius at Middle Blackdene in Weardale

The livery from John Brake corresponds to entry in the earlier of his accounts above. The accountant's stipend is 'pro toto anno'. The three oxen remaining at the close of this Account are taken up at the beginning of the account that follows below.

m 3

Martin [11 November] '90 - Helen following [3 May 1391]

John Dobinson vaccarius at Middle Blackdene

No cash section

Invention of Cross [3 May] 1390 - same feast following

Roger Trotter vaccarius at Carpshiel

-

William Croik vaccarius at Easter Blackdene

The heading gives no dates, but the main heading to the roll does not seem to apply since the two liveries from John Brake correspond to entries in the later of his accounts above. The amount of the accountant's stipend is that paid for a year on other accounts on the roll.

Martin [11 November] '89 - same feast following

William del Wlfhill stirkettarius at Rellev

Martin [11 November] 1389 - same feast following

Robert Crage vaccarius at Overdeyhouse

m 4

Martin [11 November] 1389 - same feast '90

John Mayson bercarius at Birkhouse

Martin [11 November] '90 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1391]

John Mayson [bercarius at Birkhouse]

View: no cash section

This Account takes up the stock remaining at the close of the immediately preceding account.

Martin [11 November] '89 - Pentecost following [22 May 1390]

John Grys bercarius at Burntshiel

Pentecost [22 May] 1390 - same feast following [14 May 1391]

Robert Besing bercarius at Burntshiel

m 5 and schedule:

Martin [11 November] '89 - same feast following

Adam Fournas [bercarius]

The single stock section concerns muttons location is given here or in the entry in the Bearpark account below corresponding to the livery entered in this Account. m 5

Martin [11 November] '89 - same feast following

Walter de Pollowhill bercarius at Houghall

Martin [11 November] '90 - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1391]

Said Walter [de Pollowhill bercarius at Houghall]

View: no cash section

The stock taken up matches that remaining the immediately preceding account.

Martin [11 November] 1389 - same feast '90

John bercarius at Bearpark

Martin [11 November] 1389 - same feast following

Richard White vaccarius at Netherdeyhouse

m 6

Pentecost [22 May] 1390 - same feast following [14 May 1391]

Richard Barton'm an bercarius at Ferryhill

Lucy [13 December] '89 - Martin [11 November] '90

John bercarius of Hope [at Westoe]

Location specified in the corresponding entry in the Houghall account above for a livery of lambs.

Durham Cathedral Archive, medieval accounts: manors, mines, proctors of churches and subsidiary Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Livestock - Enrolled Livestock Accounts

Michael [29 September] 1390 - quindene after Easter following [9 April 1391] Richard Sout *er* keeper at Wardley of stock received from William Paton *son* bovettarius

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1398-1400 1398-1400

Face m 1

Martin [11 November] '399 - Martin [11 November] 1400

General heading. The headings to nine of the accounts that follow give no dates, but refer back, presumably to the heading in the case of the first eight accounts. William Sawer's second account is headed for exactly the same period and there are entries corresponding to liveries in that account in the first four accounts below.

For said -

Robert Cragg vaccarius at Overdeyhouse

For said period

John Raven vaccarius at Netherdayhouse

For said period

Richard Robinson vaccarius at Whitehall

For said period

Walter Todd vaccarius at Waskerleyhcad

m 2

For said period

WIlliam del Shele stirkettarius at Birkhouse

For said period

Robert Jonson stottarius at Waskerleyhead

For said period

John Mayson bercarius at Birkhouse

For said period

Thomas bercarius at Bearpark

m 2

Eight weeks after Pentecost - Martin [c.1 August ? - 11 November 1400] John Wethirhard hoggettarius at Houghall

The opening date reads ' per te a feste a festo Pentecostes post per viij septimanas vsque ...'. The first attempt simply follows the wording the previous accounts, 'per tempus predictum' The interpretation of what now stands is adopted because the account cannot cover as little as eight weeks, nor can the period between Pentecost whenever it falls, and Martin amount to either eighteen or twenty-eight weeks. The year is not given. The number of lambs received from Westoe is the same as that entered below in the Westoe account closed at 11 November 1400, but earlier accounts suggest that this may not have varied from one year to the next; more significant is the reference to lambs consumed by the royal household, most readily explained in the context of Henry IV's expedition to Scotland in August 1400. The one difficulty in dating this Account to 1400 is that it makes the immediately following account on the roll cover a period later than any other account on the roll.

_

[11 November 1400 ? -]

John Hobson bercarius at Houghall

This Account takes up the stock from the immediately preceding account, closed on 11 November, which appears to be dateable to 1400. If this is correct, this Account is later than any other on the roll; there is nothing to show what period it covered.

Pentecost [26 May] 1398 - Martin [11 November] 1399

William Sawer stirkettarius at Relley

mm 2-3

Martin [11 November] 1399 - same feast next year

Said William [Sawer stirkettarius at Relley]

Accountant named in full, with office, in entries in first three accounts on the roll corresponding to liveries entered in this Account.

m 3

Martin [11 November] 1399 - Martin 1400

John bercarius of the Holme

For said period [11 November 1399 - 11 November 1400]

William Morland hoggettarius at the Holme

The main heading to the roll and that of the immediately preceding account give the same dating.

Dorse m 3

Martin [11 November] 1399 - Pentecost same feast next year

Richard Broune bercarius of Westoe

Dorse m 2

Martin [11 November] 1399 - same feast next year

John Gris bercarius at Burntshiel

Dorse subsequently used for list of lesser tithe payments due from the inhabitants of the parish of St Oswald's Durham [c. 1420?].

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.315-16.

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1416-7 1416-7

Face

Wednesday before Nativity of John Baptist [17 June] 1416 - same feast next year [23 June 1417]

John Schepard bercarius at the Holme

Dorse

Wednesday before Nativity of John Baptist [17 June] 1416 - ... next year [24 June 1417]

William Dycon bercarius at the Hoggecote

Nativity of John Baptist [24 June] '17 - Martin next [11 November 1417]

William Dycon bercarius at the Hoggecote

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.316-18.

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1417-8 1417-8

Only the heading of the first account gives the year; the other headings refer back to it with a phrase such as 'Anno domini etc supradicto', which is not to be taken at its face value. It clear that it means "in the twelve-month period of the above account", rather than "in 1417": William Gybson's account must cover part of the same period as John Spynke's, for they have matching entries for a livery of stock, and William Cockefeld clearly accounted after, rather than before, Thomas del Wrea at the Westgate, although their accounts were enrolled in the wrong order chronologically.

Face

Martin [11 November] 1417 - same feast next year

William Todde vaccarius at Whitehall

Invention of Cross year above - Martin following [3 May - 11 November 1418] William Cockefeld custos iuvencarum [also Taurus, and Vituli], at the Westgate Martin above [11 November 1417] - same feast next year

John Spynke custos del Twynt *ur* flokke [Bovetti, luvence, Stirketti], at Wharnley Invention of Cross year above - Martin following [3 May - 11 November 1418] William Gybson custos del Stotflokke [Boves, Bovetti] at Birkhouse

Martin above [11 November 1417] - Invention of Cross following [3 May 1418] Thomas del Wrea custos iuvencarum [also Vacce and Vituli] at the Westgate Dorse

Martin above [11 November 1417] - same feast next year

William Gybson bercarius at the Birkhouse

Martin above [11 November 1417] - same feast next year William Clerkeson bercarius at the Westgate

DCD-Enr. lstk. acs 1420-3 1420-3

View (sheep), 8 July 1422

Thomas de Hall instaurator [at Muggleswick]

Account: Muggleswick 1421-2

Dorse

View (sheep), Tuesday after Barnabas [15 June] 1423

John Shepard bercarius at the Holme

Accounts for individual livestock centres

Aldingrange (Bearpark)

Bovettarius : Enr. Liv. Ac. 1385-6.

Bartoncotes (Holme)

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3.

Bearpark

Cattle and horses: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296-7 ?]; Enr. Liv. Acs 1310 x 1319, 1322-3, 1339-40, 1340-1.

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1342-3; and see Aldingrange above, Relley below.

Horses: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1346-7 (?); 12 January 1439 - 2 February 1442:

Bursar's Bk F f. 16r; And cf. below Unidentified centres.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1389-91, 1398-1400.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Bearpark.

Belasis

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac 1310 x 1319.

Bercarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1344-5, 1349-50,

1350-1, 1351-2.

Bewley

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Bercarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Bewley.

Birkhouses (Muggleswick)

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1417-8.

Stirketts: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1383-4 (with Memorandum of livery), 1385-6, 1398-1400.

Bercarius : Enr. Liv. Ac. 1380-1, 1383-4, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8, 1389-91, 1389-91, 1398-1400, 1417-8.

Blackdene, Easter (Weardale)

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8, 1389-91.

Blackdene, Middle (Weardale)

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1383-4 [?], 1385-6, 1389-91, 1389-91.

'Burnhamschele' (? Muggleswick)

Stirketts: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1387-8.

Burnhope (Muggleswick)

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1383-4.

Stirketts: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1387-8.

Burntshiel (Muggleswick)

Bercarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1389-91, 1389-91, 1398-1400.

Carpshiel (Muggleswick)

Vaccarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1377-8, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8, 1389-91.

Dalton

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Dalton.

Easter Blackdene

See Blackdene above

Edmondbyers (Muggleswick)

Bovettarius: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1383-4.

Ferryhill

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1343-4 (with memorandum of livery of lambs), 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2, 1389-91.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Ferryhill.

Goldhill (Muggleswick)

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1340-1, 1371-2.

Healey (Muggleswick)

Vaccarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1383-4, 1383-4 (with Waskerley).

Hesleden

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Heworth

Memorandum of livery of lambs: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1343-4.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2, 1371-2, 1383-4.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Heworth with Wardley.

Hoggecote (Holme)

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1416-7 (two).

Holme

Reference code: DCD-Holm. acs

1415 - 1482

39 items

Cheese and butter, 20 x 26 May for 7 weeks: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?], m. 1 dorse

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319; and cf. unlocated account, Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296 - 1297 ?] dorse.

Bercarius, etc.: Enr. Liv. Acs 1322-3 (bidentes), 1322-3 dorse (oves), 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3 (ewes), 1343-4 (muttons), 1343-4 (sheep), 1344-5 (muttons), 1344-5 (sheep), 1349-50, 1349-50 (muttons), 1350-1, 1350-1 (muttons), 1351-2, 1351-2 (muttons), 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1383-4 (hoggettarius), 1385-6, 1385-6 (hoggettarius), 1387-8, 1398-1400, 1398-1400 (hoggettarius), 1416-7, 1420-3, 1420-3 (view, 15 June 1423). Cf. also Bartoncotes, Hoggecote above

Stock-keeper's expenses at Holme etc., [c. 1345]

DCD-Holm. acs 1415-6 1415-6

Wednesday before [Nativity] of John the Baptist [19 June] '15 - same day [17 June] next year: '16 John Shephird bercarius

DCD-Holm. acs 1418-9 1418-9

Wednesday before Nativity of John the Baptist [22 June] 1418 - same day next year [22 June 1419] John Shephird bercarius

DCD-Holm. acs 1419-20 1419-20

Wednesday before Nativity [of John the Baptist] [21 June] 1419 - same day next year [19 June 1420]

. . .

DCD-Holm. acs 1420-1 1420-1

Wednesday before Nativity of John the Baptist [19 June] ..20 - same day next year [18 June 1421]

..hn Shephird bercarius

Variant sheep account: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1420-3, face.

View (sheep), 15 June 1423: Enr. Livestock 1420-3, dorse.

DCD-Holm. acs 1426-7 1426-7

Barnabas [11 June] 1426 - same feast [11 June] '27

William Dykon instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1427-8 1427-8

Barnabas [11 June] 1427 - same feast [11 June] '28

William Dykon instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1428-9 1428-9

B..rnabas [11 June] 1428 - same feast next year [11 June 1429]

William Dycon instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1429-30 1429-30

Three copies:

(A) Barnabas [11 June] 1429 - same feast [11 June] next year: '30

William Dicon instaurator

Fair copy

(B) ... [11 June 1429 - 11 June 1430]

. . .

Second draft

(C) Barnabas [11 June] 1429 - same feast next year [11 June 1430]

William Dycon Instaurator

First draft

DCD-Holm. acs 1430-1 1430-1

Two copies:

(A) Barnabas [11 June] 1430 - same feast next year [11 June 1431]

William Dycon instaur..r

Fair copy

(B) ... [11 June 1430 - 11 June 1431]

__

Draft

DCD-Holm. acs 1431-2 1431-2

Barnabas ... [11 June 1431] - ... feast [11 June] next '32

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1432-3 1432-3

Barnabas [11 June] .431 - same feast [11 June] next '33

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1433-4 1433-4

Barnabas [11 June] 1433 - same feast [11 June] '34

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1434-5 1434-5

Barnabas [11 June] '35 '34 - - feast next year 3. [11 June 1435]

W dyco *n* Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1435-6 1435-6

Barnabas [11 June] 1435 - same feast [11 June] '36

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1436-7 1436-7

Barnabas ... [11 June 1436] - same feast [11 June] '37

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1437-8 1437-8

Pentecost [19 May] 1437 - same feast [1 June] '38

William Dykon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1438-9 1438-9

Pentecost [1 June] '38 - same feast [24 May] '39

William Dykon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1439-40 1439-40

Pentecost [24 May] 1439 - same feast [15 May] 1440

William Dikon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1442-3 1442-3

... [? 20 May] ..42 - same feast [? 9 June] 1443

William Dy.on Instaurator

Cash account only

DCD-Holm. acs 1443-4 1443-4

... [9 June] 1443 - same feast [31 May] 1444

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1444-5 1444-5

... [31 May] 1444 - same feast [16 May 1445]

William Dycon Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1445-6 1445-6

Two variant versions

(A) Pentecost ... [16 May 1445] - same feast [5 June] 1446

William Dycon Ins...rator

(A) Pentecost 14.. [16 May 1445] - ... feast [5 June] 1446

... Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1446-7 1446-7

Pentecost 1... [5 June 1446] - ... [28 May] 1447

... ..urator

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.318-19.

DCD-Holm. acs 1447-8 1447-8

Pentecost [28 May] 1447 - ... [12 May] ...8

... ..or

DCD-Holm. acs 1448-9 1448-9

Pentecost [12 may] 1448 - same feast [1 June] '49

. . .

DCD-Holm. acs 1450-1 1450-1

Two copies:

(A) ... [24 May] 1450 - same feast [13 June] '51

William Dy... Instaurator

(B) Pentecost [24 May] 1450 - same feast [13 June] '51

William Dycon Instaurator

Draft

Dorse:

Pentecost ... [13 June 1451] - same feast '5 [28 May 1452]

Willaim Jakson Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1452-3 1452-3

Pentecost 1... [28 May 1452] - same feast [20 May] '53

Ralph Holtby Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1453-4 1453-4

Pentecost [20 May] 1453 - same feast [9 June] '54

Ralph Holtby Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1454-5 1454-5

Pentecost [9 June] 1454 - same feast [25 May] '55

Ralph Holtby Instaurator

DCD-Holm. acs 1457-8 1457-8

Pentecost [5 June] 1457 - same feast [21 May] 1458

Ralph Holt.y Instaur.. bidencium

DCD-Holm. acs 1459-60 1459-60

Pentecost [13 May] 1459 - same feast [1 June] 1460

Ralph Holtby Instaurator

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.320.

DCD-Holm. acs 1465-6 1465-6

Pentecost [2 June] 1465 - same feast [25 May] 1466

Ralph Holtby Instaurator

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.321.

DCD-Holm. acs 1480-1 1480-1

Pentecost [21 May] 1480 - same feast [10 June] 1481

Thomas Shephird Pastor & Custos ovium

Cash account only

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.321-2.

DCD-Holm. acs 1481-2 1481-2

Pentecost [10 June] 1481 - same feast [26 May] 1482

Thomas Shephird Pastor & Custos ovium

Cash account only

Extracted: Surtees Society v.100, p.322.

Houghall

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Acs 1310 x 1319, 1322-3.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1342-3, 1343-4, 1350-1, 1351-2, 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1389-91, 1389-91, 1398-1400 (hoggettarius), 1398-1400.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Houghall.

Ketton

DCD-Kett. acs 1406-1408

1 item

Vaccarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1380-1, 1383-4.

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1339-40 (muttons), 1340-1 (muttons), 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1343-4 (lambs), 1343-4 (memorandum of livery of lambs), 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2, 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4.

DCD-Kett. acs 1406-1408 Sheep, 1406-8 Sheep, 1406-8

Pentecost 140 56 5 - same feast 7 '8 for three years two years [30 May 1406 - 3 June 1408]

William Morland barcarius

Ownership history: This account was previously listed as "Shepherd of Ketton 1405-6", but had been transferred into the Livestock Accounts on 9 July 1973, before being returned to "Ketton Accounts (second box)" [so probably DCD-Ket. acs within the main series of manorial accounts] 11 July 1986. At some future point, it has been moved into this separate series.

And cf. Manorial Accounts. Ketton.

Merrington

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2, 1380-1, 1383-4.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Merrington.

Middle Blackdene

See Blackdene above

Muggleswick

Reference code: DCD-Mugl. acs

1421 - c. 1488

49 items

Cf. Manorial Accounts, Muggleswick.

Stock: Enr. Liv. Ac. [? 1296-7 ?].

Horses, cattle, sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Horses and cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1339-40.

Horses: Enr. Liv. Acs 1340-1, 1340-1.

Cattle, see above with Horses; and: Enr. Liv. Acs 1343-4, 1349-50, 1350-1. 1351-2: and see above Birkhouses, Burnhope, Edmondbyers; below Waskerley(head), Westgate.

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1340-1, 1342-3, 1371-2, 1377-8, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8, 1389-91: and see above Carpshiel, Healey; below Netherdeyhouse, Overdeyhouse, ? 'Rispihirst', Whitehall.

Stirkettarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1377-8, 1380-1: and see above Birkhouses, ? 'Burnhamschele', Burnhope; below Wharnley.

Sheep, see above with Horses, cattle; and: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1420-3 (View, 8 July 1422)

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1349-50 (muttons), 1349-50 (muttons), 1350-1 (muttons), 1350-1 (muttons), 1351-2 (muttons): and see above Birkhouses, Burntshiel, Goldhill; ? 'Pollowhill', Westgate.

DCD-Mugl. acs 1421-2 1421-2 Michaelmas 1421 - same feast next year Thomas del Hall Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1422-3 1422-3 Michaelmas 1422 - same feast next year Thomas del Hall Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1424-5 1424-5

Two copies:

(A) Michaelmas 1424 - same feast next year: - Thomas del Hall Instaurator Final version

(B) Michaelmas 1424 - same feast '25

Thomas del Halle Instaurator

Draft

DCD-Mugl. acs 1426-7 1426-7 Michaelmas 1426 - same feast next year Thomas Hall Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1428-9 1428-9 Michaelmas '28 - Pentecost [15 May] '29 Thomas Hall Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1429-30 1429-30

Two copies:

(A) Michaelmas 1429 - same feast n... year: '30

Thomas del Hall Instaurator

Fair copy

(B) ... [Michaelmas 1429 - Michaelmas 1430]

... [Thomas del Hall Instaurator]

Draft

DCD-Mugl. acs 1430-1 1430-1 ... [Michaelmas 1430 - Autumn 1431]

. . .

DCD-Mugl. acs 1431-2 1431-2

Two drafts:

(A) ... [Autumn 1431 - c. Autumn 1432]

- - -

Later draft

(B) ... [Autumn 1431 - c. Autumn 1432]

. . .

Earlier draft

DCD-Mugl. acs 1433-4 1433-4 ... [c. Autumn 1433 - Autumn 1434]

- - -

DCD-Mugl. acs 1434-5 1434-5 ... [Autumn 1434 - Michaelmas 1435]

. . .

DCD-Mugl. acs 1435-6 1435-6 Michaelmas 1435 - same feast next year '36 Thomas Hall Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1436-7 1436-7 Michaelmas '36 - Pentecost [19 May] '36 '37 Thomas Hall Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1437-8
Michaelmas 1437 - same feast '38
Thomas Hall Instaurator Cash account only

DCD-Mugl. acs 1441-2 1441-2 Michaelmas 1441 - Michaelmas 1442 Thomas Hall In..urator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1443-4 1443-4

Two versions:

(A) Michaelmas 1443 - same feast next year William Sheill Instaurator Complete altered version

(B) ... [Michaelmas 1443 - Michaelmas 1444]

... [William Sheill Instaurator] Fragment of unaltered version.

DCD-Mugl. acs 1444-5 1444-5 ... [Michaelmas] 1444 - same feast '45 Richard Smyth Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1445-6 1445-6 ... [Michaelmas 1445 - Autumn 1446] ... [Richard]

DCD-Mugl. acs 1446-7 1446-7

... [Autumn 1446 - Autumn 1447]

... [Richard Smyth Instaurator]

DCD-Mugl. acs 1447-8 1447-8

... [Autumn 1447 - Michaelmas 1448]

... [Richard Smyth Instaurator]

DCD-Mugl. acs 1448-9 1448-9

Michaelmas ... [1448] - same feast next following

Richard Smyth Instaurator

Second sheep accounts: Walter Swaldale opilio

DCD-Mugl. acs 1449-50 1449-50

Michaelmas 1449 - same feast next following

Richard Smyth Instaurator

First sheep accounts: Henry Don

Second sheep accounts: Walter Swaledale

DCD-Mugl. acs 1450-1 1450-1

.....5. ... [Michaelmas 1450 - Autumn 1451]

... [Richard Smyth] Instaurator

First sheep accounts: Henry Don

Second sheep accounts: Walter Swaledale

DCD-Mugl. acs 1451-2 1451-2

... [Michaelmas 1451 - Autumn 1452]

... [Richard Smyth Instaurator]

First sheep accounts: Walter Swaledale Second sheep accounts: Henry Don

DCD-Mugl. acs 1452-3 1452-3

Two rolls:

(A) Michaelmas . 452- same feast '53

Richard Smyth Instaurator

First sheep accounts: Henry Donne opilio

Second sheep accounts: Walter Swaledale opilio

Final version

(B) Sheep accounts (draft)

Walter Swaledale

&

Henry Don

Cash accounts with shepherds and stockmen

Walter Swaldale, to Michaelmas '53

Henry Dun, to Michaelmas '53

Robert Burne, to Simon & Jude [28 October] '53

Thomas Dobynson, to All Souls [2 November] '53

DCD-Mugl. acs 1455-6 1455-6

Michaelmas 1455 - same feast, Michaelmas '56

Richard Smyth Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1456-7 1456-7

Michaelmas 1456 - same feast '5. [1457]

William Smyth Instaurator

Sheep accounts: Henry Dun Opilio

DCD-Mugl. acs 1457-8 1457-8

Michaelmas 1457 - same feast etc. [1458]

William Smyth etc.

DCD-Mugl. acs 1459-60 1459-60

Michaelmas 1... - same feast next year '60

William Smyth Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1460-1 1460-1

Michaelmas 1460 - same feast ... 1461

... [William Smyth instaurator]

DCD-Mugl. acs 1461-2 1461-2

... [Michaelmas 1461 - Autumn 1462]

... [W Smyth instaurator]

Cash and cattle accounts only.

DCD-Mugl. acs 1463-4 1463-4

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [29 May] 1463 - same feast [20 May] 1464

William Smyth Instaurator

Cash and cattle accounts only

Fair copy

(B) Pentecost [29 May] 1463 - same feast [20 May] nex. year '64

William Smyth Instaurator

Cash and cattle accounts only

Draft

DCD-Mugl. acs 1464-5 1464-5

P.. [20 May] 1464 - same feast [2 June] next year '65

..m [William] Smyth Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1465-6 1465-6

Pentecost [2 June] 1465 - same feast next year [25 May 1466]

William Smythe Instaurator

DCD-Mugl. acs 1466-7 1466-7

Pentecost [25 May] 1466 - same feast next year '67 [17 May]

William Thomas William Smyth Instaurator

Cash and cattle accounts only

DCD-Mugl. acs 1467-8 1467-8

Pentecost [17 May] 1467 - same feast [5 June] next y... '68

W Smyth Instaurator

Cash and cattle accounts only

DCD-Mugl. acs 1469-70 1469-70

Pentecost [21 May] 1469 - same feast [10 June] next year: '70

William Smyth Instaurator

Cash and cattle accounts only

DCD-Mugl. acs 1470-1 1470-1

Pentecost [10 June] 1470 - same feast [2 June] next year '71

William Smyth Instaurator

Cash account only

DCD-Mugl. acs 1471-2 1471-2

Pentecost [2 June] 1471 - same feast [17 May] next year: '72

William Smyth instaurator

Cash account only, with end of expenses missing.

DCD-Mugl. acs 1475-6 1475-6

Pentecost [14 May] 1475 - same f..[east] [2 June] 1476

William Smyth instaurator

Cash account only

DCD-Mugl. acs 1477-8 1477-8

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [25 May] 1477 - same feast [10 May] 1478

John Daweson & Roland Daweson Pastores animalium

Cash account only

Fair copy

(B) - [25 May] 1477 - same feast [10 May] 1478

John Daweson & Roland Daweson Pastores Animalium

Cash account only

Draft

DCD-Mugl. acs 1478-9 1478-9

Pentecost [10 May] 1478 - same feast [30 May] 1479

Thomas Henryson & Roland Daweson Pastores animalium

Cash account only

DCD-Mugl. acs [c. 1488 ?] [c. 1488 ?]

...-... 14...

. . .

Cash account only

Netherdeyhouse (Muggleswick)

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1377-8, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8,

1389-91, 1398-1400.

Overdeyhouse (Muggleswick)

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1377-8, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8,

1389-91, 1398-1400.

Over Heworth

See Heworth above

Pittington

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Acs 1310 x 1319, 1322-3.

Bercarius: 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1,

1351-2, 1380-1.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Pittington.

'Pollowhill' (? Muggleswick)

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8.

Relley (Bearpark)

Stirkettarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6 (memorandum), 1389-91, 1398-1400.

'Rispihirst' (? Muggleswick)

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1383-4.

Simonside

Animals received: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1380-1.

Spennymoor

Sheep, 31 May 1433 - 16 May 1434: Misc. Ch. 7281

Wardley

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1389-91.

Bovettarius : Enr. Liv. Ac. 1389-91 (two).

Bercarius : Enr. Liv. Ac. 1351-2.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Wardley.

Waskerley(head) (Muggleswick)

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1340-1.

Cattle transferred from Houghall, 1 August 1342: Loc.IV:143 dorse.

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1377-8 (two), 1380-1, 1383-4, 1383-4 (with Healey), 1387-8, 1389-91 (two), 1398-1400.

Bovarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1380-1.

Bovettarius: Enr. Liv. Acs. 1371-2, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8.

Stirkettarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1340-1, 1385-6.

Stottarius: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1398-1400.

See also Muggleswick above.

Weardale

Cattle: Enr. Man. Ac. [? 1296-7 ?].

See also above Blackdene (Easter, Middle).

Westgate (Muggleswick)

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1417-8 (two).

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1371-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8, 1417-8.

Westoe

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1310 x 1319.

Bercarius : Enr. Liv. Acs 1339-40, 1340-1, 1342-3, 1343-4, 1344-5, 1349-50, 1350-1, 1351-2, 1380-1, 1383-4, 1385-6, 1387-8, 1389-91, 1398-1400.

And cf. Manorial Accounts, Westoe.

Wharnley (Muggleswick)

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1417-8.

Stirkettarius: 1385-6 (also dorse, record of quittance), 1387-8, 1389-91,

1389-91.

Whitehall (Muggleswick)

Vaccarius: Enr. Liv. Acs 1398-1400, 1417-8.

Unidentified centres

Horses: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1346-7 (?).

Enr. Liv. Ac. Horses, 1388-91.

1 August 1420 - 3 May 1422: Misc. Ch. 7269.

Cattle: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1346-7 (?).

Sheep: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1322-3.

Bercarius: Enr. Liv. Ac. 1389-91.

Mines

Reference code: DCD-Mines acs

Dates of creation: 1409 - 1453

18 items

Accounts for cash received

Rainton

1410-20 1410-20

_

William Barry receiver

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.708.

Rainton and Ferryhill

1427-8 1427-8

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1427 - same feast next year [3 May 1428] T[homas] N[esbitt] receiver

Fair copy

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1427 - same feast next year [3 May 1428] T[homas] N[esbitt] receiver

Draft

Extracted: Surtees Society 103.708-09.

1428-9 1428-9

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1428 - same feast next year [3 May 1429] Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1428 - same feast next year [3 May 1429] T[homas] Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.709-10.

1429-30 1429-30

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1429 - same feast next year [3 May 1430]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1429 - same f... [3 May 1430]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.710.

1430-1 1430-1

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1430 - same feast next year [3 May 1431]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1430 - same feast next year [3 May 1431]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.710.

1431-2

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1431 - same feast next year [3 May 1432]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1431 - same feast next year [3 May 1432]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.710-11.

1432-3 1432-3

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1432 - same feast next year [3 May 1433]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1432 - same feast next year [3 May 1433]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.711.

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Mines - Accounts for cash received - Rainton and Aldingrange

1433-4 1433-4

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1433 - same feast next year [3 May 1434] Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1433 - same feast next year [3 May 1434] Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.711.

1434-5

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1434 - same feast next year [3 May 1435]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1434 - same feast next year [3 May 1435]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.711.

1435-6 1435-6

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1435 - same feast next year [3 May 1436]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1435 - same feast next year [3 May 1436]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.711-12.

1436-7

Two copies:

(A) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1436 - same feast next year [3 May 1437]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

(B) Invention of Cross [3 May] 1436 - same feast next year [3 May 1437]

Thomas Nesbitt receiver

Duplicate

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.712.

1441-2

Invention of Cross [3 May] 1441 - same feast [3 May] 1442

John Barlay & Robert Westmorland receivers

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.712.

Rainton and Aldingrange

1442-3 1442-3

Invention of Cross [3 May] 1442 - same feast [3 May] 1443

John Barlay & Robert Westmorland receivers

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.712.

1443 1443

Invention of Cross [3 May] 1443 - 6 December said year John Barlay & Robert Westmorland receivers Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.712-13.

1443-4 1443-4

5 December 1443 - same feast [3 May] 1444 John Barlay & Robert Westmorland receivers Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.713.

1444-5

Invention of Cross [3 May] 1444 - .. December 1445 John Gateshead & Robert Westmorland receivers Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.713.

Rainton and Ferryhill

1451-2 1451-2

6 December 1451 - same day '52

John Gateshead re...

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.713.

Aldingrange

1452-3 1452-3

6 December 1452 - same day '53

John Gateshead receiver

Extracted: Surtees Society v.103, p.713.

Detailed records

Cash totals

1438 (Rainton): B.Bk. F f. 20r.

Cash liveries

3 May 1438 - 3 May 1439 (Rainton): B.Bk F f. 24r.

3 May 1439 - 3 May 1440 (Rainton): B.Bk F f. 24rv.

1440 (Rainton): B.Bk F f. 24v.

1440 (Ferryhill): B.Bk F f. 43v.

3 December 1447 [- 1453 (Aldingrange)]: T.Bk f. 32rv.

1448 [Rainton]: T.Bk f. 48*r.

29 June 1448 [- 29 November 1449] (Rainton): T.Bk f. 57r. For other cash liveries from Rainton, see above ff. 34v-35r, 52v.

Cf. also below Weekly reckonings.

Cash receipts from coal-mines

1438 (Ferryhill, Aldingrange): B.Bk F f. 22v.

Coal-mine expenses

1436 [- 1437] (Aldingrange, Bearpark, Ketton, Ferryhill, and (deleted) Broom): B.Bk F. f. 47v.

```
1439 (Rainton): B.Bk F f. 27v.
```

[c.11 December 1440 - c.9 April 1441] (Ferryhill): B.Bk F f. 1rv.

1441 (Rainton): B.Bk F f. 36v.

Debts, 3 May 1438 - 3 May 1439 (Rainton): B.Bk F f. 17r.

Rolling weekly cash calculations, 3 May 1437 - [? c.21 February 1439] (Rainton): B.Bk F ff. 21r-22r.

Weekly reckonings

Aldingrange

[?] [early January 1437 ? - 15 June 1438]: B.Bk F ff. 47v-48v.

15 June [- 1 August] 1438: B.Bk F f. 49r.

4 December 1446 [- 11 November 1453]: T.Bk ff. 1r-31v.

Rainton

[?] 3 May - [28 June, 6 - 27 September] 1439: B.Bk F f. 22rv (crossed out).

3 May 1439 - 1 May 1440: B.Bk F ff. 25r-27r.

3 [- 29] May 1440: B.Bk F f. 27v (crossed out).

3 May 1440 - [7 May] 1441: B.Bk F ff. 30r-32v.

7 May [- 12 November] 1441: B.Bk F ff. 33r-34r.

18 December 1446 [- 2/9 December 1453]: T.Bk ff. 34r-48v, 49r-56r.

Coal sales

27 January 1438 (Broom): B.Bk f f. 51r.

2 August 1438 (Rainton): B.Bk F ff. 20v, 23rv.

14 June 1439 (Rainton): B.Bk F ff. 20r (draft), and 28v-29v.

Coal liveries

1437 (to Bearpark manor for ludi): B.Bk F f. 47r.

[1438 ?]: B.Bk F f. 48v.

Cf. also above Weekly reckonings.

Memoranda

B.Bk F inside front cover, inside back cover (agreement made by John Gateshead with William Jonson of Sherburn for sinking a new pit at Rainton, 17 December 1447, with notes of payments); T.Bk f. 48*v (sworn undertaking by John Sanderson to serve for a year in coal-work at Rainton from Pentecost 1451).

Trees

Memoranda of sales from Muggleswick Park, [1425-1427 or 1428]: Misc.Ch. 6312.

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Proctors, etc., of churches:

Proctors, etc., of churches:

Norham

Reference code: DCD-Norh. acs

Dates of creation: 1299 - 1535

134 + 1 items

Negative microfilm of 1299-1366/7 accounts available at PGFilm 123 Negative microfilm of 1401/2-1534/5 accounts available at PGFilm 119

DCD-Norh. acs 1300-1 1300-1

Thursday after Peter at the Chains [4 August] 1300 - Saturday after Dunstan, vigil of Pentecost [20 May] 1301; with 1299 corn-tithes

William de F..de, proctor

Dorse: part of a sermon, [s. xiii/xiv]

DCD-Norh. acs 1314-5 1314-5

Martinmas [11 November] 1314 - same feast [11 November] 1315

William of Meaburn, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1315-6 1315-6

Two copies:

(A) Martinmas [11 November] 1315 - Martinmas [11 November] 1316

Wiiliam of Meaburn, proctor

Version, with final Exoneration

(A) Martinmas [11 November] 1315 - same feast [11 November] 1316

Wiiliam of Meaburn, proctor

Version, without final Exoneration

DCD-Norh, acs 1317-21 1317-21

Martinmas [11 November] 1317 - same feast 1318

William of Meaburn, proctor

Martinmas '18 - same feast '319

Same

Martinmas 1319 - same feast 1320

Same

Martinmas 1320 - Augustine '2. [? 26 May 1321] Same William

DCD-Norh, acs 1327-8 1327-8

Cuthbert in September [4 September] 1327 - Ascension [12 May] '28

Michael of Chilton, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1328 1328

Two copies:

(A) Ascension [12 May] 1328 - Martinmas same year [11 November 1328]

Thomas of Hebburn, proctor

Variant, with Balance

(B) Ascension [12 May] 1328 - Martinmas same year [11 November 1328]

Thomas of Hebburn, proctor

Variant, without Balance

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears, 1328 1328

Two copies:

(A) Arrears, 1328

--

(B) Arrears, 1328

--

Without earlier arrears

DCD-Norh. acs 1329-30 1329-30

Martinmas [11 November] 1329 - same feast next year [11 November 1330]

Michael of Chilton, proctor

Below: Ellingham

DCD-Norh. acs 1330-1 1330-1

Martinmas [11 November] 1330 - same feast next year [11 November 1331]

Michael of Chilton, proctor

Below: Ellingham '30

DCD-Norh. acs 1333-4 1333-4

... 13.. ... [11 November 1333 - 11 November 1334]

Michael of C..[hilton, proctor]

Below: Ellingham

Martinmas [11 November] '33 - same feast next year [11 November 1334]

Same, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears, 1334 1334

1333

DCD-Norh. acs Ellingham Arrears, 1334 1334

1333

DCD-Norh. acs Indenture of liveries, 1334-5 1334-5

Martinmas [11 November] 1334 - - [30 April 1335]

Michael of Chilton, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1335-6 1335-6

... 13.. [11 November 1335] - same feast ... [11 November 1336]

Michael ... [of Chilton, proctor] Below: Ellingham

For the same period

Same, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears, 1336 1336

1335

DCD-Norh. acs Ellingham Arrears, 1336 1336

1335

DCD-Norh. acs Indenture of liveries, 1336x1341 [1336x1341]

-

Michael of Chilton, proctor

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Proctors, etc., of churches: - Norham

DCD-Norh. acs 1338-9 1338-9

Martinmas [11 November] 1338 - same feast next year [11 November 1339]

Michael of Chilton, proctor

Including Earlston, Ednam and Edrom.

Below: Ellingham

Martinmas 1338 - same feast next year.

Michael of Chilton, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears, 1339 1339

Martinmas [11 November] 1338 - same feast next year [11 November 1339: arrears already outstanding at 11 November 1338 or arising during the year,

and unpaid by 11 November 1339

Including Earlston and Ednam

DCD-Norh. acs Ellingham Arrears, 1339 1339 138

DCD-Norh. acs 1341-2 1341-2

... [c. November 1341 - c. November 1342]

... [Michael] of Chilton, proctor

Edrom, Ednam and Earlston marked 'Vacat'

Below: Ellingham

Martinmas [11 November] '41 - same feast next year [11 November 1342]

Same, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears for which there is no hope 1344 Arrears for which there is no hope 1344

Including Earlston, Ednam and Edrom

DCD-Norh, acs 1344-5 1344-5

... [later 1344 - later 1345]

... [Michael of Chilton, proctor]

Below: Ellingham and Bolton

For the said period

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears, 1348 Arrears, 1348

... Pentecost [c. 8 June] '48

Including Earlston and Edrom

DCD-Norh, acs 1348-9 1348-9

Michaelmas [29 September] 1348 - Octave of Easter [19 April] 1349

Robert of Kelloe, proctor

Receipts include Ellingham

Exaltation of the Cross [14 September] 1348 - Octave of Easter '49

DCD-Norh, acs 1360-1 1360-1

... [29 September] 1360 - .unday after .scension [9 May] '61

Richard de Chestre, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs Arrears, 1361 Arrears, 1361

Sunday after Ascension [9 May] '61

```
DCD-Norh. acs 1366-7 1366-7
... [John Scot, proctor]
Dorse: Ellingham
For the said period
DCD-Norh. acs 1401-2 1401-2
Purification ... [2 February 1401] - same feast next year [2 February 1402]
Thomas of Hexham, proctor
DCD-Norh, acs 1402-3 1402-3
Richard of Eden, proctor
DCD-Norh. acs 1404-5 1404-5
James [25 July] 1404 - same feast next year [25 July 1405]
John Durham, proctor
DCD-Norh. acs 1405-6 1405-6
James [25 July] 1405 - same feast next year [25 July 1406]
John Durham, proctor
DCD-Norh, acs 1406-7 1406-7
James [25 July] 1406 - same feast next year [25 July 1407]
John Durham, proctor
DCD-Norh. acs 1407-8 1407-8
... [25 July 1407 - 25 July 1408]
DCD-Norh. acs 1408-9 1408-9
James [25 July] 1408 - same feast next year [25 July 1409]
John Durham, proctor
DCD-Norh. acs 1419-20 1419-20
... [4 June 1419 - 26 May 1420]
DCD-Norh, acs 1420-1 1420-1
... - Pentecost ... [26 May 1420 - 11 May 1421]
John ...
DCD-Norh, acs 1421-2 1421-2
... - ... '22 [11 May 1421 - 31 May 1422]
DCD-Norh. acs 1422-3 1422-3
... [31 May 1422 - 23 May 1423]
. . .
DCD-Norh. acs 1423-4 1423-4
... [23 May 1423 - 11 June 1424]
   DCD-Norh. acs 1423-4 Sale of corn-tithes, 1423-4 1423-4
    1423
```

```
DCD-Norh. acs 1424-5 1424-5 Pentecost [11 June] 1... - same feast [27 May] next year '25
```

John Durham, vicar & proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1424-5 Sale of corn-tithes, 1424-5 1424-5

DCD-Norh. acs 1425-6 1425-6

Pentecost [27 May] ... - same feast [19 May] next year '26 John Durham, vicar & proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1425-6 Sale of corn-tithes, 1425-6 1425-6

DCD-Norh, acs 1426-7 1426-7

Pentecost [19 May] ... - ... [8 June] next year '27

John Durham, vicar & proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1426-7 Sale of corn-tithes, 1426-7 1426-7

DCD-Norh. acs 1427-8 1427-8

Pentecost [8 June] ..27 - same feast [23 May] next year '28 John Durham, vicar & proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1428-9 1428-9

Pentecost [23 May] 1428 - same feast [15 May] next year '29 John Durham, vicar & proctor

DCD-Norh. acs [c. 1430-1] [c. 1430-1]

• • •

DCD-Norh. acs 1433 1433

Pentecost [31 May] 1433 - Martin following [11 November 1433] John Durham, vicar & proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1446-7 1446-7

Pentecost [5 June] 1446 - same feast [28 May] 1447 John Pencher, proctor

DCD-Norh, acs 1449-50 1449-50

Pentecost [1 June] 1449 - same feast [24 May] 1450 John Fenwick, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1450-1 1450-1

... [24 May 1450 - 13 June 1451]

. . .

without corn-tithes

DCD-Norh. acs 1451-2 1451-2

Pentecost [13 June] 1451 - same feast [28 May] 1452 John Fenwick, proctor

DCD-Norh, acs 1453-4 1453-4

Pentecost [20 May] 1..3 - .. feast [9 June] 1454

John Burn, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1457-8 1457-8

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [5 June] 1457 - same feast [21 May] 1458

Robert Knowte, proctor

Full version

(B) Pe... [5 June] 1457 - same feast [21 May] 1458

Robert Knowte, proctor

Version without corn-tithes

DCD-Norh. acs 1460-1 1460-1

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [1 June] 1460 - same feast [24 May] 1461

John Kyrk, proctor

Full version

(B) Pentecost [1 June] 1460 - - feast [24 May] 1461

John Kyrk, proctor

Version without corn-tithes

DCD-Norh. acs 1461-2 1461-2

Pentecost [24 May] 1461 - same feast [6 June] 1462

John Kyrk, proctor

DCD-Norh, acs 1462-3 1462-3

Two copies:

(A) Pentecost [6 June] 1462 - same feast [29 May] 1463

John Burn, proctor

Full version

(B) ... [6 June] 1462 - ... [29 May] 1463

-, proctor

Version without corn-tithes

DCD-Norh, acs 1466-7 1466-7

.. [25 May 1466 - 17 May 1467]

. . .

DCD-Norh. acs 1468-9 1468-9

Pentecost [5 June] 1468 - same feast [21 May] 1469

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1469-70 1469-70

Pentecost [21 May] 1469 - same feast [10 June] 1470

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs [c. 1470] [c. 1470]

•••

DCD-Norh, acs 1471-2 1471-2

Pentecost [2 June] 1471 - same ... [17 May] 1472

..bert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1472-3 1472-3

Pentecost [17 May] .472 - same feast [6 June] 1473

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1476-7 1476-7 ... [2 June 1476 - 25 May 1477]

_

DCD-Norh. acs 1478-9 1478-9 Pentecost [10 May] 1478 - same feast [30 May] 1479

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1479-80 1479-80

Pentecost [30 May] 1479 - same feast [21 May] 1480 Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1480-1 1480-1

Pentecost [21 May] 1480 - same feast [10 June] 1481

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1481-2 1481-2

... - ... 148. [10 June 1481 - 26 May 1482]

. . .

DCD-Norh. acs 1482-3 1482-3

Pentecost ... [26 May 1482] - ... [18 May] 1483

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1483-4 1483-4

... [18 May 1483] - same feast [6 June] 1484

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1484-5 1484-5

Three copies:

(A) Pentecost [6 June] 1484 - same feast [22 May] 1485

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Final copy

(B) Pentecost [6 June] 1484 - same feast [22 May] 1485

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Corrected draft

(B) ... [6 June] ..84 - same feast [22 May] 1485

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Uncorrected draft

DCD-Norh. acs 1485-6 1485-6

Three copies:

(A) Pentecost [22 May] 1485 - same feast [14 May] 1486

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost 1... [22 May 1485] - same feast [14 May] 1486

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(C) Pentecost ... [22 May 1485] - ... feast [14 May] 1486

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Draft

DCD-Norh. acs 1486-7 1486-7

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [14 May] 1486 - same feast [3 June] 1487

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [14 May] 1486 - same feast [3 June] 1487

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1487-8 1487-8

Pentecost [3 June] 1487 - same feast [25 May] 1488

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1488-9 1488-9

Pentecost [25 May] 1488 - same feast [7 June] 1490

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1489-90 1489-90

... [? 7 June 1489 - 30 May 1490]

. . .

DCD-Norh. acs 1490-1 1490-1

Pentecost [30 May] 1490 - same feast [22 May] 1491

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh, acs 1491-2 1491-2

Two copies

(A) ... [22 May] 1491 - same feast [10 June] ...2

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) ... [22 May 1491 - 10 June 1492]

... [Robert Sanderson, proctor]

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1492-3 1492-3

Pentecost [10 June] 1492 - same feast [26 May] 1493

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate: Church Commission Deposit of Durham Bishopric Estate Records, at CCB B/72/9.

DCD-Norh. acs 1493-4 1493-4

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [26 May] 1493 - same feast [18 May] 1494

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [26 May] 1493 - same feast [18 May] 1494

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1494-5 1494-5

Pentecost [18 May] 1494 - same feast [7 June] 1495

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1495-6 1495-6

Pentecost [7 June] 1495 - same feast [22 May] 1496

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1496-7 1496-7

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [22 May] 1496 - same feast [14 May] 1497

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [22 May] 1496 - same feast [14 May] 1497

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1497-8 1497-8

Pentecost [14 May] 1497 - same feast [3 June] 1498

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1498-9 1498-9

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [3 June] 1498 - same feast [19 May] 1498

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [3 June] 1498 - same feast [19 May] 1498

Robert Sanderson, pro...

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1499-1500 1499-1500

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [19 May] 1499 - same feast [7 June] 1499

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [19 May] 1499 - same feast [7 June] 1499

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1500-1 1500-1

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [7 June] 1500 - same feast [30 May] 1501

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [7 June] 1500 - same feast [30 May] 1501

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1501-2 1501-2

Pentecost [30 May] 1501 - same feast [15 May] 1502

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1503-4 1503-4

Pentecost [4 June] 1503 - same feast [26 May] 1504

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1504-5 1504-5

Pentecost [26 May] 1504 - same feast [11 May] 1505

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1505-6 1505-6

Pentecost [11 May] 1505 - same feast [31 May] 1506

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1507-8 1507-8

Pentecost [23 May] 1507 - same feast [11 June] 1508

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1508-9 1508-9

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [11 June] 1508 - same feast [27 May] 1509

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [11 June] 1508 - same feast [27 May] 1509

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1509-10 1509-10

Pentecost [27 May] 1509 - same feast [19 May] 1510

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1513-4 1513-4

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [15 May] 1513 - same feast [4 June] 1514

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [15 May] 1513 - same feast [4 June] 1514

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1514-5 1514-5

Pentecost [4 June] 1514 - same feast [27 May] 1515

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1515-6 1515-6

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [27 May] 1515 - same feast [11 May] 1516

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [27 May] 1515 - same feast [11 May] 1516

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1516-7 1516-7

Two copies

(A) Pentecost [11 May] 1516 - same feast [31 May] 1517

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

(B) Pentecost [11 May] 1516 - same feast [31 May] 1517

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Duplicate

DCD-Norh. acs 1517-8 1517-8

Pentecost [31 May] 1517 - same feast [23 May] 1518

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1519-20 1519-20

Pentecost [12 June] 1519 - same feast [27 May] 1520

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1520-1 1520-1

Pentecost [27 May] 1520 - same feast [19 May] 1521

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1521-2 1521-2

- [19 May] 1521 - same feast [8 June] 1522

... ..tor

DCD-Norh. acs 1523-4 1523-4

Pentecost [24 May] 1523 - same feast [15 May] 1524

Robert Sanderson, proctor

Draft: Attached to head of Bursar's Account 1523-4, (heading missing) mentioned

Surtees Society v.103, p.666.

DCD-Norh. acs 1524-5 1524-5

Pentecost [15 May] 1524 - same feast [4 June] 1525

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1525-6 1525-6

Pentecost [4 June] 1525 - same feast [20 May] 1526

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1526-7 1526-7

Pentecost [20 May] 1526 - same feast [9 June] 1527

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1528-9 1528-9

Pentecost [31 May] 1528 - same feast [16 May] 1529

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1529-30 1529-30

Pentecost [16 May] 1529 - same feast [5 June] 1530

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1532-3 1532-3

Pentecost [19 May] 1532 - same feast [1 June] 1533

Robert Sanderson, proctor

DCD-Norh. acs 1534-5 1534-5

Pentecost [24 May] 1534 - same feast [16 May] 1534

Robert Sanderson, proctor

[c.1527 x 1539], two pieces: British Library MS Harley 5289 fols. 497-8

Churches in Scotland

Reference code: DCD-Scot. acs

Dates of creation: 1325 - 1368

10 items

DCD-Scot. acs 1325-6 1325-6

Palm Sunday [31 March] 1325 - Hilary said year [13 January 1326]

Nicholas of Thockrington, proctor

With Schedule: Livery to J[ohn] Lut[terell bursar of Druham] by N. of

Thock[rington]

Printed: Surtees Society v.12, p.ii-iii. For duplicate, see below. Schedule: Surtees

Society v.12, p.xiv.

DCD-Scot. acs 1325-6 1325-6

Palm Sunday [31 March] '25 - Pe.. [11 May] '26

N[icholas] of Thock[rington], proctor

Entries as on account above, with Account for second year, 1326 [- 1327]

Second year '26

Account for third year, 1327 [- 1328, for full dates, see Detailed version below]

Third year, '27

The same

Printed: Surtees Society v.12, p.iv-v

DCD-Scot. acs 1327-8 1327-8

[Pentecost ... [31 May 1327] - same day next year [22 May 1328] [Nicholas of

Thockrington, proctor] (Detailed version)

Printed: Surtees Society v.12, p.v-vi.

DCD-Scot. acs Expenses, 1329 [1329]

Two versions

(A) -

(B) -

Printed: (A) Surtees Society v.12, p.x-xi; (B) Surtees Society v.12, p.xii-xiv.

DCD-Scot. acs 1329-30 1329-30

Pentecost [11 June] '29 - same day next year [27 May 1330]

Nicholas of Thockrington, proctor

Printed: Surtees Society v.12, p.vi-viii.

DCD-Scot. acs 1331-2 1331-2

(A) Martin [11 November] 1331 - same feast [11 November] '32

Nicholas of Thockrington, proctor

Full Account

(B) - [11 November 1331 - 11 November 1332]

Details of expenses on churches

Printed: (A) Surtees Society v.12, p.viii-x; (B) Surtees Society v.12, p.xii.

11 November 1338 - 11 November 1339, see Norham Account 1338-9. Also Norham Arrears, 11 November 1339; Norham Arrears (hopeless), 1344; Norham Arrears, [c.8] June 1348.

DCD-Scot. acs 1365-7 1365-7

'65

Simon of Leaventhorpe

(Edrom only)

For a longer account, covering more churches, see below

Printed: Surtees Society v.12, p.lv.

DCD-Scot. acs 1365-8 1365-8

Pentecost [1 June] 1365 - same feast [28 May] 1368

Simon of Leaventhorpe, proctor

Printed: Surtees Society v.12, p.liii -liv.

Hemingbrough

Rectory revenues, 26 [October ?] 1417 - 27 October 1418: 2.2.Ebor.20 Printed: T. Burton & J. Raine, The History and Antiquities of the Parish of Hemingbrough (York, 1888), pp. 387-8

Rental of collegiate church, Martinmas term 1426 and Pentecost term following; (dorse) Receipts of rents: 2.2.Ebor.12 m. 2.

Jurisdiction account, 24 June 1427 - 24 June 1428: 2.2. Ebor. 12 m. 1.

Provost's accounts: [1429 - 1430]: Misc. Ch. 5701/3 [1440 - 19 May 1441]; 19 May 1441 - 19 May 1442; 19 May 1442 - 19 May 1443; 19 May 1443 - 19 May 1444; 19 May 1444 - 19 May 1445; 19 May 1445 - 19 May 1446; 19 May 1446 - 19 May 1447; 19 May 1447 - 19 May 1448; 19 May 1448 - 19 May 1449; 19 May 1449 - 19 May 1450; 19 May 1450 - 19 May 1451; 19 May 1451 - 19 May 1452: 19 May 1452 - 19 May 1453: 19 May 1453 - 19

May 1454; 19 May 1454 - 19 May 1455: Misc.Ch. 6645

Schedule: Unleviable debts, [1455]: Misc.Ch. 6645

12 March 1459 - 12 March 1460: Misc. Ch. 5701/4

[12 March 1460 - c.12 March 1461]: Misc. Ch. 5701/6

Receipts, 29 January 1461 - 29 September 1462: Misc. Ch. 5701/5

Receipts, [1470 ?]: Misc.Ch. 3363

Howden

Endowments accounts

29 September 1491 - 29 September 1492, with Sch. 1-2, Receipts by [canons] for due portions for year ending 29 September 1492, and (Sch. 2 dorse) List of [debts ?]: Misc. Ch. 5689a

29 September 1511 - 29 September 1512: Misc. Ch. 5689b

Altarage accounts

11 November 1498 - 19 May 1499: 4.1. Ebor. 56

Repairs, 15 September 1509 - --: 4.1.Ebor.61

Subsidiary accounts of the Main Estate - Proctors, etc., of churches: - Eastrington

11 November 1511 - 11 November 1512: 4.1. Ebor. 59

11 November 1512 - 11 November 1513: 4.1. Ebor. 60.

[c. 1515], frag.: Misc.Ch. 7115 (a-c)

Eastrington

1433 and 1434: Misc. Ch. 5627 b.

Prior's household

Provisions, etc., for 28 days [c.1390]: Misc. Ch. 214

Ludi

Listed: Provisioning accounts, for monastic relaxation, listed C.M. Woolgar, *Household Accounts from Medieval England* ii, (Oxford, 1993), p. 701, with slightly different dating; see also, Dobson, pp. 97-8.

26 days [c.1390]: Misc. Ch. 213

22 days, c.11 November 1391: Misc. Ch. 210

25 days, c.2 February 1392: Misc. Ch. 211

22 days, c.27 April 1392: Misc. Ch. 211*

23 days, c.24 June 1392: Misc. Ch.212

Unclassified Durham Accounts

Building accounts

Kitchen

Expenses, 11 November [1366 - May 1368]: Misc.Ch. 7264

Prior Walworth's (unspecified) work on the cathedral

Receipts, 30 November 1390 [- c. 29 September 1391]: Misc.Ch. 2650

Summary expenses, 1390 - 29 September 1391: Misc.Ch. 2648

Cash livery, [c. 29 September 1391]: Misc.Ch. 2649

Dormitory

Account, 3 May 1398 - 6 June 1400, three counterparts: Loc. II: 13/3-5

Cash account, 3 May 1400 - 14 May 1402: Loc.II:13/6-8

Account, 6 June 1400 - 14 May 1402, two copies: Loc.II:13/10-11

Account, 14 May 1402 - 18 May 1404, two counterparts: Loc.II:13/12-13

Account, 18 May - 12 October 1404, two counterparts: Loc.II:13/14-15

Bishop Skirlawe's charity

29 September 1398 - 1 November 1402: Misc.Ch. 5726

1 November 1402 - 1 November 1403, with inventory of ornaments: Misc.Ch. 2651

Printed: Surtees Society v.103, p.lix-lxi.

1 November 1403 - 20 March 1406: Misc.Ch. 7169

Cloister

26 January - 17 August 1409: Loc. II: 19/2

17 August - 25 December 1409: Loc.II:19/2

26 January - 25 December 1409: Loc. II: 19/1

1 August - 21 September 1410: Loc. II: 19/3

25 December - 21 September 1410: Loc.II:19/1

12 September 1411 - 1 October 1412, two versions, one in two copies: Loc.II:19/4-5 and Loc.II:19/1

29 September 1412 - 29 September 1413, two versions: Loc.II:19/5 and Loc.II:19/1

29 September 1413 - 27 May 1414: Loc.II:19/5

27 May 1414 - 19 May 1415: Loc.II:19/6

29 September 1415 - 29 September 1416, two versions: Loc. II: 19/7-8

15 May 1418 - 4 June 1419, two copies: Loc.II:19/9-10

Infirmary

"1420": Misc.Ch. 7265

Extracted: Surtees Society v.99, p.269-71.

Galilee

14 March - 27 November 1429: Misc.Ch. 5713

27 November 1429 - 24 September 1430: Misc.Ch. 5714

24 September - 11 November 1431: Misc.Ch. 5715

11 November 1430 - 11 November 1431: Misc.Ch. 5716

11 November 1431 - 11 November 1432: two versions, Misc.Ch. 5717 and Misc.Ch. 5718

11 November 1432 - 11 November 1433: Misc.Ch. 5719

Galilee and Registrary

22 August 1433 - 6 August 1435: Misc.Ch. 5720

5 August - 29 October 1435: Misc.Ch. 5721

Vault of the charity solar [alias loft]

"1430": Misc.Ch. 7150

Printed: Surtees Society 9. ccccxlii-iii.

Marble laver in the cloister

"1432" and "1433": Misc.Ch. 7150
Printed: Surtees Society 9. ccccxliii-v.

Cupboard beside the refectory door

"1433": Misc.Ch. 7150

Printed: Surtees Society 9. ccccxlv.

Pittington Hall

"1450", two versions: Misc.Ch. 7266 and 7267

Printed: Surtees Society 9. cccxxliii-vi.

Durham College chapel (Oxford)

15 August 1406 - 15 August 1408, two copies: Misc.Ch. 7307/7a and 7307/7b Printed (7a): "Some Durham College Rolls", ed H.E.D. Blakiston, (Oxford Historical Society, xxxii, 1896) Collectanea Third Series, p.71-72.

Various

Reckoning between the prior and the executors of Bishop [Robert of Holy Island, d. 1283] over legal expenses

Misc.Ch. 7160

Chapter pensions from cells, obedientiaries, coal, wood, etc

[4 June] 1441 [- 20 May 1442]: Misc.Ch. 5649

[c.20 May] 1442 [- c.31 May 1444], two copies: Misc.Ch. 5650 and draft Misc.Ch. 5664

Unclassified Durham Accounts - Various - Memoranda

[c. 31 May] 1444 [- 1445]: Misc.Ch. 7138

Memoranda

Relating to purchases of clothing etc, 3 May [1442?] - 3 May [1423?]; purchases of food, [c. 1423?]; payments for chantry-service, [March 1421 - December 1425] and [May 1422 - December 1425]: Misc.Ch. 6080 dorse.

Disbursements

Disbursements from 100 marks received from the king in 1422, [1423 - 26 September 1426]: Loc.XVIII:14

Debt repayment fund

1439 [-1440?]: Misc.Ch. 7270

[1440? - 24 May 1441]: Misc.Ch. 7271 Mentioned: Surtees Society v.103, p.719.

Stray Material

Diocese and bishopric of Durham

Community of the bishopric of Durham, 'de fine pro itinere episcopatus', 1351-2: Reg. II fol. 145

Archdeacon of Durham's dues: 2.1.Archid.Dunelm.24 - 29 September 1261 - 29 September 1262; 29 September 1262 - [29 September 1263]; 29 September 1263 - [29 September 1264]; 29 September 1264 - [29 September 1265]

Receiver of the bishop of Durham's exchequer, 10 November 1339 - 11 November 1340: Loc.V:32

Sheriff and escheator of Durham, 29 September 1375 - 29 September 1376: 1.5.Pont.16

Approver of the manor and borough of Gateshead, 29 September 1418 - 29 September 1419: Misc. Ch. 6085

Bailiff of Darlington, 29 September 1428 - 29 September 1429: Misc. Ch. 2628

Bailiff of the manor of Stockton, 29 September 1428 - 29 September 1429: Misc. Ch. 2625

Approver of the borough of Stockton, [29 September 1428 - 29 September 1429]: Misc. Ch. 2625 dorse

Bailiff of Middleham, 29 September 1428 - 29 September 1429: Misc. Ch. 6305

Reeve of Evenwood, 29 September 1428 - [1429]: Misc. Ch. 2606

Miscellaneous

Aldverdiscott (Devon)

Bailiff's account, 29 September 1398 - 29 September 1399: Misc. Ch. 7279

Tudhoe (Co. Durham) [property of Neville earl of Westmorland]

Reeve's account, [1418 - 1419 ?]: Misc. Ch. 7280

Sherburn hospital (Co. Durham)

Receiver's balance, 10 April 1422 - 10 April 1423: Misc. Ch. 6376**

Battle abbey (Sussex)

[Steward's ?] account, [? 1496 - 1497], frag.: Misc. Ch. 7072